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FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2008
Announcement of 2007/2008 results
3 July 2008

Last day to register for 2007/2008
15 August 2008

Annual General Meeting
22 August 2008

Key Informa’uon for Shareholders H“ifgﬁﬂ

—EENEHBER
—ETLF/BN\EEEE&LMAY
—ZEZEN\FLAZH

—RRLF/B\FERABEAN
“ETN\FARTEA

BRRBEKRE
—“EENFNAZ-+=H

Financial Year End BEELR
31 March 2008 —EENF=A=+—H
SHARE CAPITAL % 2
As at
BZE
31 March 2008 15 June 2008
—ZENF —ZEN\fF
=A=+—H ~NHETHH
Authorised (HK$) ETE (BT) 80,000,000 80,000,000
Issued (HK$) BT (BT 57,719,760 57,719,760

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE
AND SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTION

As at 15 June 2008, the Company had 577,197,600 shares
in issue of which approximately 44%‘ was held by the
public. As at that date, the Company had a total of 880
registered shareholders. The following table shows the
distribution of ownership according to the Register of
Members and the Participant Shareholding Report
generated from the Central Clearing and Settlement System
as of 15 June 2008:

BREZBERRDM22M

HE_ZZ)N\FA+HAB  ARQalH
E1TA% 17 577,197,6000% © Hep A TR
BHE44%Y - BERH @ AAREHR
AR E880% - BRI EH M KF R
HEESWEGR _ZEENFA+HHA
REMZEERERS MO TN
TRESHEREKEELRE
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Key Information for Shareholders iR 3R F E&E ¥}

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE BRELERBRRERS G208 (&)
AND SHAREHOLDER DISTRIBUTION (Cont'd)
Number of % of % of
registered number of Number of  total issued
Category shareholders shareholders shares share capital
EE ] R HEe %17
b REHE IR Rt Bl % BEREE R 12 tt 51 %
Pearl Court Company Limited 1 0.11% 243,804,000 42.24%
Ho's family® ARKKE? 3 0.34% 77,024,000 13.34%
Directors® -4t 3 0.34% 2,382,000 0.41%
Veer Palthe Voute NV@® 1 0.11% 34,554,800 5.99%
Individuals BATEH 706 80.24% 16,389,816 2.84%
Institutions, corporates HMERESE
and nominees "EHERKEA 166 18.86% 203,042,984 35.18%
Total = 880 100.00% 577,197,600 100.00%
Note: B

excluding those shares

Public shareholding represents shares held by the public,

held by Pearl Court Company Limited,

Ho’s family and Directors of the Company.

Ho's family comprises Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer, Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, Non-executive Director

and Ms. Ho Po Chu.

(3)

Directors represent Directors of the Company excluding Mr.

Ho Cheuk Fai and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming.

NEBHIER K (B Pearl Court Company

Limited + fa] FX 5% Bk S AN 2 B 28 5 P 45 AL
BB RARALBANBROHE -

AR K R ERITRARISERE - IF

HMITEEMNERALERMEKRLTHEK °

KRBIZESE

BEERR (RAE@EELE RIS HEEN)

(4) Latest information as at 15 June 2008 as provided by Veer (4) It J5Veer Palthe Voute NVFTIE {2 & #7 &l
Palthe Voute NV. 2T N\FAATHEBZEHER -
As at 15 June 2008 Shareholders Shares of HK$0.1 each
R-ZEENEARA+RH ' SREE0.1E TR MK
Number of Shares Held Number % of total Number % of total
FERGOEE A HEHES T =] HHEYEED
1 - 5,000 566 64.3% 180,131 0.0%
5,001 - 20,000 89 10.1% 1,083,624 0.2%
20,001 - 50,000 63 7.2% 2,268,463 0.4%
50,001 - 100,000 46 52% 3,477,489 0.6%
100,001 - 200,000 35 4.0% 4,824,880 0.8%
200,001 - 500,000 32 3.6% 10,512,525 1.8%
500,001 - 1,000,000 19 2.2% 15,088,254 2.6%
1,000,001 - 2,000,000 9 1.0% 13,044,921 2.3%
2,000,001 - 5,000,000 6 0.7% 20,637,141 3.6%
Over 5,000,000L4 £ 15 1.7% 506,080,172 87.7%
Total aE 880 100.0% 577,197,600 100.0%




Key Information

OUTSTANDING OPTIONS FOR ORDINARY
SHARES GRANTED (AS ADJUSTED UPON
COMPLETION OF THE RIGHTS ISSUE ON

28 NOVEMBER 2007)

at exercise price of HK$1.23 each
at exercise price of HK$1.56 each
at exercise price of HK$2.34 each
at exercise price of HK$1.79 each
at exercise price of HK$2.98 each
at exercise price of HK$3.16 each

TEEAESR1.23E T
THEEASR156HET
THEEASR234ET
TEEAESR1.79E T
TEEAESR2.98B T
TEEASR3I6E T

MARKET CAPITALISATION

As at 31 March 2008
(Closing Price: HK$0.66)
HK$380,950,416

As at 15 June 2008
(Closing Price: HK$0.68)
HK$392,494,368

B3 F 18 413 K AT 6 9 B8 BRUME (AE R =
EE+F+—AZ+TNHERHER
4 N
% T UAE)
As at
B=
31 March 2008 15 June 2008
—EENF —EENE
=A=+—H AAtTHH
105,850 105,850
2,720,345 2,720,345
7,574,626 7,489,946
2,112,766 2,112,766
4,847,930 4,763,250
9,949,900 9,949,900
27,311,417 27,142,057
m{E

BEz-_ZEEN\E=ZH=+—H

(W {E : 0.66587T)
380,950,416/ 7T

BE_TEN\EXA+ERA
(KT fE : 0.68%5T)
392,494,368/ 7T

Share Price Movement and Trade Volume in 2007/08

Share Price (HK$)
fE (BT)
25 r

2Rt ENFEZREEZREXE

E (BT)
25

I 0

Share Price (HK$)
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STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Main Board
1050

BOARD LOT
2,000 Shares

SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, such as transfer
of shares, change of name or address, and loss of share
certificates should be addressed in writing to the Branch
Share Registrars and Transfer Office of the Company:

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Rooms 1712-6, 17th Floor
Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2862-8628

Fax: (852) 2529-6087

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries, please contact:

Ms. Winnie Tsang

Senior Corporate Communications Officer

Karrie International Holdings Limited

10th Floor, Southeast Industrial Building

611-619 Castle Peak Road

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

Hong Kong

Tel:  (852) 2437-6830

Fax: (852) 2415-1608

Email: pytsang@karrie.com.hk/
ir@karrie.com.hk
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2007

JUL 7H

SEP 9H

NOV 11H

DEC 12H

Cooperate with “"DAB” — “Flying to Our Mainland, Our Home” Hong Kong Tertiary Student
Placement Program 2007

HIREM AN E—TORE]|BERELESRAMLE B 82007

2007/08 1st Quarterly Results Announcement
MM_ZETL TENFEE—FTZTEXE

“Team Building for Peak Performance Via Enneagram” workshop for top management team
and continue to promote different kinds of training via Enneagram to all levels of management
REREBERTIEANEAR BUAMERIZEIITESRAKREREEREEN
B ARIFI F &

Commenced Right Issue of 164,913,000 rights shares at HK$0.75 each on the basis of four
rights shares for every ten existing shares held
TEIEEAR0.758 T AR B 17164,913,0001 R & (R EAESFAE TRMOBERMHH
A% PO AR A% 15)

Awarded with “Honorable Mentions” and “Citation for Achievement in Corporate Governance
Disclosure” in 2007 HKMA Best Annual Reports Award by the Hong Kong Management
Association

BIEAEREXHE] _STLFEIREFRER| 2 BEFREIR[BFEEE
BB R

Sponsorship by Ho Cheuk Fai Foundation to the “Nothing is impossible” Outward Bound
Programme for the Disadvantaged Children together with the St. Christopher’'s Home for the
second consecutive year

MEEEEEE _FEDTEAE LS EREREREN [ ZAAEE e a HLE
sT&ll

2007/08 Interim Results Announcement

ML BNFETHEE

Winner of “Best Annual Report and other Corporate Literature” and awarded with Honorable
Mention in the “Grand Prix for the Best Overall Investors Relations in Hong Kong — Small/Mid
Cap” by the IR Magazine

BEIREEBARMEG EER I REFBRECEXRIF B MIBEAREREEBE] (P
NEEE)BRRE
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Corporate Calendar ¥ KXEH

2008

JAN 14

FEB 2 A

MAR 3 H

MAY 58

JUL7H

12th “Tea-Break with Individual Investors”

BOIF+-RTEBEAKREE TN

Awarded the “Caring Company” logo for the third consecutive year by the Hong Kong
Council of Social Service

BEF-_FEBEHLEMEBMERE AARBEIER

Acquisition of land with an area of approximately 480 Chinese acres (approximately 320,000
sg.m.) in the Yixing Economic Development Zone, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

R BT &S B S EMERE A — 184480 (4#9320,000F ;5 K) 2 8

2007/08 3rd Quarterly Results Announcement
NE—EEL / ENEFEEF=FTFTEEE

Held a 2-days “Karrie Management Retreat Camp 2008" for management team
REBERT2ARZIFMNEREESEEE]2008

Mr. Wang Zhong Su, Mayor of Yixing, Jiangsu Province, together with the officials visited
Karrie Hong Kong Headquarter and Mainland Plants

THEEEMTHTRITPHEELXREEIGRNE BB RBEARE

Internal fund raising for the “5.12 Sichuan Earthquake” in the Mainland China with a total
donation of more than HK$1,400,000
ARBEARMI51200)IIKMEI B NMERITE - HEFEZREIEE%1,400,0007T

13th “Tea-Break with Individual Investors”

RITE+=ZRTEBEAREZE R
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Share Price Movement from 1998 to 2008
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Turnover percentage by Products

REmBIMNEXEID R

@® Metal and Plastic Business
LT BRBER

@ Electronics Manufacturing Services

Business
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Turnover percentage by Geographical Location

RERFERBINEXTERAD X

® Japan
=N

Hong Kong
S

® China
&

@ Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong and China

TN (TREBR, EBERPHEH)
@ North America

3%

i 2008
‘ ! 2008 E’
)

2007

Ik EM
@ Western Europe

7 B 2008 2007 _% Changes

—EENE —_ZTEZT+HF EFHBHEH

HK$ million B &EE T
Turnover X 2,800 3,320 -16%
Gross profit EF 179 304 -41%
Operating profit A% g A 27 150 -82%
Profit attributable to equity holders A% #E+F A A FE (5 5 F 13 125 -90%
Total assets EERE 1,657 1,621 +2%
Shareholders’ equity R R 2 676 557 +21%
In Million B & g
Number of shares f&% 15 & B 577 412 +40%
Per Share Data ERER
HK Cents JBEAM
Basic earnings E A% 2.8 29.6 -91%
Diluted earnings 8 1% 5 A 2.8 29.4 -90%
Total cash dividends IR IR E 0.75 11.5 -93%
HK$ BT
Net asset value per share BREEFE 1.2 1.4 -14%
Financial Ratios Bt =
Gross profit margin (%) EEEF (%) 6.4 9.1 -30%
Net profit margin (%) EERA R (%) 0.5 3.8 -87%
Net current ratio FRE X 2.0 1.5 +33%
Net quick ratio IR B L K 1.4 1.0 +40%
Net gearing ratio (%) FIRITEELE (%) 8 25 -68%
Interest coverage A EORE X 5 9 -44%
Dividend payout (%) K S (%) 27 38 -29%
Turnover to net bank borrowings ‘& ¥ EFIRITE B X 54 23 +135%
Non-current assets to JEMB)E EERE

shareholders’ equity (%) Tt E (%) 67 57 +18%
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Financial H

Definitions E&H
/Basic earnings Profit attributable to equity holders SRR BAESEABERF )
per share Weighted average number of shares . - INHE 5 AR B
Diluted earnings  Profit attributable to equity holders B 7 iR B ARG S
per share Diluted weighted average number of shares R R BE TR
Net asset value Net assets R EEFE
per share Number of shares as at year end S FERE
Gross profit Gross profit ) . E 7 .
margin (%) — x 100% BEER (%) e x 100%
Net profit Profit attributable to equity holders o . A% 35 B A FE 15 % T .
margin (%) Turnover x 100 ot () —E X 100%
Current assets (less cash and mMEBEE (RRE R
\ . bank balances) SR RITHETF)
et current ratio Current liabilities (less cash and s o nEAaECIRE R
bank balances) SR1T4ETE)
Current assets (less inventories REBEE RFEE R
\ ot and cash and bank balances) o BeRRTTER)
t R RS . —
et quick ratio Current liabilities (less cash and = mEaE(REE R
bank balances) RITEETF)
Bank borrowings RITEE
Net gearing (less cash and bank balances) ST 40 4T By (RIRE RBITER)
ratio (%) Shareholders’ equity L (%) PR BR R 2
Earnings before interest, tax, HBRAMEXH - HE -
| depreciation and amortisation ] & Ko 55 A % A
nterest coverage interest paid SR E & TES
9L AL gy
Dividend Dividend per share . e SRR 0
payout (%) Earnings per share itk T B H 3 (%) R E A X 100%
Turnover to net Turnover ExmA HXE
bank borrowings Bank borrowings ARITIE R = RITEE
(less cash and bank balances) CRIE € MRITHET)
Non-current
assets to Non-current assets ErHEER FRBBIE
shareholders’ Total equity % BR R 2 Eb 2R (%) e BE

equity (%)
\
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Chairman’s Statement EE#H &

On behalf of the board of directors, | am pleased to present
the annual report of Karrie International Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group"”) for
the year ended 31 March 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS
The Group is principally engaged in

- Metal and Plastic Business: manufacturing and sale
of metal and plastic products including computer
casings, office automation products, video tape
cassettes, moulds, plastic and metal parts; and

- Electronic Manufacturing Services (“EMS") Business:
manufacturing and sale of magnetic tape drives, laser
printers, multi-function facsimile machines, “point-
of-sale” system and other computer peripherals.

Business review

- The turnover of the Metal and Plastic Business for
year ended 31 March 2008 was HK$1,321,560,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2007:
HK$1,480,918,000), 11% lower than that for the
corresponding period last year. The decline was
mainly attributed to the fact that the Group had
acceded to the price-cutting request from one of its
major customers, based on a mistaken belief that
by doing so the Group would be able to secure
orders from this customer as a sole supplier.
However, it turned out that the Group was not able
to secure orders for some of the new projects, and
that shipments for the existing orders had also
slowed down. This has led to a decline in both the
turnover and profit. The operational profit for the
year is HK$48,127,000 (for the year ended 31 March
2007: HK$132,270,000), approximately 64% lower
than that for the same period last year.

- The turnover of the EMS Business for the year ended
31 March 2008 dropped by 20% to
HK$1,478,407,000 (for the year ended 31 March
2007: HK$1,839,112,000). The EMS Business
recorded an operational loss of HK$24,264,000
during the year. This was mainly attributable to a
drop of 44% in the sales of one of laser printers of
our major customers when compared with the sales
for the corresponding period last year. The sales to
this major customer had not been recovered after
this major customer had restructured its business
whilst sales from the other customers were
insufficient to mitigate the decrease in the size of
the above mentioned decrease in shipment. As a
result, the overall turnover of the EMS Business
dropped accordingly during the relevant period.

ﬁé%ﬁ%é%@%i%ﬂﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ
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Fear no challenges

- This financial year is obviously the most challenging
year that we have ever met. At the macro-economy
level, the sub-prime mortgage crisis in the U.S.
remains unsolved and may further deteriorate, and
the U.S. economy may fall into stagflation and even
recession. The global economy has become worse
as the global credit crunch results in a tight money
supply. Without exception, China has also been
adversely affected.

- In order to mitigate the inflation, China has raised
interest rate and deposit reserve ratio several times
to curb liquidity and to prevent its economy from
overheating. However, these restrictive policies are
apparently unfavorable to the reconstruction of the
devastated areas in China after China has suffered
severe natural disasters like the snowstorm and
earthquakes. Accordingly, China’s economy is now
facing a dilemma. Furthermore, rapid price rise in
raw materials and the repeatedly record-breaking
price rise in crude oil, appreciation of RMB, more
rigid environmental protection laws and regulations
as well as a series of labor protection laws and
regulations such as the newly implemented Labor
Contract Law and the minimum wage rules are also
unfavorable factors. All of the above factors lead to
a rapid rise in the overall cost of the labor-intensive
manufacturing industries. In China, manufacturers
that fail to control their costs effectively or fail to
keep demand unaffected when passing on the
increasing cost in full to their customers are in an
even worse situation, China’s position as the
“world’s factory” has become unstable. Under such
adverse circumstances, many factories have been
closed or relocated to other areas with lower labor
cost.

- In addition, the commencement of operation of Yu
Quan Plant and the expenses earmarked for the
construction of Yixing plant have resulted in an
increase in additional expenditure and operation
cost.

Despite all these challenging situations, the Group still
focuses on expansion in China market, fears no challenges
and is confident to surmount these difficulties and taking
steady steps forward. The Group adopts the following
solutions to tackle the following major problems:
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“Enneagram” is the Group's theme training development this year. Through different “Enneagram” workshops, not only provided class
training, but also employed some brand new training techniques such as documentary report and drama, to enhance the soft skills in
communication and interpersonal relationship. Our chairman Dr. Ho Cheuk Fai has personally casted for one of the characters!
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Appreciation of RMB

Weak US dollar has resulted in a 8% increase in the
exchange rate of RMB against Hong Kong dollar during
the year, and appreciation of RMB boosted the operation
expenditures of the Group up. Given that RMB is not an
international currency, we do not have any effective
method to hedge the relevant risk. However, as most of
the Company’s raw materials have been procured from
customers and designated suppliers and are settled in US
dollar, the effect arising from the fluctuation of exchange
rates can be reduced accordingly.

In the long run, the Company will pass on the increasing
operation cost to its customers as much as possible. In our
2007/08 annual report, amount settled in RMB accounted
for approximately 15% of the total cost.

Electricity supply

Electricity expenses accounted for less than 2% of the
total cost. During the year, the Group used local power
and diesel-powered generators as before to maintain 100%
alternative power supply capacity and to ensure that its
production would not be adversely affected. However, with
the price of crude oil hitting US$145 per barrel, higher
cost of energy and electricity would certainly affect the
Group's profit. The Group managed to use local electricity,
which was less expensive, to mitigate this adverse effect
as the costs of alternative power supply capacity is higher
than that of the local power. As a result, the average
electricity expenses for the year decreased slightly than
that of last year. However, the amount of HK$3,000,000
so saved was totally “swallowed” by the appreciation of
RMB.

Steel price

The price of steel materials was relatively stable in the
past two years, but has since the beginning of 2008 been
on the rise, for more than 50%. The Group kept raising
the prices of its products and stocking up steel materials.
The steel materials accounted for approximately 5% of
the total cost.

AR®AE

BEEXTRS  ARBHETRAFE L
THT#8% » AR ELAIEINT 2EH
X EmNARBLIFBEEREE - WEAN
Bm 2L o RARAANEND R ERLE
PRAEBEHEBMER AT BUXT
B MERIEXRKRBHEAREZF
@ .

REME @ ARABENE LA ZEEBRA
BRTEEP RZIZEZEL /ZENFE
FRAARBEENEREEEBRAD
15%

EHHE

BENEBRGEBERALR2% - XFEARE
B AERERTE LB - A
REBDPENEEBELEREN  UWEREE
NAZHE - WHEEREBHE®145ETT—
W RRRENRATE EFA - EXNFEF
B BERBELTEEREMSEE  A&EE
EREFNFEASEENTE - WREKE

YE O HWAFEFHSEEEBEMELE
FOEEMTR BHHOBHLY
3,000,000 Tl 2 m AREAHBERI &
WEl T e

#HRER

HNERRNBEMFHEAYRE  BEAZ
ZENFRABERTE LI - AREBB
50%  AEBEDTE S IR EEERREE
MIBMMEFFE > MBRIEEKED D
5% o



[ o o

AN N e .

Annual Report 2007/08 % # 17

Chairman’s Statement EE#H &

Labor

The Group complied with the newly implemented Labor
Contract Law and strictly followed the minimum wage
rules. This resulted in a double-digit increase in the Group'’s
labor cost. To offset the rising labor cost, the Group has
employed capital-intensive automatic machines and
enhanced administrative efficiency to reduce labor
headcount and to cut wage expenditure. During the year,
salary/wage accounted for less than 10% of the total cost.

Keen Competition

The industry in which the Group operates is highly
competitive, with the players therein competing with each
other in such major aspects as productivity, product and
service stability and quality, pricing, responsiveness to
market and production capacity, etc. The management of
the Group clings closely to the ever-changing business
environment, grasps the market pulse, understands
customers’ needs, industry trends and various challenges,
so as to capture opportunities and develop new business
for the Group.

“"THE THREE EQUILIBRIUMS"”

We have always been focusing “the three equilibriums”,
which allowed us to achieve rapid growth or contraction
while facing different problems and challenges. Achieving
the “equilibriums” in conflicting circumstances is a difficult
task, but it is also a key to successful corporate
management. (please refer to page 16 to 17 of the 2006/
07 Annual Report)
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Construction Plan for Yu Quan Plant
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Yixing Development Layout Plan
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The First Equilibrium: “Risk of Investing” vs “Risk of
Not Investing”

Despite the conflicting situation, Karrie’s management team
has never given up the pursuit of achieving an equilibrium
between them. Since the financial year 2003/04, the Group
has been implementing a capacity expansion plan to further
exploit economies of scale, strengthen cost competitiveness
and accelerate automation. After several years’ investments
(see table below), it is expected that after completion of
the capital expenditure of approximately HK$80,000,000
next year, the capacity and productivity will increase
significantly to meet future business development of the
Group. This round’s Capex will terminate and the
subsequent investment amounts will decrease remarkably.

F-VH:[RENEARIBITERENEA
B |

HARMEREBTERINBEZT -
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EmERE#t - KBAHBEF2HKE(RT
xR BREEKBETFZETEENKES
ZH#780,000,000/8 012 - ERENEENE
AREF + BIAER RIRAE B FEEH
B &8GR ERBEETE 26BN
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Net Gearing Ratio

Turnover Capex as at 31 March
FRTEELR
= 3 BEEERE BEZE=A=+—H
HK$ HK$
78 T 78 TT
2001/02 1,156,262,000 15,000,000 -18%
2002/03 1,737,979,000 24,000,000 -9%
2003/04 1,692,960,000 59,000,000 1%
2004/05 2,563,190,000 62,000,000 56%
2005/06 3,592,741,000 92,000,000 21%
2006/07 3,320,030,000 92,000,000 25%
2007/08 2,799,967,000 199,000,000 8%
2008/09 N/A 3 FH 80,000,000 <50%*
* Initial estimation
&t
- Factory investment: - BERE:
. Automation and factory expansion for future e HAeEg@EtREEZRKE -

development purpose, which mainly includes:

- completion of the expansion of phase
[l of the new Yu Quan Plant;

- acquisition of new automation robotic
transfer line for mass production, metal
stamping and mould processing
equipments and facilities for Yu Quan
Plant; and

- construction of Phase | of Yi Xing plant
and acquisition of machinery.
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The Group devotes itself to meeting
customers’ demands in the Eastern China. It
initially planned to lease factory premises in
Wuzhong, Suzhou, Jiangsu province. However,
after the signing of the lease, the landlord of
the factory premises requested an increase of
rental through the local government. Despite
that Group had acceded to the request, at
the time when renovation had commenced
and machinery were then being moved into
the factory premises, the landlord made
another request to the Group verbally that
an additional plant be built. The repeated
requests for amendments to the terms and
conditions of the lease cast doubts on the
integrity of the landlord. As a result, the
Group decided to terminate the relevant lease.
Negotiation for the termination is under way
and is expected to be finalised very soon.

The Group pursues a strategy, which
emphasizes setting up factories in the eastern
China, providing best quality products and
services to customers and growing up
together, and at the same time providing
value-added services to potential customers
who develop and conduct businesses in the
Yangtze River Delta, China, so as to explore
more business opportunities. To continue this
strategy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company entered into an agreement to
acquire the land use rights of a piece of land
located in Yixing Economic Development Zone
in Jiangsu Province in the Yangtze River Delta
region, China, on 31 January 2008.

The land has a site area of approximately 480
Chinese acres (approximately 320,000 sg.m.)
(for reference: the existing three plants at
Fenggang, Yan Tien and Yu Quan, Dongguan,
with a total land area of approximately 470
Chinese acres). For more details, you may refer
to the circular to shareholders dated 18
February 2008. It is planned that the first
phase of the project will be commenced in
the year 2008/09. It is estimated that the
Capex the construction of three factories and
the acquisition of machinery will amount to
HK$20,000,000. Due to the recent rainy
weather, it is expected that trial production
can only commence in the 4th quarter of
2008.
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The Second Equilibrium: “Dividends” vs “Capex and
Working Capital Requirement”

F_EFE: ([REIBBECEERERR

BEEFER]

Dividend Paid/Payable per Share

BRER HBIKKE

00/01
Accumulated Dividend 01/02
Paid/Payable per Share UL oz 02 | 0.0075 [ 02/03
FREFEIR 03/04
FORAR 2 L . 04/05
Share Price as at BN 05/06
31 March, 2001 0o 06/07

=TT RzER . . . . . . . ,(HKS)

0.0 02 0.4 0.6 0.8 1.0 12 14 16 BT
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Shareholders’ Equity EEN 05/06
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In determining dividends, the Board should consider the
Capex and the working capital requirement and achieve a
proper equilibrium.

On 11 October 2007, the Group announced to undertake
a proposed rights issue of shares at the price of HK$0.75
per rights share, on the basis of four rights shares for
every ten existing shares (the “Rights Issue”). The Rights
Issue was successfully completed in November 2007. The
Rights Issue has expanded share capital basis and increased
shareholder basis. A net proceeds of approximately
HK$121,690,000 was raised, which gave good financial
support to the Group’s future development and
strengthened the working capital of the Group.

The Board has adopted a set of “New Dividend Policy” for
the financial year ended 31 March 2008, which outlines
the factors for consideration when determining the dividend
for distribution, such as profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company, cash flow and Capex. In view of the
setback in the results of the Group and the increase in
Capex for the year, the Company adjusted its dividend
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distribution to its equity holders accordingly while its
dividend policy remains unchanged. The Group has paid
interim dividends of HKO0.75 cents on 31 January 2008.
According to the dividend policy of the Group, not less
than 30% of profit attributable to equity holders is
distributed as dividends. Taking into account of the interim
dividend of HKO0.75 cents, there is not much profit left
available for dividend distribution to shareholders for the
year. As at 15 June 2008, there were 696 equity holders
and 537 of them held 2,000 or less shares. In order to
save administration expenditures and retain profits of the
Group for future development, after careful considerations,
the Board does not recommend distribution of final
dividends to shareholders this year.

Although the Company has entered into the stage of
proactive investments, the non-current assets to
shareholders’ fund ratio remained at a healthy level of
67% (2006/07: 57%). Bank borrowings provided flexible
allocation of financial resources for the Group, and net
bank borrowing ratio and the net bank borrowing amount
was 8% and HK$52,121,000 (31 March 2007: 25% and
HK$141,297,000) respectively. It is expected that the non-
current assets to shareholders’ fund ratio for the year will
be below 100% and the net bank borrowing ratio will
stay at a healthy level of under 50%.

The Third Equilibrium: How to balance the customers’
requirement for reasonable inventory vs the risk
profile of the Group

As the sole supplier of specific projects of customers, we
have to oblige to their requests to maintain a reasonable
level of inventory. However, under our effective inventory
management, the inventory turnover was 37 days, and
the value of our inventory was approximately
HK$264,352,000 as at 31 March 2008 (representing an
inventory amount decrease of 30% as compared to 45
days and HK$374,974,000 as at 31 March 2007).

Geographical Distribution

The Group does not rely on one single market but ships to
diverse markets. During the year, Asia (except Japan, China
and Hong Kong) contributed HK$636,698,000 in turnover
(2006/07: HK$591,082,000). Turnover from Japan
amounted to HK$252,894,000 (2006/07:
HK$259,253,000), that from China amounted to
HK$741,178,000 (2006/07: HK$745,730,000) and that
from Hong Kong amounted to HK$84,018,000 (2006/07:
HK$83,788,000). Turnover from Western Europe amounted
to HK$803,973,000 (2006/07: HK$1,170,719,000) and
turnover from direct shipment to North America amounted
to HK$284,213,000 (2006/07: HK$477,525,000).
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PROSPECTS

The year under review was difficult and challenging. The
aforesaid negative factors encompassed the Group and
resulted in the downward trend of our overall gross profit
margin and turnover, it is anticipated that our turnover
for the coming year will remain steady or even drop by a
single digit percentage. In response to the increasing
expansion of the above cost structure and the uncertainties
of the economic environment, the Company has taken the
following measures accordingly:

(i) Proactively communicating with our customers with
a view to transfer part of the costs to them;

(i) Accelerating the process of automation and
streamlining the approaching operation to improve
efficiency, reducing consumption of raw materials
and cutting labour cost;

(iii)  The construction of Phase Il of Yu Quan Plant is
approaching its completion and the construction of
Yixing Plant will soon commence, which will further
increase our production capacity to meet the
requirements of customers located in different
regions. This will result in a more concentrated
production and operation. Each of individual building
is independently constructed so as to satisfy various
customers’ requirements. The operations can be run
under either contract processing or WOFE business
model to enhance flexibility and ensure smoothness
in business operation for each customer;

(iv)  In addition, as the Company’s mission is to maximize
shareholders’ interest, it has also considered using
factories as the focal point to develop other
integrated businesses such as hotel, travel and
property businesses. Personally, | have accumulated
extensive experience and good proven records in
this respect which | wish to be useful for the
diversification of businesses of the Company.
However, as at today, the Group has no detailed
plans in this respect; and

(v) With the commencement of operation of Yu Quan
Plant, production facilities in Yan Tien have begun
to be relocated to Yu Quan Plant. But some
production lines will remain in operation till the end
of the year. By then, the Group will have vacated a
site area of approximately 24,000 sq.m.. Various
plans as to the future use of the vacated site are
still under discussion with the view of maximizing
the interests of our shareholders.
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“Nothing is Impossible” Outward Bound Programme was sponsored by Ho Cheuk Fai Foundation with St. Christopher’s Home for the second
consecutive year, which aimed at facilitate the all-around development of children. Through various activities like war game training and
adventure-ship, children are cultivated the spirit of “Nothing is impossible” and strengthen their endurance.
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The Group's unaudited turnover for the two months ended
31 May 2008 was HK$415,000,000 (2006/07:
HK$463,000,000), as the unaudited turnover for these two
months may not be able to reflect the final results for the
year ended 31 March 2009, investors and shareholders
should exercise caution when dealing in the shares of the
Company.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's business suffered a setback this year. In theory,
the decrease in working capital requirements would reduce
the bank borrowings requirements, assuming no
deterioration in current assets quality. The inherent beauty
of this self-adjusting mechanism of our business model is
one of the key pillars of our confidence in the future of
the Group.

Robust Cash Generating Ability

With the new Capex cycle coming to an end, the Group
has taken a group-wide effort to improve the cash cycle.
As a result, the Group maintains a net cash inflow from
operating activities of HK$161,536,000 as compared to
last year's net cash inflow of HK$154,664,000 despite a
16% decrease in turnover.

Additional Bank Borrowings

The Group has adequate financial flexibility backed by long
term banking facilities secured. Our bankers have been
very supportive. Hang Seng Bank, HSBC and Standard
Chartered Bank have provided the Group with a five-year
installment loan facility totalling HK$200,000,000. Such
loan facilities had all been utilised as at 31 March 2008.

Raising funds by Rights Issue to expand shareholders’
funds

During the year under review, net proceeds of
approximately HK$121,690,000 were raised from the Rights
Issue. The Group is of the view that the Rights Issue has
enabled it to raise funds to support its business
development and general working capital needs. With a
strengthened financial position as a result of the Rights
Issue, the Group will be able to make strategic investments
promptly when opportunities arise.
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Non-current Assets to Shareholders’ Fund Ratio
staying below 1

The Non-current assets to Shareholders’ Fund Ratio stayed
at a healthy 67% (2006/07: 57%). This means that the
Group is using long term shareholders’ fund to finance
non-current assets such as plants and machinery. The sole
purpose of the existing bank borrowings is to finance the
working capital.
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Financing Options
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Dividend Capex
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2. Factoring 3228438
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Warrants s2R%

Convertible Bonds A]#f& &%

Bank Borrowings
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Three Principles

1. Profit Attributable to Shareholders +
Depreciation = Capex + Dividend

2. Non-Current Assets to Shareholders Fund
Ratio <1

3. Interest Coverage > 5
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Financing for Growth

The financing arrangement for 2008/09 is by far more
difficult than the last financial year because of the following
reasons:

- Even though the 2008/09 Capex budget has been
reduced, when compared to the actual expenditure
of HK$198,529,000 for 2007/08, it remains high at
HK$80,000,000;

- The financial market is stringent;

- The macro economic environment is unfavourable
to the manufacturing industry.

As at 31 May 2008, the unaudited net bank borrowing
ratio was approximately 25%. As such, we still expect the
net gearing ratio will stay at a level of below 50%. We are
also following our house rule of using our profit after tax
and proceeds from the Rights Issue last year to finance
our capital expenditures:

Financing Capex by Profit
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HK$ million AEETL 9900  00/01 0102  02/03  03/04 0405 0506  06/07  07/08
Profit After Tax BR%ER 20 26 78 120 90 147 186 125 13
Depreciation Vil 32 39 34 32 34 38 50 54 60
Proceeds of Rights Issue  ff &£ & - - - - - - - -2
52 65 12 152 124 185 236 179 195

Less: B
CAPEX ATEERE 57 65 15 2 59 62 9 92 199
Dividend/Dividends BB/ B RER S

To Be Distributed 16 42+ 113 92+ 82 86 103 47 4
(Deficit)/Surplus (BR)/ Bt (1) (42) (16) 36 (17) 37 41 40 (8)
(Net Bank Borrowings) ~ (F#RTEE) /

Net Cash FRe (23) (51) 64 34 6)  (34)  (112)  (141) (52)
(Net Gearing Ratio)/ (FRTEELE)

Net Cash Ratio /EREHE (7%)  (16%)  18% 9% (1%)  (56%)  (21%)  (25%) (8%)
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Extended “Team Building & Leadership for Peak Performance” workshop to middle levels, providing them with the experience training where
they could learn the importance of team work, toleration and mutual belief.
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As a prudent manufacturer, we never entertain the idea
of borrowing money to finance Capex, as this will expose
the Group to financial difficulty should the economy take
a sudden downturn.

However, from the experience of previous years, even with
a decrease in turnover growth rate, a vigorous working
capital management system would alleviate the burden on
cash flow resulting from financing receivables and
inventories.

Resources Available

The Directors are confident that with the cash in hand of
HK$353,140,000 and banking facilities of
HK$1,340,249,000, the Group is able to meet its current
operational and capital expenditure requirements and to
make strategic investments when opportunities arise.

Exchange Rate Exposure

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated either in Hong Kong dollar, US dollar or RMB.
As the exchange rates of the RMB against Hong Kong
dollar and US dollar rose continuously during the relevant
period, the Group was exposed to exchange rate fluctuation
risks and pressure on its production cost. The Group will
actively communicate with its customers regarding raising
its products’ selling prices to mitigate the impact of the
appreciation of the RMB on its business.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities.
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RECOGNITION

2007 IR Magazine Award

The Group’s annual reports have won various awards
including Asiamoney, IR Magazine and the Hong Kong
Management Association in the past few years. Continuing
this excellent track record, the Group’s 2006/07 annual
report received the first prize of “Best Annual Report and
other Corporate Literature” award from IR Magazine.
Besides, despite that the Group’s performance declined
during the year, the Group received the “Honorable
Mention” in the “Grand Prix for the Best Overall Investors
Relations in Hong Kong — Small/Mid Cap” by institutional
investors and analysts by IR Magazine.
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Awarded with “Honorable Mentions” and “Citation for Achievement in Corporate
Governance” in 2007 HKMA Best Annual Reports Award.
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“Best Annual Report and other Corporate Literature” Award in 2007
IR Magazine Award.
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A Thousand-Mile Journey Starts Heartfelt Dedication In All Details Riding the Waves
with A First Step FEKRN BOEM I E R
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2007 HKMA Best Annual Reports Award —EELFEIREFRESE]
The Group also received “Honourable Mentions” and AEERBES BEEEEEHT] -F
“Citation for Achievement in Corporate Governance THFEIGEFMER| 2 [BEFHE]
Disclosure” in the 2007 Hong Kong Management RIBFLEBEREHNEER] - EFg—
Association Best Annual Reports Award. The Board believes E*ﬁ 1§$%@Z¢$ﬁ&,\T@¢¥YEﬁEﬁ&

that the Group’s annual reports and other corporate
literatures and website are important platforms for
communication with shareholders and all stakeholders. The
Group thus devotes “Heartfelt Dedication in All Details”
(theme of the 2005/06 annual report) and resorts to using
graphs, simple and clear language, and photos to
communicate with investors, shareholders and other
stakeholders. We are delighted that our efforts are
recognized and we will continue to seek room for
improvement.
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Tea-break with individual investors

The Company is of the opinion that all investors shall have
equal rights to get access to the certain information of
the Company. Therefore, “Tea-Break with Individual
Investors” event has been organised to create a new
channel for effective communication with investors. Two
“tea-breaks” were successfully organised during the year,
at which various interactive activities were carried out
between investors and the management, thereby investors
deepened their understanding of the Group and made
some suggestions. The Company considers that such
communication channel is valuable in effectively
communicating with individual investors. Two “tea-breaks”
are expected to be held this year. The next “tea-break” is
scheduled to take place on 25 July 2008 from 7 p.m. to 9
p.m. at Crystal Room VI, 3/F, Panda Hotel, 3 Tsuen Wah
Street, Tsuen Wan. As part of the Group’s social
responsibility effort, participants will be asked to donate
at least HK$50 to charity and the Group will match the
donation up to a maximum of HK$10,000. For those who
donate HK$100 or more, the Group will request the
relevant charity to issue a receipt to the donor for tax
deduction purpose. As the investors have become more
knowledgeable about the Group, they are now less
enthusiastic about attending tea-breaks. Coupled with the
decline in the interest amongst investors in the shares of
small industry sector, the number of investors attending
tea-breaks has been dropping. Depending on the number
of investors attending, we will consider reducing the
number of tea-breaks from twice a year to once a year.

Interested investors are invited to visit the Group’s website
at www.karrie.com.hk for more details. Application form
can be downloaded from the website or obtained by calling
2411-1142 during office hours. Since seats are limited,
only investors whose applications are confirmed can join
the function. If the total number of application is more
than the seats available, the Group reserves the right to
allocate the admission tickets by lottery. Investors are
advised to grasp this opportunity to communicate directly
with the management of the Company.
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SEAMLESS TEAM READY FOR FUTURE
GROWTH

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Community Interest

As a responsible corporate citizen, we have actively
participated in corporate social responsibility promotion.
In May 2005, our employees formed a new volunteer team
to support activities that will benefit the elderly, children
and educational causes. The Group has always pursued its
role as a good corporate citizen, and has been awarded
the “Caring Company” logo by the Hong Kong Council of
Social Services for three consecutive years in 2008. The
Group is very pleased that its role as a good corporate
citizen is endorsed by the community.

Joint Project — “Nothing Is Impossible” Outward Bound
Programme

The Programme is a joint project between the Group and
St. Christopher’s Home. The aim of which is to nurture a
“nothing is impossible” spirit in participants through
activities including war-game training, adventure training
and wind surfing. The activities help participants to realise
their potential and enhance their understanding of the
self and on how to build interpersonal relationships. For
the two-year programme, we have completed the part for
primary school last year and will proceed with our
commitment for secondary school this year. Ho Cheuk Fai
Foundation Fund, apart from funding the activities, the
management will also attend the opening ceremony and
encourage our employees to take part in such activities.

Job Shadowing Programme

The programme is one that bases theory on actual social
requirements and links one’s learning interests to his career.
Through participating the programme, high-school students
become the shadow of our employees in different
departments. Under the guidance of school teachers and
voluntary tutors, they are able to experience actual social
work and get to know how to apply the knowledge and
expertise they have learnt in school to their work and gain
an initial concept of joining the working society or
continuing their studies, meanwhile, participants of the
Company have access to the younger generation and have
a better understanding of them, our future elites.
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Environmental Protection is also one of the main duties for entrepreneur and citizenship. “Tree Plantation Day” at Kadorrie Farm & Botanic
Garden has been held for fourth consecutive years, which became one of the gathering activities for staff and their families. Do you enjoy all
these beautiful sceneries?
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Donations

The Group conducted various donation activities from time
to time. We donated soup, bread and fruits to Caritas
Ngau Tau Kok Elderly Centre and held an elderly-visiting
activity; then, we donated mooncakes to Caritas Shatin
Elderly Centre and held a Mid-Autumn Festival celebration
for the elderly; we also donated sportswear and running
shoes to the students with slight mental retardation of
HHCKLA Buddhist Po Kwong School who were led by their
teachers to participate in the 10 km race in the “2008
Standard Chartered Hong Kong International Marathon”
with an aim to improve their willpower and endurance. To
encourage employees to take part in community activities,
the Company adopts the matching donation policy towards
the amounts raised by its employees in community activities
such as “Walk for a Million”, that is, the Company will
donate 1 dollar for each dollar raised by its employees.

In mainland China, whenever there is a festival, the
Company will send its representatives to the homes for
the elderly to hold celebration activities and distribute
festive foods such as mooncakes and glutinous rice
dumplings (# F) to the elderly people; and the Company
also pays regular visit to the three Hope Primary Schools
funded by the Company and its employees, meets with
the teachers and students and donates condolence money
and gifts to them.

A disastrous earthquake took place in Sichuan province in
May 2008, Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, the Company’s Chairman,
immediately made donations in the name of himself and
his Company which, together with the donations from
various departments of the Company in Hong Kong and
mainland China, amounted to over HK$1,400,000. The
Company established the Disaster Relief Special Fund
Committee to manage the use of such donation so that it
can be handed over to the earthquake victims in Sichuan
province and be used for reconstruction.
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Education

We made donations to the scholarships for the master
programmes on corporate governance and directorate of
the Hong Kong Baptist University to support the training
of more talents of corporate governance and directorship,
in the hope of helping to improve the corporate governance
level of companies in Hong Kong, mainland China and
immediate vicinities. We also cooperate with universities
to provide opportunities for students to use the Group as
the subject of their graduation dissertation, thereby
enabling them to apply theories into practice. In addition,
visits to our PRC plants were arranged during the summer
holiday for college or university students.

Environmental Protection

The Group held its annual “Tree Plantation Day” at the
Kadorrie Farm & Botanic Garden for the fourth consecutive
year, which has become one of the gathering activities for
staff and their families who are brought together to realize
the importance of cherishing the nature. Besides, a
photography competition was initiated for staff members
to show their excellent photography.

In order to save energy, energy-saving light tubes are used
in our Hong Kong office in place of the previously used
light tubes which are donated to the Helping Hand
Committee for its daily use and for avoidance of waste.

In mainland China, our volunteer team went to Fenggang
Yuanlongshan park to carry out a green environmental
activity in the theme of “Make Yuanlongshan Park Cleaner,
Let Fenggang Town Become More Beautiful” during which
we were committed to cleaning up the rubbish there.

We Care about Our Employees

The Group understands that the success of an enterprise
is based on the support of its employees. Therefore, the
Group is always dedicated to improve the welfare of its
staff so that they will be proud of being a member of the
Group and high team spirit can be brought into the work
place. The Group adopts a flexible and caring strategy and
creates better working environment for its staff so as to
improve their productivity. To encourage communication
between employees and their families and promote
harmonious family relationship, the Group invites its
employees and their families to activities such as annual
dinner, tree-planting, visits and Walk for a Million, so as
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Karrie is more than willing to contribute our modest part to the society and our focus is mainly on the elderly, children and education. We
have been awarded with “Caring Company” logo by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service for the third consecutive year.
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to enrich the living of our employees and their families.
The Company also sponsors the get-together celebrations
held by its employees for major traditional festivals such
as Christmas and the New Year. The Group understands
that its employees need to cultivate their children for their
future careers in society, the Group provides their children
with opportunities to do intern in the Group’s various
departments during the school summer holiday of each
year, so that they will have access to working experience
and get prepared for higher education or pursuing a career
in society later. The Group allows its employees to use its
internal network service so that they can deal with their
work at home or overseas, which provides flexibility for its
staff to have a balanced arrangement for their work and
families.

To reward our staff's willingness to spare their private
time to take part in various social welfare activities, the
Group created a volunteer holiday from January 2008 to
encourage more employees to do voluntary work.

In addition, to cope with domestic development and the
actual need for talent-retaining, the Group establishes a
“Cooperative Home & Car Ownership Scheme” to
encourage and finance potential elites in buying a home
and car as a means to retain talents who may otherwise
be lost in the competitive labour market. The Group also
sets up a "Karrie Club” which, in addition to leisure, sports
and cultural activities, provides staff members a venue to
relax and socialize. It serves the purposes of enriching
employees’ time after work and increasing their sense of
belonging to the Group. The “Committee on the Concerns
for the Next Generation” holds regular informal discussions
with new employees to find out how they are fitting in
with the new environment and the problems they may
have encountered at work. Assistance and counselling will
be given to employees to help them solve their problems
and hasten adaptation to the work environment.

A disastrous snow storm in southern China at the beginning
of 2008 ruined the plan of many people wishing to go
home for a get-together with their families during the
Spring Festival. As such, the Group continued to provide
the left-behind staff with accommodation and food service
in its factory dormitories and canteens, and held an activity
in the theme of “Caring Action — Get together For Lantern
Festival Celebration” for them. During the celebration, they
were served with hot stuffed dumplings (/% &) and
entertaining shows which made them feel warm and helped
relieve their distress for being unable to meet with their
families.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

For the year ended 31 March 2008, the Group had
approximately 6,850 employees. With a good reputation
in the local community, the Group has never encountered
major difficulties in recruiting employees.

Employee remuneration packages are determined in
accordance with prevailing market standards and the
employee’s performance and experience. The Group will
also grant bonuses to employees with outstanding
performance based on its own audited business
performance and the appraisal and reward system. Other
employee benefits include medical insurance, “Cooperative
Home & Car Ownership Scheme” and mandatory provident
fund.

Performance Based Incentives

The standard 13th month pay was abolished in 2002 and
replaced by a performance based bonus system and more
objective performance assessment. Employees with
outstanding performance will receive bonus higher than
what they would have received before the new system
was implemented.

In addition, for the purpose of boosting staff morale, the
Company adopted a new share option scheme in 2002.
As at 31 March 2008, a total of 109 (2006/07: 113)
employees were granted share options, and approximately
HK$1,079,000 (2006/07: HK$3,328,000) was charged to
the income statement. No share options were granted
during the year.

“All-Round Training Programme”

Strongly believing in possession of a pool of dedicated
employees with technical expertise is one of the key factors
of success, the Group always place great emphasis on
personnel training and development. To match with the
Group’s target and development strategy, this year’s
training goal has been set for “professional development
and continuous study”.
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Based on the working levels and functions of different
employees, this year’s training programme was designed
to provide continuous professional training lessons and
development schemes of different types, with coverage
mainly in management development, professional skills
and talent training programmes. These trainings not
only helped employees develop their own technical talents
and skills and enhance their performance and efficiency,
but also assisted the Company to build up a more superior
foundation for the future. Besides, each training scope
also has its key training subject:

- Management Development

This year's soft skills training for the management
focused on the “communication skills”. Accordingly,
we provided workshops of “Coaching Skills for
Leadership” and “Enhancing Management
Strengthens with Enneagram” to our
management members at all levels, so as to
strengthen their skills in respect of communicating
with employees in different segments, and enhance
their skills of handling communication and
interpersonal relationship at study and at work. In
particular, Enneagram is the Group’'s theme
development this year. Accordingly, we not only
provided class training, but also employed some
brand new training techniques such as documentary
report and drama, so as to give our employees of
all segments a vivid view of Enneagram and each of
the nine characteristics.

“Team Building” training gained positive and
affirmative responses when it was held among the
senior and middle management members in the
previous year. On this platform, we extended the
same to our junior management members and
supervision staff, providing them with the experience
training where they could learn the importance of
team work, toleration and mutual belief. In such
way, the core talent of the team would be enhanced,
and a space for infinite development could be
created.
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Through “Job Shadowing” with Junior Achievement Hong Kong and “Flying to Our Mainland, Our Home"” with DAB, our staff and
management act as voluntary tutors and mentors for the secondary and tertiary students, let them participate in the real working
environment and thus the younger generation has better understanding in planning their future career.
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Professional Skills

“Project Management” was the focus of this year’s
professional training programme. As the business
of the Group is generally conducted one project
after another, to strengthen the training in this
respect will render absolute support to the Group's
business development. Therefore, we invited an
expert to the Beijing 2008 Olympic Games Project
Team, to give lessons on the “project management
practice” training programme, which received
enthusiastic response. The training programme
helped enhance the project engineering staff's
comprehensive quality in project management, and
reinforce the Group's ability to develop its business.

Talents Training Programme

With an aim of cultivating and retaining the talents
for the Group, we took gradual and appropriate
steps in training, so as to develop the business in a
continuous and steady way. To satisfy the
requirements of all units, we set up different training
programmes, including:

“Graduates training programme” - The
programme has been introduced for some years.
The first batch of trainees has started working,
marking a good progress of the Group’s effort to
nurture talents with integrated skills for its business.
In line with the development of the Group’s business,
the number of participants of this programme has
been increased in this year.

“Internal back-up personnel training
programme” - By internal recruitment and
providing staff with training, the Company can save
recruitment cost, create an internal talent pool and
provide its staff with more room for further
development.

“Potential staff training programme” - The
Chairman and senior managers will mentor middle
management with potential to create a back-up
talent pool for future development.
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“Project engineers training programme” - A
training programme with a term of three years aimed
at enhancing the technical skills of the project
engineers, during which, the project engineers will
be sent to different engineering and production
technical departments and practice under the direct
guidance of managers

Looking forward, we will continue to enhance our training
standards through introducing more in-depth management
trainings, which can help the management bring better
result to the Group to. Furthermore, we will continuously
develop the technical standards of the Group’'s core
business through cooperation with different professional
skill training institutions, so as to maintain the
competitiveness of the Group and satisfy our customers’
requirements. This year, the Group further establishes an
appraisal system for management promotion, which will
ensure the best quality of the management and make the
team keep pace with the times.
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Sharing Management Philosophy of “6” and “9”

Dr. Ho Cheuk Fai, our Chairman, gives each member of the management
the gift of “6” and “9”. Dr. Ho pointed out that although “6” and “9"
are just numbers, in fact they represent an analogy. Looking from the
upward side, it is “6", but it becomes “9" looking from the other side.
Looking in a horizontal way, it is even not a number anymore visually.
This analogy suggests that every member at the management level should
at all times consider from all angles and different aspects, so that perfect
cooperation and complementarity can be achieved. In case where
disagreement arises, they should understand each other’s point of view
and reach a compromise.
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Initiated a 2-days “Karrie Management Retreat Camp” with senior management in March 2008. Through various activities, we have created
innovative methods to set up a mutual goal to ensure that the Group’s objective of “cost control and higher efficiency” could be achieved.
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Talents Assembling, Brainstorming and Diligent
Working

Despite the rapid growth in the past few years, the Group
recently saw a slowdown in turnover. In addition, the
operational difficulties we now face in the country and in
relation to manufacturing industry, including rising labor
cost in China, appreciation of RMB, higher consumer prices,
surging diesel prices and rising raw materials price, has
driven up overall operational costs and eroded the profit
margin.

Nevertheless, the management has never been discouraged.
As we stated in the Interim Report for 2007/08, if we
always “prepare for the worst and plan ahead for the
best”, and implement the policy of “increase the revenue
and control the costs” in a rapid and decisive way, we can
withstand the wildest storm.

“Join together and brainstorming”. During the year, the
Group has broken the tradition and held a brainstorming
session in March 2008 at Breakthrough Youth Village which
lasted for two days and one night. During the
brainstorming session, the management considered the
future direction of the Group from various viewpoints,
and managed to create some innovative methods to
broaden the revenue base and control the costs. The
brainstorming session also urged for team spirit and
effective implementation of the policies. During the
brainstorming session, the attendees shared with the others
their own management knowledge and experiences in such
areas as metal/plastic production, assembly production,
logistics management, market development and
administration. In the meantime, they set up a mutual
goal for each of these areas and ensured that the Group’s
objective of “cost control and higher efficiency” for the
year could be achieved.

Many practical action plans have been formulated at the
brainstorming session. In respect of production, there were
plans for avoiding wastage of raw material and controlling
scrap through mould design, technology improvement,
combination of machinery and equipment as well as
training. In respect of logistic management, there were
plans to enhance performance level of suppliers, shorten
order cycle, strengthen storage management and accelerate
material management and response speed as well as control
scrap strictly by reinforcing a series of measures. In respect
of administration, there were plans to reduce excess
employees and retrench staff through structure and
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foundation reorganization, and strengthen the policy that
linking performance management with reward. Whilst cost
controlling is important, broadening the revenue base is
more important. In respect of marketing, there were plans
to readjust strategies and explore more opportunities, in
addition to actively developing new projects with existing
customers.

Each action plan has been implemented at full speed, for
which the Board will monitor closely and has confidence
that each plan will be successful.

Pressing Forward In One Mind and Join Forces to Excel

Predicting from the current year, the Group is expected to
be exposed in the coming year to various uncertainties,
including a sharp increase in raw material price, soaring
oil price, appreciation of the Renminbi, macro-economic
regulating measures, repercussions of the sub-prime crisis,
credit crisis and rising wages etc. Although the aforesaid
problems will affect the Group’s profit margin to a certain
extent, but the Group has, in the face of such great
challenges, made sufficient preparation in the area of
funding requirement, personnel training and maintenance
of team spirit, thereby showing great foresight, overcoming
challenges, taking up future investment direction,
surmounting difficulties and marching steadily towards our
goal. With excellent team spirit and effective management,
we are determined to achieve better results and seek
greater return for our shareholders. Though facing
uncertainties, we have strong belief in a bright prospect
as long as we make efforts in one mind.

As an old Chinese saying goes “a journey of a thousand
miles starts with the first step” (main theme of the 2004/
05 annual report), we can steadily go forward. It is the
firm belief of our prudent team that with “heartfelt
dedication in all details” (main theme of the 2005/06
annual report), the Group will be able to accumulate and
learn from experience, forge a solid foundation, work in
unity and “Ride the waves” (main theme of the 2006/07
annual report) to overcome all difficulties, and “Join Forces
to Excel” (main theme of the 2007/08 annual report).
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Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of this year (2006/07: HK3 cents).
Together with the interim dividend of HKO0.75 cent per
share already paid, total dividend for this year will amount
to HKO.75 cent (2006/07: HK11.5 cents) per share.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company had reviewed the
consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2008.

APPRECIATION

I would like to thank our customers, suppliers, bankers,
shareholders and others who have extended their invaluable
support to the Group, and my fellow Directors, managers
and all staff for their considerable contributions to the
Group.

My special appreciation is given to Mr. Wong Shun Pang,
the executive director, for his dedication to the Group
during the past years with rich experience in the
engineering and manufacturing management in the plastic,
metal and electronic industries. He resigned as the director
of the Company for health reasons on 1 December 2007.

As at the date of this announcement, the Executive
Directors are: Messrs. Ho Cheuk Fai, Kwok Wing Kin,
Francis and Lee Shu Ki; the Non-executive Director is: Mr.
Ho Cheuk Ming; the Independent Non-executive Directors
are: Messrs. So Wai Chun, Chan Sui Sum, Raymond and
Fong Hoi Shing

By Order of the Board

Ho Cheuk Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 3 July 2008
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APPENDIX 1

Special Characteristics of Our Business Model

A Hypothetical Example (Simplified
and generalized for easy
understanding)
1. Quotation Phase
— Around 12 to 15 months prior
to shipment, Customer A sends
out Request for Quotation (RFQ)
for a project to all “qualified
suppliers”.

2. Project Confirmation Phase
— Customer A confirms the
placement of the project to us;
— Customer A also provides
shipment forecast for the next
18 to 24 months, which is the
normal life cycle of a project.

3. Moulds and Prototype Making

Phase

— According to Customer A’s
specification, we start to
perform the design works, make
the moulds and prototype;

— This process would take around
6 to 12 months;

— Customer A would also work
with our purchasing department
on electronics components and
the list of qualified suppliers for
such components.

4. Shipment Phase
— Customer A finalizes and revises
the final shipment schedule;
— We start manufacturing and
ship goods to just-in-time (JIT)
inventory warehouses.

5. Sales Recognition and Payment
— Customer A takes goods from
JIT warehouses;
— We get paid after the normal
credit period (generally 60
days).

Chairman’s Statement EE#H &

B &% —
wagElzere

BRES (RATEARBTZER
THzBRUMLEEXARE)

1. MERR

Quotation - ARFRE—ERZEER -
Phase R ERTL12E 1518 A [
HERR FrE[&REERE] BkR

B BREEEA-

Around 2 months

#2M8A
2. BERER
; — ARFHERBEBEEREH
Project i e
Confirmation X%%?E ’ _
Phase — BRMEE .1%'?‘% fh A R18E
EEEEG 248 A 8 S8R - bR

XEILZ_QFEID_@FNIU;@/HH °

Around 3 months

MR 3 mEmERR

— SERBARPARHENR
RERETR T I
RIELEERANEWR

a

Moulds &
Prototype

Making Phase

1
RARERE — W IFABEEHE 12

A
— ARFPTEHREMMBEZE
FEM - ERBALIE
Around 6 months R ER R R R i
#0688 o

4. YERER
—ARPBHETNERE
_J.

=
— EREE MK SR
FEHHH‘JL BlrmTHEE

E o

Shipment Phase
NERR

Around 4 months

2418 B 5. SHERRBREE

— AR PREBN & Rt
EESIEIK G

— BRPERBABRE TR (—
M AR60K) 3K °

Sales
Recognition &



APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

Special Characteristics of Our Business Model (Cont’d)

As in most cases the Group is the sole supplier for the
confirmed project and the related engineering works have
largely been completed, our problem is therefore one of
production, and not of marketing (2003/04 Annual Report,
page 26).
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APPENDIX 1 (Cont'd)

Special Characteristics of Our Business Model (Cont’d)

Some or all of the following characteristics apply to our
dealings with customers. Such characteristics have been
generalized/simplified to enable easy understanding:

1.

We deal with projects, which can take one year from
initial project confirmation, development and
engineering works to final shipment of goods. A
project’s shipment cycle can run for 18 to 24 months.

We do not normally have a large order backlog
because the customers’ adoption of either the just-in-
time inventory (JIT), rolling forecast, Electronic Data
Interexchange (EDI) or a combination of the above
methods.

Usually we are the sole supplier for a particular project
and therefore have the obligation to ship goods to
customers even if the sales volume is much higher
than the initial projection.

Most of our customers are not retailers, but
manufacturers themselves. Some of them even have
factories in China. Most of the electronic components
are either sourced through the customers or their
designated suppliers.

While the metal and plastic enclosures business is an
integral part of the computer and computer peripheral
sector, the industry thrives only in Taiwan but not in
Hong Kong.

Our customers are mostly multi-national companies.
Thus we frequently encounter such situation like
project originated in Japan, components assembled in
China while the final products shipped to Asia or
Europe. Our definition of breakdown by market is by
shipment destination rather than country of origin of
the customers.
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APPENDIX 2 M 4% —

Corporate Governance TEER

1. Establishment of an Executive Committee to improve 1. KIZBTZESMRRKRER - £EA
decision-making efficiency. The day-to-day operations BREEXHHEXERABRRE

of the Group are now in the hands of a group of
professional managers;

2. Efforts to improve transparency 2. BAhREERE
- disclosing in annual report detailed explanation RERPFAREEBRRKREARA
of corporate strategies and the rationale behind; BEzES
- meeting with individual shareholders periodically — TEHRTIRMEHERFEAKRESE
through a new “tea-break” program. 2H

3. Clearly defined dividend policy of payment of 30%* 3. BREEMLENZ30% 5 _EREIR

or more of the profit attributable to shareholders; BEREEZ K EHE
4. Clearly defined ROE objective of 20%; 4. EWMECTRIEEZEBREAEEAR
20%
5. Clearly defined future turnover targets; 5. EMETSEEKRKIEERE
6. Announcing quarterly results; 6. RMMEEHEE
7. Increasing the number of audit committee meetings 7. ENMBHRABEREECSRIREEGF
to 4 times a year; 4R 5

8. Encouraging executive directors to hold at least 8. WENBEHMITESRHEA T 500,0008%

500,000 shares of the Group; SBRG
9. Willingness to share wealth created with all 9. BMESAREREHESKRFE—RAS=E
shareholders through dividend. Since 2000/01, the M= Q 2T /T -FEFAE
aggregated amount of the Group’s dividends paid/ EEERE BMEERSREY
payable is around HK$568,806,000 or around 84% of 568,806,000 7T * HAERRE &
the shareholders’ fund. 84% -
*Remarks: Because of the importance of maintaining financial *3T HRIEEHRNREMBIZEEEEE -
stability in this crucial period of a CAPEX cycle, the At EFeREEFTRIBAME UL
Directors reserve the right of changing this guideline IR BRI 2 EF -

without prior notice.
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APPENDIX 3

Dividend and Dividend Policy:

B & =

RERBREBX :
An unbroken 11 years’ record of dividend payment
116 BUBRK B 18 K B B
The Group’s policy to distribute 30% or more of its profits attributable to shareholders as dividend

SEREREBRRSRREMEERNI0%HU LAREIKE

All dividend paid shown below is in HK cents per share

THERKE2RE2UEBWFTE

Interim Final Special Dividend
Interim  Final Subtotal Special Special  Subtotal  Total Payout Ratio
i AE  REIRE RE

g KRB Mt BARE  RARE Mt EF B L *
(Excluding)* (Including)*
(FEREER)* (BREER)*
1997/98 Nil £ 1.00 1.00 Nil £ Nil #& Nil £ 1.00 13% N/A T iER
1998/99 2.00 2.00 4.00 Nil % Nil & Nil £ 4.00 58% N/A T iE R
1999/00 2.20 2.20 4.40 Nil % Nil # Nil & 4.40 77% N/A i A
2000/01 1.10 3.80 4.90 Nil £ 6.20 6.20 11.10 69% 156%
2001/02 5.00 590  10.90 5.00 14.10 19.10  30.00 50% 138%
2002/03 8.00 11.00  19.00 Nil £ 5.00 5.00 24.00 60% 75%
2003/04 8.00 12.00 20.00 Nil % Nil #& Nil &  20.00 87% N/A T iE R
2004/05 850 1250  21.00 Nil % Nil £ Nil &  21.00 58% N/A T iE R
2005/06 9.00 13.00 22.00 Nil % 3.00 3.00 25.00 48% 55%
2006/07 8.50 3.00 11.50 Nil % Nil & Nil &  11.50 38% N/A T iE R
2007/08 0.75 Nil & 0.75 Nil % Nil £& Nil £ 0.75 27% N/A TR

Remarks: * Excluding special dividend #Including special dividend

et
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APPENDIX 4 Bt % P9
Inventory & Debtor Turnover
FEREWIRBES
No. of days H £k X
100 y ——a—— Inventory Turnover 1 & 2 HA
B - - o - Debtor Turnover fEU IR B EHA

90 L

80 L

70 L

60 L

50 |

40 L

30 ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! ! |

98/99  99/00  00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04  04/05 05/06  06/07 07/08

(no. of days) (A ) 98/99 99/00 00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08
Inventory Turnover
FEIREH 55 9% 67 48 39 42 72 39 45 37
Debtor Turnover
& Y5 1 38 85 HA 57 52 65 64 56 63 80 61 67 56
Inventory turnover (Base on year end stock value/Cost of Sales) x 365 days FEREE CAFERFEE$ERA)x 3650
Debtor turnover (Base on year end debtors/Turnover) x 365 days JT%'H&'FE@@}HE (LAE\%%HWFE/%:?%@) X 3650

Inventory Turnover Days 17 & B & i

(no. of days) (H &) 06/07 07/08 Change #1i&
Raw Materials R £} 23 18 -5
WIP # & & 5 5 -
Finished Goods 34X & 17 14 -3

Total & &t 45 37 -8
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APPENDIX 5 Bt &k T
Gross Profit Margin & Net Profit Margin
ENREAFNEESE
(%)
30 - —A— Gross Profit Margin -~ E522 (%)
- - Net Profit Margin ~ 4E7F2& (%)
25
20
15
10
o---1ao
5 F o--- 7 Ttao---8---pl
- H-- =4a--- 'U ﬂ ~
0 I I I I I L~ J
97/98 98/99 99/00 00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08
(%) 97/98  98/99 02/03  03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08
Gross Profit Margin 233 20.7 15.0 13.7 12.4 10.7 9.1 6.4
EME
Net Profit Margin 4.5 43 6.9 53 5.7 5.2 3.8 0.5
R
HK$(million) (& &%)
Turnover/Revenue 619 592 1,738 1,693 2,563 3,597 3,328* 2,803*
BEE/ WA
Profit attributable to
Shareholders 28 25 120 90 147 186 125 13
ES AN

* Revenue

Turnover + Other gains

WA = A+ Emias
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APPENDIX 6

FAQ

BUSINESS

1.

What is so special about Karrie's business model?

- Normally we deal with projects, which can
take one year from initial project confirmation,
development and engineering works to final
shipment of goods. A project shipment cycle
can run for 18 to 24 months.

- Usually we are the only vendor for a particular
project confirmed. Combined with the 18 to
24 months shipment cycle, we are bestowed
with relatively long-term business visibility.
(2004/05 Annual Report, page 60)

Would rising cost of raw material affect the
performance of the Group?

Under the Group’s versatile ‘Total Transparent Cost
Plus Pricing Mechanism’ most of the raw materials
other than electro-galvanized steel plates are sourced
through the customers or though suppliers
designated by the customers. A rise in raw material
price (other than steel) has only a marginal impact
on the bottom line. (2004/05 Annual Report, page
18)

Experts say RMB is going to appreciate more in the
coming two years. What is the impact on the Group?

- RMB payments represents about 15% of the
total cost of sales.

- As most of our competitors are also based in
China and on the basis that customers stick
to their present purchasing practice, in theory
we could raise price to cover the increase in
cost over the time.

To whom do Karrie sell its products?
Our products, including computer server casings,

laser printers, magnetic tape drive, are mainly sold
to multi-national customers.
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APPENDIX 6 (Cont'd)
CAPEX, DIVIDEND AND FINANCE

5. Are you worried about a high level of bank
borrowings?

- The Group's shareholders fund is much higher
than the non-current assets meaning that the
Group is financing its non-current assets
through stable shareholders’ fund rather than
bank borrowings;

- Any increase in net bank borrowings could
therefore be attributed to the increased
working capital requirement due to an
increase in turnover. This is a positive news
but not the otherwise.

6. What is the status of new Yu Quan and
Yi Xing Plants?

- The site area of Yu Quan Plant is
approximately 240,000 sg. m. as compared
to the combined site area of 89,000 sg. m.
of the existing Yan Tien Plant and Fenggang
Plant;

- We will build Yu Quan Plants in various phases
depending on the economic conditions. Phase
I has launched production in October 2006;

- It is expected the Phase Il of Yu Quan Plant
will be completed by end of 2008.

- The construction of Phase | of Yi Xing Plant
has commenced. The trial run is expected in
the 4th quarter of 2008.

7. Is Karrie going to change its dividend policy because
of the capex and working capital requirements?

- Our dividend policy is to pay out 30%* or
more of the profit attributable to
shareholders;

- In 2007/08, we paid out a total of HK0.75
cents as dividend (payout ratio: 27 %), making
the 11th year of unbroken dividend payment
record;

*Remarks: Because of the importance of maintaining financial
stability in this crucial period of a CAPEX cycle, the
Directors reserve the right of changing this guideline
without prior notice.
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APPENDIX 6 (Cont'd) Bt 8% 7S (4%)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHERS EERRHA
8. Should you worry about the corporate governance 8. BPESEEZMNNEEERKT?

standard of Karrie?

9.

For three consecutive years, fund managers and
research analysts have voted Karrie as one of
the best-managed companies in Hong Kong in
the Asiamoney Polls. In the 2004 Poll, Karrie
was voted as the second best in Corporate
Governance in Hong Kong. In 2005 Karrie was
voted as the best small cap in the same poll,

We have made detailed explanation of corporate
strategies and the rationale behind in our annual
reports and our effort was recognised by Hong
Kong Management Association and awarded
with “Honorable Mentions” in 2006 and 2007
Best Annual Report Award, also being awarded
with 2007 IR Magazine Award “Best Annual
Report and Other Corporate Literature” Award,

Since 2001 the day-to-day operation of Karrie
has been in the hands of a group of professional
managers. The management team is not related
to the controlling shareholder;

Karrie is also willing to share with shareholders
the wealth created through distribution of
dividend. Since 2000/01, the aggregated amount
of the Group’s dividends paid/payable is around
HK$568,806,000 or around 84% of the
shareholders’ fund as at 31 March 2008;

To increase its transparency, Karrie

SR REM = 0 [ M AR
ERPRBEREERES DN
BEHAREELE - HAF_EXE
MEZER | B BAPERIE
BRECEERRBAIF % -
RI—ETRFEER|TEER
[?.5%;—%?@ AR — NI E]

RERPFMABEEERKER
BErzES  HWEDFIHEEE
BEEHe |  RRAVTEEREE -F
;ﬁf\&:%gtirhﬂiiiﬁ
B | BEEFREE - AN
EIREEBERMERS] S22 +F
gfﬂ—&i#&&m%XJ%—

ENE-_FTT—FRERMH I
EXEEACBERREET
YF - Bk B 19 B IR AR AR B 4R
BRI

EMIFEE SRR AR S HEARE
MozEiE  B-2TT T—
FERG BE-FTZNF=A
Zt+—HEBAHXBIRE, K
é’ézfﬁéﬂﬁ . 47568,806,0005%
CERERE S HI84% ¢

RTRERE =7

a. voluntarily announces quarterly result; a. BEREAMEEFEE
b. arranges “tea-breaks” with individual b. BEFREAKREERT

shareholders half a year; and

KROEE + &

C. publishes an easy-to-read annual reports C. FWHEEERIAER
with graphs, tables and other useful % BREENEE -
information. B & & EH B A E R A

Who are the major shareholders?

As at 15 June 2008, the Ho's family/Pearl Court
Company Limited held around 56% of the issued
share capital of the Company;

Veer Palthe Voute NV held around 6% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

RE

HEEEENTIZRR?

BHE_ZTZTN\FATHAL -
Al K R 1% Pearl Court Company
Limited#5 B I {7 /556% :

Veer Palthe Voute NV B 416 %
f& 5 e
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APPENDIX 7 Bt &%
c Profith attr;]bﬁjéable
apex to shareholders
EAMBIX ﬁ‘{apex \ .58 P ik
HK$°000 BEEEERE HK$'000
FET FET
200,000 - 200,000
160,000 - 160,000
120,000 <4 120,000
?
80,000 1 80,000
40,000 4 40,000
0 1B 0
97/98 98/99 99/00 00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08 | 08/09*
B Capex
BAMES 67,604 | 76,176 | 56,595 | 65,034 | 14,675 | 24,488 | 58,842 | 62,236 | 92,059 | 91,625 | 198,529 | 80,000
—o—  Profit attributable
to shareholders 27,865 | 25,162 | 20,616 | 26,368 | 78,370 119,808 | 90,440 | 146,573 | 186,379 | 124,928 | 13,148 ?
% SRR A A
*08/09 Budget Phase 1: Phase 2: Phase 3: Phase 4: Phase 5: Phase 6: Phase 7:
*08/09 TEE Asian Restructuring, investment Rapid growth Consolid- Rapid growth Consolid- |Restructuring, investment
financial and market repositioning ation ation in fixed assets aﬂd market
crisis repositioning
BB o FoRE SIREER Eal B BB -
THER | gEEE  RERTHENEN [ £ EEH [F3: E 3 BEY | XHEE - BFEE
R A 5 EHE L
APPENDIX 8 B 8% N\
(%) Group’s Target ROE at 20% or above
40 - SEZRAEZEHREEEEENR20%5 A £
353 35.3
35+
30 +
g ?% 25
g 5
§ & 200
: T
S & 15f
€ X
10 -
5k
0 J
96/97 97/98 98/99 99/00 00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08
HK$ million
BEET 96/97 97/98 98/99 99/00 00/01 01/02 02/03 03/04 04/05 05/06 06/07 07/08
Profit after Tax BRI 18 M 81 2825 21 26 78 120 90 147 18 125 13
Shareholders’ Equity R & 310 318 332 339 356 347 364 375 416 527 557 676
Return on RRES
Equity (%) ] 37 3 (%) 261 88 75 62 7.3 225 33.0 240 353 353 224 1.9
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APPENDIX 9 B &% 1
Potential Dilutive Effect of Share Options

BRESEHEESTE

(As at 15 June 2008, issued share capital comprises 577,197,600 shares)
(BE2-—ZFTZENFNAT+TAHEETRA%E577,197,6004)

Number of exercisable
outstanding share options

RITEBRERE
Percentage
over total
Exercisable during or Other issued
after the period Directors Participants Total share capital
HEBITRA
RBRBZRATEZFE = Htt 2 HE By ZBEM
01/04/2008 - 31/03/2009 7,091,950 20,050,107 27,142,057 4.7%

Cumulative total £ & 7,091,950 20,050,107 27,142,057 4.7%
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Corporate Governance Report ¥ ERRESE

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are
committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
to enhance corporate value and accountability.

For the year ended 31 March 2008 (the “Year”), the Group
has applied the principles of the recently promulgated Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code"”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”) and complied with the code provisions
(the "Code Provisions”) of the CG Code, save for deviation
from Code Provisions A.2.1, A.4.2 and E.1.2 of the CG
Code. This report describes our Group's corporate
governance practices and explains the said deviations from
the CG Code.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

1. The Board of Directors

1.1 As at 31 March 2008, the Board consisted of
seven Directors, comprising Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai
(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer), Mr.
Kwok Wing Kin, Francis (Deputy Chairman and
Chief Operating Officer) and Mr. Lee Shu Ki
as executive Directors; Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming
as a non-executive Director and Mr. So Wai
Chun, Mr. Chan Sui Sum, Raymond and Mr.
Fong Hoi Shing as the independent non-
executive Directors. The Board has the
collective responsibility for the leadership and
promotion of the success of the Group's
business by directing and supervising the
Group's affairs.
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1.2

1.3

The Board is committed to the Group's
objectives of enhancing the shareholder’s
value and provision of superior products
and services. The Board is collectively
responsible for formulating the overall
objective and strategy of the Group;
monitors and evaluates its operating and
financial performance and reviews the
standard of corporate governance of the
Group. It also makes decisions on matters
such as approving the annual results,
interim and quarterly results, connected
transactions, appointment and re-
appointment of Directors, declaring
dividend and adopting accounting policies.
The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for implementing business
strategies and management of the daily
operations of the Group’s businesses to
the management.

The Board conducts regular scheduled
meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc
meetings are convened when
circumstances require.

The Board had met four times for the Year
and considered, reviewed and approved
the Group’s annual results for the year
ended 31 March 2007, quarterly and
interim results of the Group for the Year.
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The attendance records of Board meetings
held during the Year are set out below:

Attendance of individual Directors at
Board meetings during the Year

bk i Annual Report 2007/08 4 % 65
NS el -y
HES

UTRAFEEZTSEHN L FELE

AEEESEERENESHHER

No. of attendance/
No. of meetings

Attendance rates

HERY/ ERRH el
Executive Directors HITEFE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 8 5% & 7/9° 78%
Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis BABEAE 8/9 89%
Mr. Lee Shu Ki FRELE 9/9 100%
Mr. Wong Shun Pang? H M % &2 6/6 100%
Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming' OEEP 8/9° 89%
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTESE
Mr. So Wai Chun BREEEE 9/9 100%
Mr. Chan Sui Sum, Raymond (G Eoyis 8/9 89%
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing iR bk 9/9 100%
Average attendance rate FHLEX 93%

! re-designated as non-executive Director on 1

June 2007
2 resigned on 1 December 2007
3 In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws

and the Listing Rules, Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming were required to refrain
from attending the relevant board meeting(s)
to decide on the matters relating to the then
proposed rights issue of the Company as they
were considered having a material interest
therein

To maximize the effectiveness of the Board
and to encourage active participation and
contribution from Board members, the Board
has established an audit committee and a
remuneration committee. Detailed descriptions
of each of these committees are set out
below. All of these committees adopt, as far
as practicable, the principles, procedures and
arrangements of the Board in relation to the
scheduling and proceeding of meetings, notice
of meetings and inclusion of agenda items,
records and availability of minutes.

1.4
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HFES

ARES
2.  Board Composition EEEHER

2.1 As at 31 March 2008, the Board comprises 21 RZEENF=ZRA=+—8"
seven Directors: three executive Directors, one EESHLRESTAEK B
non-executive Director and three independent —HRWTES  —RIFRTE
non-executive Directors. Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming, ER=ZFFEIENITESE - #
the non-executive Director, is the younger TEEMNEBXEREFERT
brother of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, the Chairman BABHE - TIERITE S 0] £ 87
and Chief Executive Officer. The Board has fEZN EFEELWEEH
received annual confirmations of BB TES 2B LR
independence from each of the independent R I AEE 2B IEANTT
non-executive Directors and believed that all EEHEFE LEMMRANE33
the independent non-executive Directors meet RFTE BB IERITES S
with the gquidelines for assessment of MR EZIEEIRE -
independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

2.2 The attributes, skills and expertise among the 22 BAKEEBEHEREEM

existing Directors are considered appropriate
so as to effectively lead, supervise and manage
the Group, taking into account the scope and
nature of the operations. The Directors have
a mix of core competencies in areas such as
accounting and finance, business and
management, production and quality control
techniques, supply chain management,
industry knowledge and marketing strategies.
Details of the experience and qualifications
of Directors and Senior Management are set
out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this Annual Report.

5 REESEMAGZEE -
RENBEEMBRNCTRERE
BRMSIBREREAEH - &
FEERTENG ETB
BELER  LENMEES
By - HEREE  ITEME
EhERBEESELEES - 6
EENSRERABZERK
BEBMENANERPIEER
SREEAE] -



[

Corporate Governance Report 1&

3. Appointment, Re-election and Removal of
Directors
3.1 At each annual general meeting ("AGM"),

3.2

3.3

one-third of the Directors are required to retire
from office by rotation. The Directors, since
his last election or appointment who have
been the longest in office shall retire and be
eligible for re-election at the AGM. The
Chairman and/or the Managing Director of
the Group shall not, when holding such office,
be subject to retirement by rotation or be
taken into account in determining the number
of Directors to retire in each year. With the
introduction of the CG Code and to comply
with Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code,
the Chairman and/or the Managing Director
of the Group will voluntarily retire at the AGM
at least once every three years.

As at 31 March 2008, non-executive Directors
(except Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming) including
independent non-executive Directors are
appointed for a fixed term not exceeding three
years and all non-executive Directors are
subject to the requirements of retirement by
rotation and re-election by shareholders at
AGM in accordance with the Company’s bye-
laws (the “Bye-laws”).

The names and biographical details of the
Directors who will offer themselves for
election or re-election at the forth coming
AGM are set out in the circular to
shareholders to assist shareholders in making
an informed decision on their elections.

Bk §
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REAREE

3. EBENEF -EEBERER

3.1

3.2

3.3
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3.4  Since the whole Board participates in the
appointment of new Directors, the Company
does not establish a nomination committee.
In evaluating whether an appointee is suitable
to act as a Director, the Board will consider
the experience and skills of the appointee; as
well as personal ethics, integrity and the
willingness to commit time in the affairs of
the Group. Where the appointee is appointed
as an independent non-executive Director, the
Board will also consider his/her independence.
During the Year, the Board had also reviewed
and made recommendations in respect of the
re-appointments of retiring Directors, which
were approved by the shareholders at the last
AGM.

Corporate Governance and Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer

The Group is committed to achieving high standards
of corporate governance. Throughout the year ended
31 March 2008, the Company had applied the
principles and complied with the requirements set
out in the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, except the
following:

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not
segregate the roles of its Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai ("Mr. Ho")
currently holds both positions.
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Being the founder of the Group, Mr. Ho has
substantial experience in the manufacturing industry.
At the same time, Mr. Ho has the appropriate skills
and business acumen that are the pre-requisites for
assuming the role of the Chief Executive Officer.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in the
same person would provide the Group with strong
and consistent leadership and allow the Group to
be more effective and efficient in developing long-
term business strategies and execution of business
plans. The Board considers that there is no need to
segregate the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer and both roles should continue to
be performed by Mr. Ho.

According to Code Provision A.4.1, Non-executive
Director should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming was re-
designated as Non-executive Director on 1 June 2007
without a specific term. Moreover, Code Provision
A.4.2 stipulated that every Director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

According to the Company’s bye-laws, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being or, if their number is not 3 or a
multiple of 3, the number nearest to one-third but
not greater than one-third shall retire from office
provided that notwithstanding anything in the
Company's bye-laws, the Chairman of the Directors
and/or the Managing Director of the Company shall
not, whilst holding such office, be subject to
retirement by rotation or be taken into account in
determining the number of Directors to retire in
each year. Furthermore, any Director appointed to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board
should hold office only until the next following AGM
and would then be eligible for re-election. With the
introduction of the CG Code and to comply with
Code Provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, the Chairman
and/or the Managing Director of the Group will
voluntarily retire at the annual general meeting at
least once every three years. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken
to ensure good corporate governance of the
Company.
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Under Code Provision E.1.2, the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee or
their delegates should be arranged to attend the
Company’'s AGM. The Chairman of the Audit and
Remuneration Committees, Mr. So Wai Chun, had
not attended the AGM held on 17 August 2007
(the “Meeting”) as he had another business
engagement and no delegate had been arranged to
attend the Meeting. The Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, together with other members of
the Board had attended the Meeting in which Mr.
Lee Shu Ki, the Executive Director of the Company,
took the chair of the Meeting. The Board considers
that the Chairman of the Board and the members
of the Board who attended the Meeting were already
of sufficient calibre and number for answering
questions from shareholders at the AGM.

The Company will continue to review its practices from
time to time to achieve high standard of corporate
governance.

B. BOARD COMMITTEE

1. Remuneration Committee (“RC")

1.1 The Board has established the RC in June 2005
with terms of reference, comprising a majority
of independent non-executive Directors, which
meets at least once a year. It is chaired by
Mr. So Wai Chun and comprises two other
members, namely Mr. Chan Sui Sum,
Raymond and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming. All RC
members, with the exception of Mr. Ho Cheuk
Ming (non-executive Director), are
independent non-executive Directors. The
quorum necessary for the transaction of
business by the RC is two.

1.2 The principal responsibilities of RC are to
formulate remuneration policy of the Group,
review and make recommendations to the
Board in respect of the remuneration policy
and to determine the remuneration of the
executive Directors and the senior
management.
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The RC met once during the Year with an
attendance rate of 100% and reviewed its
terms of reference, the remuneration policy
of the Group and the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management staff.

2. Audit Committee ("AC")

2.1

2.2

The AC’s membership, with the exception of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (non-executive Director),
comprised the independent non-executive
Directors as at 31 March 2008:

Mr. So Wai Chun (Chairman)
Mr. Chan Sui Sum, Raymond
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing; and

Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming

The Board is of the opinion that members of
the AC have sufficient accounting and
financial management expertise or experience
to discharge their duties.

The operations of the AC are regulated by its
terms of reference. The main duties of the
AC include:

o to review and supervise the Group’s
financial reporting process including the
review of quarterly, interim and annual
results of the Group;

o to review the external auditors’
appointment, remuneration and any
matters relating to resignation or
termination;

o to examine the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control which involves
regular review in various corporate
structures and business process; and

o to realize corporate objective and
strategy by taking into account the
potential risk and the nature of its
urgency in order to ensure the
effectiveness of the Group’s business
operations. The scope of such reviews
includes finance, operations, regulatory
compliance and risk management.

1.3
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2.3

The AC met four times during the Year with
an attendance rate of 100% and reviewed
the quarterly, interim results and the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2007. The AC had also reviewed the
Group’s audited annual results of the Year.
The Company Secretary of the Company keeps
all minutes of the AC.

C. SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

1.1

1.2

The Company has adopted a Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of the
Group (the “Company’s Model Code”) on
terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
(the "Model Code”) contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules.

Having made specific enquiries to all Directors,
they have confirmed that they had complied
with the required standards set out in both
the Company’s Model Code and the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March
2008.

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

1. Financial Reporting

1.1

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for
preparing the Group’s accounts which gives
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the companies and of the Group on a going
concern basis, with supporting assumption or
qualification as necessary. In preparing the
accounts for the Year, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable.

The management provides explanation and
information to the Board as to enable the
Board to make informed assessments of the
financial and other information put before the
Board for approval.
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1.3 The Board endeavours to ensure the making
of balanced, clear and understandable
assessments of the Group’s position and
prospects and extending the coverage of such
information to include annual, interim and
quarterly reports, price-sensitive
announcements and financial disclosures as
required under the Listing Rules, reports to
regulators as well as any information that is
required to be disclosed pursuant to statutory
requirements.

1.4  Since September 2003, the Company has been
publishing its financial results on a quarterly
basis in order to enhance transparency about
its performance and to give details of the
latest development of the Group in a timely
manner. The Company is expected to
announce its annual results within 3 months
after each financial year end and announced
its interim results within 2 months after the
end of the relevant periods.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of
internal controls and is committed to managing
business risks and maintaining sound and effective
internal control system to safeguard the
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

During the Year, the Internal Audit Department
under the supervision of the Board and the Audit
Committee, has reviewed and reported on the
adequacy of effectiveness of the internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational,
compliance and risk management control functions.

The internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance of no
material mis-statement or loss and to manage
instead of eliminating risks of failure in operational
systems and achievement of the Group’s objectives.

The Internal Audit Department performs regular
audit reviews and report of the risk and key controls
of the Group to the Board and the Audit Committee.
The responsible Department Heads will be notified
of the control deficiencies noted for rectification.
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3.

Auditors’ remuneration

During the Year, the fees paid to
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Group’s external
auditor HK$1,650,000 for audit services of the
Group and for non-audit related services
HK$658,000, representing mainly taxation services
and non-audit service fees in connection with the
rights issue circular.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

1. The Company strives to convey to
shareholders pertinent information in a clear,
detailed, timely manner and on a regular basis
and to take into consideration their views and
inputs, and to address the shareholders
concerned. Their views are communicated to
the Board comprehensively.

2. The Company communicates with its
shareholders through the publication of
annual, interim reports, results
announcements and releases. All
communications to shareholders are also
available on the Company’s website at
www.karrie.com.hk.

3. The AGM provides a useful platform for
shareholders to exchange views with the
Board. The Chairman of the Board and the
Board members are available to answer
shareholders’ questions.

4. Separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the election of individual Directors.

5. Details of the voting procedures and rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders, which has been
dispatched together with this Annual Report.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognizes that effective
communication with investors is the key to
establish investor confidence and to attract
new investors.

Quarterly results announcement

The Group has voluntarily adopted quarterly
result announcement commencing from
September 2003 onwards. This is part of the
Group's effort to go beyond the Stock
Exchange requirements and to make the
Group’s financial position as transparent as
possible to shareholders, potential investors
and the general public. Annual reports and
interim reports are prepared and issued to all
shareholders within the prescribed period
stipulated by the Listing Rules. All results
announcements and reports are posted on the
Company's website.

Media and analysts briefings

Briefings for media are held on the same day
immediately after the quarterly, interim and
annual results released via teletext. Briefing
for analysts by way of presentation at
luncheons, receptions or telephone
conferences are organized thereafter. During
the briefing, the Group’s management
provides an in-depth analysis of the Group's
performances in respect of the relevant
periods and ensures that the financial
performance and accounts of the Group are
well understood. There is also ample
opportunity for the analysts and media to ask
questions and interact with the executive
Directors and senior management.
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Tea-Break with individual investors

Since the first quarter of 2004/05, the Group
has been arranging tea-break with individual
investors to build up an interactive and direct
communication channel. This allows individual
investors talking to the management of the
Group. Meanwhile, the Group would give an
update about the status of the Group’'s
development and share of their feelings
toward the Group.

The Group regularly releases corporate
information such as awards received, and the
latest news of the Group’s developments on
its Company’'s website. The public are
welcome to give their comments and make
their enquiries through the Company’s
website, the management will give their
prompt response.
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Fai, aged 62, was appointed as a Director
of the Company in October 1996 and is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company as well as the
founder of the Group. Prior to founding the Group in
1980, Mr. Ho had over 10 years’ experience in factory
management and in manufacturing plastic, metal and
electronic products. He is responsible for the Group's
overall corporate strategies and objectives. He is also a
director of Pearl Court Company Limited, a corporate
substantial shareholder of the Company, and the brother
of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming and husband of Ms. Ho Po Chu.

His solid business knowledge and working experience
throughout the years was being recognized by the
academic. He was awarded with fellow member of the
Asian Knowledge Management Association in September
of 2003 and Honorary Fellowship by Canadian Chartered
Institute of Business Administration and Honorary Doctorate
in Management by Lincoln University in April of 2007.

He has been appointed as member of the 10th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of Political Consultative Conference
in January 2008 and member of 10th and 11th Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province in January 2007. Mr. Ho is currently
participating in affairs of different associations, which
including Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong Metals
Manufacturers Association, Member of the Executive
Committee of China Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Dongguan City Association of Enterprises with Foreign
Investment, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Dongguan City Fenggang Association of Enterprises with
Foreign Investment, Vice-Chairman of the Executive
Committee of the Overseas Friendship Association of
Dongguan, Committee Member of Hebei Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association, Member of the Executive Committee
of Hong Kong Hebei Association Ltd and Committee
Member of Dongguan University of Technology Education
Foundation of Dongguan City.
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Mr. KWOK Wing Kin, Francis, aged 46, was appointed
as a Director of the Company in October 2000, and is a
Deputy Chairman and the Marketing Director as well as
Convener of the Executive Committee of the Group. Mr.
Kwok was re-designated as a Deputy Chairman and a Chief
Operational Officer as well as Convener of the Executive
Committee of the Group with effect from 1 January 2008.
Mr. Kwok graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now
known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a
diploma in business management and is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Management Association. Prior
to joining the Group in 1989, Mr. Kwok had ten years’
experience in plastic manufacturing sector and procurement
work in electronics manufacturing sector.

Mr. LEE Shu Ki, aged 52, was appointed as a Director of
the Company in December 1997, and is the Financial
Controller and a member of the Executive Committee of
the Group. He is responsible for overseeing the daily
operation of the Group’s Accounting Department. Mr. Lee
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a higher
diploma in accountancy and is a fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
an associate member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants of the United Kingdom. He has
over 25 years’ accounting and financial management
experience in manufacturing businesses. Mr. Lee joined
the Group in June 1995.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. HO Cheuk Ming, aged 54, was re-designated as non-
executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 June
2007. He was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company from October 1996 to 31 May 2007, and was a
Deputy Chairman and Chief Operation Officer as well as
the Convener of the Executive Committee of the Group.
He is responsible for overall supervision of the Group's
operation. He joined the Group in 1980 and has over 20
years' experience in factory production. He is also a director
of Pearl Court Company Limited, a corporate substantial
shareholder of the Company, and the brother of Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai and the brother-in-law of Ms. Ho Po Chu.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. SO Wai Chun, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
July 2001. Mr. So has been carrying on business in Hong
Kong and the People’s Republic of China for over 20 years.
He is the major shareholder and director of a company in
Hong Kong. His businesses are mainly in financial services
and international trading. In 2000, Mr. So was appointed
as the China Representative of Forestry New Zealand
Limited, a subsidiary of Evergreen Forestry Limited which
is a listed company in New Zealand.

Mr. CHAN Sui Sum, Raymond, aged 68, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company
in February 1998. He graduated from Oklahoma Baptish
University in the United States with a bachelor degree in
Arts in 1964. Mr. Chan has over 30 years’ experience in
the construction industry. He is also a director of Chaplin
Chemicals Limited and Shelton Food Industry Limited.

Mr. FONG Hoi Shing, aged 44, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company in
December 2004. He has extensive experience in accounting,
finance and management. He holds a degree in master of
professional accounting, a postgraduate diploma in
corporate administration and a higher diploma in
accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
He is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and an Associate of The
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators.

MANAGEMENT

Ms. HO Po Chu, aged 59, is the Director of Administration
of the Group. Ms. Ho is one of the founding members of
the Group in 1980 and has over 20 years’ experience in
office administration and purchasing. She is responsible
for supervising personnel and overall administration of the
Group. She is also a director of Pearl Court Company
Limited, a corporate substantial shareholder of the
Company, and the wife of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and sister-in-
law of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming.
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Ms. CHAN Ming Mui, Silvia, aged 36, is the Assistant
Administration Director of the Group and responsible for
overall operation of human resources, administration and
EDP department of the Group. Ms. Chan is one of the
members of Executive Committee and Internal Audit
Committee of the Group. Ms. Chan graduated from The
City University of Hong Kong majoring in Public
Administration and Management. She joined the Group in
1996 and has over 10 years' experience in administration
and management

Mr. WONG Siu Ching, aged 50, is the Marketing Director
(Division 1) of the Group, responsible for project
development and marketing for the Group. Prior to joining
the Group in 1988, Mr. Wong had over 10 years’
experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. CHAN Raymond, aged 41, is the Senior Marketing
Director of the Group, responsible for marketing
development work. He joined the Group in 1985 and has
over 15 years’ experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. CHAN Wah Ying, aged 43, is the Assistant General
Manager — Operation and Quality of the Group. Mr. Chan
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known
as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) with a higher
certificate in Manufacturing Engineering. Prior to joining
the Group in 1992, Mr. Chan had over 13 years’ experience
in quality management in an electronic manufacturing
company.

Ms. YIU Yuet Fung, aged 43, is the Assistant General
Manager at the Group’s factories in China, responsible for
the overall personnel and administration management. She
joined the Group in 1984 and has over 20 years’ experience
in managing the production process of manufacturing
industries.
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Senior Management Profile

Mr. WONG Fok Tsun, Albert, aged 56, is the Internal
Audit Manager of the Group, responsible for setting up
internal audit function and reporting directly to the Board
and Internal Audit Committee. Mr. Wong graduated from
Curtin University of Technology, WA with a bachelor degree
in Management and Marketing. He also holds a master
degree of Accounting from the same University. He is a
fellow member of The Association of International
Accountants, UK and is an associate member of CPA
Australia. He is also a member of The Institute of Internal
Auditors Inc. U.S.A. Mr. Wong has over 10 years’
experience in internal auditing and 12 years’ experience in
financial accounting. He joined the Group in March 2003.

Mr. HA Hon Leung, aged 48, is the Technical Director of
the Engineering and R&D Department, responsible for
engineering capabilities and technology development for
electronic system products. Mr. Ha holds a bachelor degree
from The University of Windsor, Canada, and a master
degree from The University of Waterloo, Canada, both in
Electrical Engineering. He also holds a master degree in
business administration from Heriot-Watt University, UK.
Mr. Ha has over 20 years’ experience in engineering and
technical management in the electronics industry.
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The Board has the pleasure of presenting the report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group
for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture
and sale of computer casings, office automation products,
moulds, plastic and metal parts (together referred to as
“Metal and Plastic Business”) and provision of electronic
manufacturing services business (“EMS Business”).

The Group’s turnover by principal product category and
geographical locations for the Year are set out in Note 5
to the financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of this year (2006/07: HK3 cents).
Together with the interim dividend of HKO.75 cents per
share already paid, total dividend for this year will amount
to HKO.75 cents (2006/07: HK11.5 cents) per share.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Details of the Group’s results for the Year are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 110 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
of the Group and of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 13 to the financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out in Note 15 to the Financial
Statements.

As at 31 March 2008, the Company’s reserves of
approximately HK$231,957,000 representing the
contributed surplus and retained profit were available for
distribution to the Company’s shareholders.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the Year amounted to HK$124,700.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during
the year. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
has purchased or sold any of the Company's shares during
the Year.

SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES

The New Scheme

The New Scheme was adopted on 21 May 2002 to comply
with the new requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules effected on 1 September 2001. Details of the New
Scheme are summarised herein below:

(i) The purpose of the New Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible participants
thereunder for their contribution to the Group and/
or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high
calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group and any Invested Entity
(as defined in the New Scheme);

(i)  The participants of the New Scheme include any
employee, director (including executive and non-
executive director of the Group), shareholder,
supplier, customer, consultant, adviser, other service
provider, partner and business or strategic alliance
partner of the Group or any Invested Entity (as
defined in the New Scheme) or any discretionary
trust whose discretionary objects may be any of the
above persons;
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Cont'd)
The New Scheme (Cont’d)

(iii)

v)

(vi)

The total number of shares that may be issued by
the Company if all options granted under the New
Scheme have been exercised is 27,142,057, which
represents 4.70% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company at the date of this report;

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the New Scheme is
not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company at the date of adoption of the New
Scheme and thereafter, if refreshed, shall not exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshed limit by the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the New
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the shares in
issue from time to time;

Unless approved by shareholders in general meeting,
no participants shall be granted any option if the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted
to such participant in any 12-month period up to
the date of the latest grant would exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time. Options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director in excess
of 0.1% of the Company’s share capital in issue for
the time being and with a value in excess of
HK$5,000,000 must be approved in advance by the
Company’s shareholders;

An option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the New Scheme at any time during a
period to be notified by the Board to each grantee.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board at its
sole discretion, there is no requirement of a
minimum period for which an option must be held
or a performance target which must be achieved
before an option can be exercised,
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Cont'd)
The New Scheme (Cont’d)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

A non refundable remittance of HK$10 by way of
consideration for the grant of an option is required
to be paid by each grantee upon acceptance of the
option;

The subscription price payable upon exercising any
particular option granted under the New Scheme is
determined based on a formula: P = N x Ep, where
“P" is the subscription price; “N"” is the number of
shares to be subscribed; and “Ep” is the exercise
price of the highest of (a) the nominal value of a
share in the Company on the date of grant; (b) the
closing price of shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange, as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant; and (c) the
average of the closing prices of shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange on the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant and
as adjusted pursuant to the clauses of the New
Scheme; and

The life of the New Scheme is until the tenth
anniversary of the adoption date of the New Scheme.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Cont’d) BRESTE (&)
The New Scheme (Cont’d) sta (&)

(x)  Details of share option movements during the Year (x)  WREBEFMABRAFEE 2 EREZEF
under the New Scheme are as follows: BT -

Number of Share Options (Note)

BREHE (W)
Closing
Price Price at Lapsed/
Exercise before exercise  Outstanding  Granted Exercised  cancelled Outstanding
Date of Price Exercise  date of date of at31March  during during during  at 31 March
Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2007 the Year  the Year the Year 2008
RERE RERE -2t “ERNE
T%E R BT %8 ZB=1-B RAEE REAEE REEE ZA=t-H
i RHB® (W) TEE 2B <BR  HEATE ERF T X%/BE  HEOE
(HKS) (HKS) (HK$) ('000)  ('000) (000) (000) (000)
(B7) (B7) (B7) (f) (f) (f) (f) (f)
(i) Directors/Chief Executives
EZLEBTRAR
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming 07/02/2005 316 01/01/2007- 3.325 - 280 16.38 N - 296.38
GEEP: 06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2008- 3325 - 560 32.76 - - 592.76
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 560 32.76 - - 592.76
06/02/2015
Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis 0171172002 156 01/01/2003- 1.65 - 50 2.925 - - 52.925
DKERE 311002012
01/11/2002 1.56 01/01/2004- 1.65 - 750 43875 - - 793.875
31710/2012
27/04/2004 179 01/01/2005- 1.86 - 160 9.36 N - 169.36
26/04/2014
27/04/2004 179 01/01/2006- 1.86 - 320 18.72 - - 338.72
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2007- 1.86 - 320 18.72 - - 338.72
26/04/2014
07/02/2005 3.16 01/01/2007- 3.325 - 200 1.7 N - 2117
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 3.16 01/01/2008- 3.325 - 400 23.4 - - 423.4
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 400 234 - - 4234

06/02/2015
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BRESS (@)
wMEtd (42)

(x)  (Cont’d) x) (&)
Number of Share Options (Note)
RBARA (K2)
Closing
Price Price at Lapsed/
Exercise before exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised  cancelled Outstanding
Date of Price Exercise  date of date of at31March  during during during  at 31 March
Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2007 the Year the Year  the Year 2008
RERE RERE -2%tf It 29183
ke BB %A ZA=t-B RAEE RAEE RAEE ZAZt-A
3 Bmes (WD TEg ZER ZEBR  HEAGE ERT T %%/BE  HEGR
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) ('000)  ('000) (000) (000) (000)
(#7) (#7)  (8%) @ @ @@ ()
Mr. Lee Shu Ki 0171172002 1.56  01/01/2003- 1.65 - 200 1.7 - - 2117
FHHLE 3111012012
01/11/2002 1.56 01/01/2004- 1.65 - 300 17.55 - - 317.55
3111012012
27/04/2004 179 01/01/2005- 1.86 - 80 4.68 - - 84.68
26/04/2014
27/04/2004 1.79  01/01/2006- 1.86 - 160 9.36 - - 169.36
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2007- 1.86 - 160 9.36 - - 169.36
26/04/2014
07/02/2005 3.16 01/01/2007- 3.325 - 200 1.7 - - 2117
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 3.16  01/01/2008- 3.325 - 400 234 - - 4234
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 400 234 - - 4234

06/02/2015
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Cont'd) BRESTE (&)
The New Scheme (Cont'd) wEtE (&)
(x)  (Cont'd) x) (&)
Number of Share Options (Note)
BBRNA (1)
Closing
Price Price at Lapsed/
Exercise before exercise Outstanding Granted Exercised  cancelled Outstanding
Date of Price Exercise  date of date of at31March  during during during  at 31 March
Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2007 the Year the Year  the Year 2008
RERE RERE -2%tf It 2 %
ke BB %A ZA=t-B RAEE RAEE RAEE ZAZt-A
3 Bmes (WD TEg ZER ZEBR  HEAGE ERT T8 XN/BE HAGE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) ('000)  ('000) (000) (000) (000)
(B7) (Br) (1) (F) (F) (f) (F) (F)
Mr. Wong Shun Pang 017112002 1.56 01/01/2004- 1.65 - 150 - - (150) -
EREELE 3111012012
01/12/2003 234 01/01/2006- 2425 - 200 - - (200) -
3011172013
01/12/2003 2.34 01/01/2007- 2425 - 200 - - (200) -
30/11/2013
27/04/2004 1.79  01/01/2005- 1.86 - 160 - - (160) -
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2006- 1.86 - 120 - - (120) -
26/04/2014
27104/2004 179 01/01/2007- 1.86 - 120 - - (120) -
26/04/2014
07/02/2005 3.16  01/01/2007- 3.325 - 200 - - (200) -
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2008- 3325 - 400 - - (400) -
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 3.16 01/01/2009- 3.325 - 400 - - (400) -
06/02/2015
Ms. Ho Po Chu 07/02/2005 3.16  01/07/2005- 3325 - 800 468 - - 846.8
fE%L 06/02/2015
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BRESS (@)
wMEtd (42)

x (&)

Number of Share Options (Note)

BEERA (H)
Closing
Price Price at Lapsed/
Exercise before exercise Outstanding  Granted Exercised  cancelled Outstanding
Date of Price Exercise  date of date of at31March  during during during  at 31 March
Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2007 the Year  the Year the Year 2008
RERE RERE -33t% “BENF
T%E BB %A ZA=t-B RAEE RAEE RAEE ZAZ1-8
4 RHBH (W) TRE  2ER ZBR  HATE ERT 7 X%/BE  HEAE
(HKS) (HK$) (HKS) (000) (000) (000) (000) (000)
(B7) (Br) (1) (F) (F) (f) (F) (F)
(ii) - Other Eligible Participants
Hita ER2 8%
Employees 22/05/2002 123 22/05/2002- 1.30 - 100 5.85 - - 105.85
E& 2110512012
01/11/2002 1.56  01/01/2003- 1.65 - 320 18.72 - - 338.72
3171072012
01/11/2002 1.56  01/01/2004- 1.65 - 1,250 55.575 - (300) 1,005,575
31/10/2012
01/12/2003 234 01/01/2006- 2.425 - 3352 191412 - (80)  3,463.412
30/11/2013
011212003 2.34 01/01/2007- 2425 - 3964 2271.214 - (80) 4111.214
301172013
2710412004 179 01/01/2005- 1.86 - 776 39.546 - (100) 715.546
26/04/2014
2710412004 179  01/01/2006- 1.86 - 320 7.02 - (200) 127.02
26/04/2014
27104/2004 179 01/01/2007- 1.86 - 200 - - (200) -
26/04/2014
01/02/2005 298  01/01/2006- 315 - 924 54.054 - (8.468) 969.586
3110172015
01/02/2005 298  01/01/2007- 315 - 1,848 108.108 - (16.936)  1,939.172
31/01/2015
01/02/2005 2.98  01/01/2008- 3.15 - 1,848 108.108 - (16.936) 1,939.172
31/01/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/07/2005- 3325 - 1,800 105.3 - - 1,905.3
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2007- 3325 - 880 39.78 - (200) 719.78
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 3.16 01/01/2008- 3.325 - 1,760 79.56 - (400) 1,439.56
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 1,760 79.56 - (400) 1,439.56
06/02/2015

Note: The exercise price and the total number of shares falling to
be issued upon exercise of the options have been adjusted
after completion of the right issue of the Company on 28

November 2007.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Contd) BRESTE (&)
The New Scheme (Cont'd) et &l ()
(xi)  Details of share option movements during the period xi) WREFMFAIAR_ZZN\FHA—ARZE
between 1 April 2008 to 15 June 2008 under the NATHBIEZBREZEFEW
New Scheme are as follows: N
Number of Share Options (Note)
BREHE (W)
Lapsed/
Granted  Exercised  cancelled
during the  during the  during the
Closing period from period from  period from
Price Price at 1 April 1 April 1 April
Exercise before exercise  Outstanding  2008to 2008 to 2008to  Outstanding
Date of Price Exercise  date of dateof  at31March  15June 15 June 15 June at 15 June
Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
i R i
ZEEN\E ZEENE CFENE
RERE REKE -58)\f BA-AEZ MA-HE WMAE-HE C-BENE
(il RHBA fifA =A=t-B ~AtEB AATER AATEA  A~RTER
#e BB (&) s zER ZBR WATE  EET i X%/BH AT
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) (‘000) (000) ('000) (000) (‘000)
(Br) (B7) (Br) () (F) () () ()
(i) Directors/Chief Executives
EZRERINAS
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming 07/02/2005 316 01/01/2007- 3325 - 296.38 - - - 296.38
LU 06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2008- 3325 - 592.76 - - - 592.76
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 592.76 - - - 592.76
06/02/2015
Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis 01/11/2002 156 01/01/2003- 1.65 - 52925 - - - 52925
ERES L 311102012
01/1172002 156 01/01/2004- 1.65 - 793.875 - - - 793.875
31/10/2012
2710412004 179 01/01/2005- 1.86 - 169.36 - - - 169.36
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2006- 1.86 - 33872 - - - 338.72
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2007- 1.86 - 33872 - - - 33872
26/04/2014
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2007- 3325 - 2117 - - - 2117
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2008- 3325 - 4234 - - - 4234
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 4234 - - - 4234

06/02/2015
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Contd) fBIREST & (#)
The New Scheme (Cont'd) et &l (&)
(xi)  (Cont’d) xi) (#&)
Number of Share Options (Note)
BREHE (W)
Lapsed/
Granted  Exercised  cancelled
during the during the  during the
Closing period from period from period from
Price Price at 1 April 1 April 1 April
Exercise before exercise  Outstanding  2008to 2008 to 2008to  Outstanding
Date of Price Exercise  date of date of  at31March  15June 15 June 15 June at 15 June
Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
R R R
ZEEN\E ZEENE CFENE
RERE REKE -5)\f BA-AEZ MA-HE MAE-HE “2E0\F
il RHBA fi R =A=t-B ~AtEB AATER AATEA  A~ATER
#e REAH (W) s 2ER P HATE  EET T &M/BH B AR AT
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) ('000) (‘000) ('000) (000) ('000)
(Br) (B7) (Br) () (F) (F) () ()
Mr. Lee Shu Ki 01/11/2002 156 01/01/2003- 1.65 - 2117 - - - 2117
FHERE 3171012012
01/1172002 156 01/01/2004- 1.65 - 31755 - - - 31755
31/10/2012
2710412004 179 01/01/2005- 1.86 - 84.68 - - - 84.68
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2006- 1.86 - 169.36 - - - 169.36
26/04/2014
2710412004 179 01/01/2007- 1.86 - 169.36 - - - 169.36
26/04/2014
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2007- 3325 - 2117 - - - 2117
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2008- 3325 - 4234 - - - 4234
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 4234 - - - 4234
06/02/2015
Ms. Ho Po Chu 07/02/2005 316 01/07/2005- 3325 - 846.8 - - - 846.8
g%t 06/0212015
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Cont'd) BRESTE (&)
The New Scheme (Cont’d) sta (&)
(xi)  (Cont'd) (xiy (#&)

Number of Share Options (Note)
BREZA (W)

Lapsed/
Granted  Exercised  cancelled
during the  during the  during the

Closing period from period from period from
Price Price at 1 April 1 April 1 April

Exercise before exercise ~ Outstanding  2008to 2008 to 2008to  Outstanding

Date of Price Exercise  date of dateof  at31March  15June 15 June 15 June at 15 June

Name Grant (Note) Period grant options 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
i R i

RENE CBRNE CRENE
RERE RERE -%3)\f MA-AZ MA-HE MA-BE Z2E)\%

TEE RHBA fi#8 =ZA=t-B ABtEE XAtER AA+tER  AKAtER
#e REAH (&) R zER ZE# HEAE  EET E &%/BH HRTE
(HKS) (HKS) (HKS) (‘000) (000) (000) (000) (‘000)
(B (B1) (Bx) 3 () () () ()
(i) Other Eligible Participants
ApARsEE
Employees 22/05/2002 123 22/05/2002- 1.30 - 105.85 - - - 105.85
[E& 21/05/2012
01/1172002 156 01/01/2003- 1.65 - 338.72 - - - 338.72
31/10/2012
01/11/2002 156 01/01/2004- 1.65 - 1,005.575 - - - 1,005.575
3171012012
01/12/2003 234 01/01/2006- 2425 - 3,463.412 - - - 3,463.412
30/11/2013
01/12/2003 2.34 01/01/2007- 2425 - 4,111.214 - - (84.68) 4,026.534
301172013
2710412004 179 01/01/2005- 1.86 - 715.546 - - - 715.546
26/04/2014
27/04/2004 179 01/01/2006- 1.86 - 127.02 - - - 121.02
26/04/2014
01/02/2005 298 01/01/2006- 315 - 969.586 - - (16.936) 952.65
31/01/2015
01/02/2005 2.98  01/01/2007- 315 - 1,939.172 - - (33.872) 1,905.3
310172015
01/02/2005 298 01/01/2008- 315 - 1,939.172 - - (33.872) 1,905.3
31/01/2015
07/02/2005 3.6 01/07/2005- 3.325 - 1,905.3 - - - 1,905.3
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2007- 3.325 - 719.78 - - - 719.78
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 3.16 01/01/2008- 3.325 - 1,439.56 - - - 1,439.56
06/02/2015
07/02/2005 316 01/01/2009- 3325 - 1,439.56 - - - 1,439.56
06/02/2015
Note: The exercise price and the total number of shares falling to st : RZZFEZEF+— AT N\BEAHRKRE -
be issued upon exercise of the options have been adjusted TEERECITEERSMEE TURE -

after completion of the right issue of the Company on 28
November 2007.
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SHARE OPTIONS SCHEMES (Cont'd)
The New Scheme (Cont’d)

A professional actuarial firm has been invited in the year
of 2005/06 to perform a valuation of the share options
granted under the share option schemes.

According to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard
2 ("HKFRS2"), the cost of share-based transactions should
be recognised as an expense over the period from the
date of grant until they are exercisable by the receiver of
such payment. The expense required to be reported for
share options granted on or before 31 March 2008 would
be estimated as follows:

BRESS (@)
wMEtd (42)

—HEEHERAR_ZZER " ERFE
BHFEARRZBREEEMER -

BEEEVEREERNE R ([EFBYH
ER2]) BREARDBENAFEAR
EEMESEAEY  BHETHRERIE
FH{k BER-_ZZTNA=A=+—8H
FUARTEHOEBREMEENBREKR S H
EEHIT

Financial Year

BB B
2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09 Total

a3t

P&L expenses (HK$'000) 768 4,718 7,311 3,328 1,079 337 17,541

Bz h (FTE7T)

There are several relevant measures that may be considered
to assess the financial impact of the share option schemes,
including the expense of share-based transactions under
generally accepted financial reporting standards (e.qg.,
HKFRS2). The expense of the share-based transactions is
attributed over the period from the original transaction
date (i.e., grant date) to the date when the recipient’s
entitlement to the payment has been fully realized (i.e.,
vested).

In assessing the value of the share options granted during
the Year and the expense of share-based transactions under
HKFRS2 requirement, the Binomial option pricing model
(the “Binomial model”) has been used. The Binomial Model
is one of the generally most accepted methods used to
calculate the value of options and expense of share-based
transactions.

The parameters of the Binomial Model include the risk
free rate, dividend yield, exit rate and trigger price multiple.
The risk free rate has made reference to the yield Exchange
Fund Notes as at the grant date. The dividend yield makes
reference to the dividend history and it is assumed that
the grantee will exercise the option in accordance with
their sub-optimal exercise policy.

BEBBREFETAIAE EREFEE
BRETEEMBREANEE  BENEE
RANM B HRETE (WEBMBLER2) T
MMM SNEBH - 2R UK
DX RZHNEE LR EEER
A B ARPREER) #HH -

BB MBERRTE NEAFE UMD
MXZHHEE B ER - BARRETEE
B (TZEARA) G - [ZHEAER]
DA EBREEEMOIXNORZINE
AXHRREBERZTIEZ— -

“HEARAZ 2 HEREERE 2 BB A
R RBEHE - RERITEBREMER
KBERZ - EERNETI2REBINE
EeREBRZEHRE - REERERIRBREAE
ABELELBEREEESRBRETE
PSR AT R A



PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

TEN-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last ten financial years is set out on
page 191 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

SUBSIDIARIES
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out
in Note 8 to the financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

Particulars of bank loans and overdrafts of the Group as
at 31 March 2008 are set out in Notes 17 to the financial
statements.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis (re-designated as Deputy
Chairman & Chief Operational Officer on 1 January 2008)

Mr. Lee Shu Ki

Mr. Wong Shun Pang (resigned on 1 December 2007)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming (re-designated as non-executive
Director on 1 June 2007)
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NAARRERERHBEARNRB AR
RERREBTHRZELEGR  MER
E R B R JR IR B A BB T2 R e
TFEHBHRE

AEEBETEYREFREZXZEREER
BEREHNAFEREI191H -

EEAEN

AELR - NABBE R X EM
BEAXBZEBRTHRIEITLEME
wWoMEFEBEHREAN -

B B 2 7]

ARBEMBAR 2 FE - IRFBHREK
MIEES -

RITEREES
AEER-TTNFZA=+—B2ZR7T
BHREE L BTN BRRM LT -
EEg

REERNRBERFHRABILE  TEZE
==/ N

BITES

B (E/ERITHABE)

BXBEE (R-_FENF-—A—HEE
HEREILEFREERE)

FRIB KL

=B EE (—FFELFF A —HEET)

FBTES

MERLEE (R -_FELFNA—HEE
HERIFHTTEE)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Cont'd)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. So Wai Chun
Mr. Chan Sui Sum, Raymond
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for specific terms and hold office until 30 June 2009, 4
February 2009 and 6 December 2008, respectively, subject
to extension.

In accordance with Bye-law 87 and A.4.2. of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices, Messrs. Kwok Wing Kin,
Francis, Chan Sui Sum, Raymond and Fong Hoi Shing will
retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM. All
such Directors, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which any of the Group
companies was a party and in which a Director was
materially interested, either directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Upon the expiry of the previous lease agreement on 17
November 2007, a new lease agreement (the “Lease
Agreement”) dated 16 November 2007 was entered into
between Kings Lion Development Limited (“Kings Lion”)
as landlord and Karrie Industrial Company Limited (“Karrie
Industrial”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
as tenant for the lease of a portion (being 26,573 square
feet in gross floor area) of 9th Floor, Southeast Industrial
Building, 611-619 Castle Peak Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories together with one car parking space in the same
building at a monthly rental of HK$132,865 (that is, at
approximately HK$5 per square foot) for a term of two
years commencing on 18 November 2007.

B8 (&)
VHHITES

BEEEREE
BR 3 7% 5t A&
TR

AKARBYIFATES CEBRHYURFESF
HEF - EEHS IR ST NFAA=
+H —EZEAF_ANHEE_ZZTNEF
TZANBER - EEIRRI o

HRABIMAESTIERENRTEE AR
SFAIA4.2. » ERKBR A RIGREERTT
WA EBRAERITZERERFRE £
WERMT - TEZSESAEERTEE
[EiRE(E o

EECRBEN

ARr T EERNRRBFERNEG LEEE
EZEFTLEFMAAR —FABEARF
BEKRILEZRBEH CEEBERRI) -

E%%A%Zﬂé

RREHE M B R B R AN FEE R E R E
BLERR P AR TZ%%‘“ﬁﬁﬁ AESE
ERAHERBEEERANEZERZRD -

BEXS

ERHEHEN _ETEF+—A++1tH
Hmes  MBEERAERAR ([SW]) (B
MNBEEZFEFRERAR (IEME®R]) (K
RAIZEZEMBLAR) FHEAR-ZZEZL
F+—A+ "HRURTREES LK
611-6195 RE LEXNENLEISHEM (&
EHEEAR26,573FFR) ERZERMAZA
E THEMNITLAER::E ([HEH
1) 0 A#132,8658 L (ANEF HRE5E
TT) c BEWE  HHA-_TTEF+—A
+N\B#Et -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Kings Lion is a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the reason that Mr.
Ho Cheuk Fai, a Director of the Company, together with
his spouse, control 100% of the voting power in general
meeting and also control the board of Directors of Kings
Lion. The transaction contemplated under the Lease
Agreement (the “Transaction”) therefore constitutes a
continuing connected transaction for the Company under
Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules. Details of the Transaction
have been set out in the announcement dated 16
November 2007 issued to the shareholders of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
the Transaction and confirmed that the Transaction has
been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual
course of its business and on normal commercial terms
which are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

In accordance with paragraph 14A.38 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the Board of Directors engaged
the auditors of the Company to perform certain factual
finding procedures on the above continuing connected
transaction on a sample basis in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard or Related Services 4400 “Engagements to
Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures Regarding Financial
Information” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditors have reported their factual
findings on the selected samples based on the agreed
procedures to the Board of Directors.

BEXS (&)

RIBCETARADEV4AE - GMAEERFZ
BEAL AARAE=MIEEELEER
HEFEHISDM2BERANE100%RFE# N
HEFg %A EHERZERS ([X5])
FERBE(ETRADE T OAESE =+ OKE
RARRZBEBER S - ERARXZHE
ETEEARARAR_ZETLF+ AKX
BRRRELZAMA -

BYFATEFCEMA LA S - WHER
WERXRZDHERAEE 2 BMEHHET
WEAFEEBNEMZERERL - &
KRB ZBRER -

REZEEHERXSGMERAAES LR
AIZE14A 381K  EFECRIBARRIZRHE
AiZREEAAMAS R LT EHER
BERH|4400 [ BL B B E BHATT IR T2 F AV ES
RiBE] - WD AY ERFEEERS
WITETEESHERF - REWMEKES
FrENGEAREBHERFETNEES
RAEFERS o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE' S
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2008

The interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company in the shares and the
underlying shares of the Company and any associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (a) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO;
or (b) as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code"”) were
as follows:

(A) Interests in the Company

EENEETHRAEBZROES

R-ZEEBNF=ZA=+—-H

ARBIZEENERSTHRABEARART R
EREBEE (BE A(EHFRPEKLD
(T<FEFH1EHFIY 1) BXVER) B9 {5 M ABRE R (5
PHANEZNAR  MZSEZRAR
(QIRIE(E A EH) EI2HEBTBIEZ R
fATaeeRE - k(o)KIBFC LM AR ES#ET
FBER SRS ([GEAESFRA]) @A
RRARREEBELZHAERAR ([
Frl) - Ak -

() REQXFzEH

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

BREEBTZERRYR
Corporate/ % of issued
Personal Family Other Total share
interests interests interests interests capital
EEREER
ARz ZEEE HttEz A5 Es BFREIH
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai A S 18 5 A 10,886,000 298,684,800 243,804,000 309,570,800 53.63
(Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2)
(P 3E—) (Pt 2 —) (frsE=)
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming AEREE 13,585,900 - 243,804,000 257,389,900 44.59
(Note 3) (Note 2)
(ft3E=) (frzE=)
Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Pk BB A 3,732,100 - - 3,732,100 0.65
Francis (Note 4)
(Pft 7 79)
Mr. Lee Shu Ki FRELE 3,411,150 - - 3,411,150 0.59
(Note 5)
(PzER)
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing 78 k& 2,000 - - 2,000 0.00
Ms. Ho Po Chu MBHRL T 54,880,800 254,690,000 243,804,000 309,570,800 53.63
(Note 6) (Note 6) (Note 2)
UERY (Pt & 77) (frsE=)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE' S
INTERESTS IN SHARES (Cont'd)

(A) Interests in the Company (Cont’d)

Notes:

1.

The personal interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai comprise
10,886,000 ordinary shares. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is
deemed to be interested in (a) 54,880,800 shares held
by his spouse, Ms. Ho Po Chu, as beneficial owner
and (b) 243,804,000 shares in which his children
under 18 are interested. Such 243,804,000 shares in
which his children under 18 are interested are
duplicated with his interests as a founder of the Ho
Cheuk Fai Family Trust (the “HCF Trust”) in the same
block of shares referred to in Note 2 below.

243,804,000 shares are held by Pearl Court Company
Limited (“Pearl Court”) as trustee for a unit trust, the
HCF Trust. Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai is deemed to be
interested in these 243,804,000 shares as founder of
the HCF Trust. Ms. Ho Po Chu is interested in these
243,804,000 shares by virtue of the fact that (a) she
controls or exercises the control of one-third or more
of the voting power at general meetings of Pearl
Court; (b) she holds one unit in the HCF Trust; and
(c) she is one of the discretionary objects of a
discretionary trust known as Ho Wai Leung Memorial
Trust (the "HWL Trust”), the trust property of which
comprises 9,999 units in the HCF Trust and in which
Ms. Ho Po Chu, Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming and Mr. Ho
Cheuk Fai’s children under 18 are the discretionary
objects. These 9,999 units of the HCF Trust are held
by HSBC International Trustee Limited ("HITL") as
trustee for the HWL Trust. Therefore, the interests of
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, Ms. Ho Po Chu, their children
under 18 and Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming in the 243,804,000
shares are duplicated with each other.

The personal interests of Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming comprise
12,104,000 ordinary shares and 1,481,900
outstanding share options.

The personal interests of Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis
comprise 980,000 ordinary shares and 2,752,100
outstanding share options.

The personal interests of Mr. Lee Shu Ki comprise
1,400,000 ordinary shares and 2,011,150 outstanding
share options.

The personal interests of Ms. Ho Po Chu comprise
54,034,000 ordinary shares and 846,800 outstanding
share options. Ms. Ho Po Chu is also deemed to be
interested in (a) 10,886,000 shares held by her spouse,
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, as beneficial owner and (b)
243,804,000 shares in which her children under 18
are interested. Such 243,804,000 shares in which her
children under 18 are interested are duplicated with
her interests in the same block of shares referred to
in Note 2 above.

EERER

B L

BITBRAEZRMOER (@)

() RADAzE= (&)

fl 12 # % &£ 2 @ A # F &
10,886,000% 7~ 2 &) & 18 A% A% 10 48
X e mﬁﬁﬁﬁi%&ﬁﬁ#ﬁﬁ(aﬁﬁa
BRNEKZITIEAERBEEARSE
Z.54,880,800F% A% 17+ K (b)EH K im

18755 49 22 45 243,804, 0005 & 7

i » %%243,804,0000% 215
o W A MBS A E A Ho
Cheuk Fai Family Trust ([HCF Trust])
BB S A (R0P 5E = pralt) R H R 0%
18 FLZEEEZRE —#am o

243,804,0008% fix 7 B3 Pearl Court
Company Limited ([ Pearl Court]) LA
HCF Trustz B/ 5 5E 2 X 7E AHF
B o (A IB 5L VEBHCF Trustz iX
SN AR RFEE %% 243,804,000
PR D 2t - MEHRLZ T HIR A
ﬁﬁﬁ_ % % 243,804,0000% f% 19 2 #&
' I?%(a)#lt?i"Pearl Courtlf R K&
%H&fﬂi? Bl =92 —sk M %
ZHE 5 (b)i3F B HCF Trustiy — @ &
iz« (O ER — 8% R/Ho Wai
Leung Memorial Trust ([HWL Trust])
E’\J’\%%%%E’\]@"J’lﬁ EREE A
=55 A HCF Trust2 9,999 8 7 - H
E’J\E AHSHMNELLZ L - A2
Eﬂﬁ‘ﬁi&ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁiﬁi%wﬁﬁ@?
ZHRK © 2% 9,999 HCF Trustz &
fiZ B HSBC International Trustee
Limited ([HITL]) fE AHWL Trust&) &
EAFA o Wt - %55 243,804,000
Hﬁ%f’ﬁZ%E& LR AR B AR B
CAER L REBEERMI8HK
E’]fﬁz&ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ‘ﬁEZF‘aﬁi%‘iZﬁ
E/\ o

fl 2L A B AEZTH
12,104,000 2" R~ &) 8 A% 1D &
1 481 900r‘ﬁ<m§2@%ﬁ§%2ﬂm

205K B 55 A 2 {8 A 7 55 F3 980,000/%
AR A E AR % 2,752,100 K
T 2 B4R K o

& 2 (8 AREZR A 1,400,000
A& A A R B R 1D 2,011 150r‘1
RITFEZE % SR 4R K

mMEBE K Xz @ AEDR
54, 034 000f% AR~ &) & 18 I% I
846 800r‘ﬁif ﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬂié%ﬁﬁ)‘z
WY+ IR ARG ()R &
BAEEAREREEARTAZ
10,886,000f% % 15 : K (b)EH AKim18
% B &k 5 243,804,0000% X 19 2
il 2%243,804,0000% & 17 2 1E
& WEAMBELRAL L (WMHWEZAT
i) RERRISHEMN FLzBESR
B—#E= o

o S5
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE' S

INTERESTS IN SHARES (Cont'd)

(B) Interests and short positions in associated

corporations

(i) Karrie Industrial Company Limited (“KICL")
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(i)

EERESTBRAEZROER (@)

(Z2) REBLE2EEZRAA

BMERBRAA([ZMER])

Number of non-voting deferred shares of HK$100 each

BREE100ETZERFERELZRAHE

Corporate/ % of issued % of issued
Personal Family Other Total share Short share
interests  interests  interests interests capital  Positions capital
EEER
BAEZ ZIEEZE HUEZ /HER FREIN RE FREI K
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 43,000 43,000 43,000 43,000 85.98% 43,000 85.98%
ERgEsE (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note2)  (Note 1)  (Note 2)
(=) (fEE—) (Mez)  (MsE—)  (fED)
Ms. Ho Po Chu 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 13.99% 7,000 13.99%
BT L (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 1) (Note 2)
(BsE—)  (HaE—) (faE=)  (WsaE—) (o)
(i) Karpo Technologies Limited (“KTL") (il ZEREBERAG([ZEF#E])

Number of non-voting deferred shares of HK$100 each

BREE0ETZERZREERAHE

Corporate/ % of issued % of issued
Personal Family Other Total share Short share
interests  interests  interests interests capital  Positions capital
EERES
BAREZ XEEE HtEzZ S8R SREIN e BRES K
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 99.90% 10,000 99.90%
]l 48 5 & (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 3) (Note 1) (Note 3)
(BsE—)  (HaE—) (=) (WaE—)  (E=)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’ S EEREETBRAEBZROER (&)
INTERESTS IN SHARES (Cont'd)
(B) Interests and short positions in associated (Z) REBEEZEZRAR (&)
corporations (Cont’d)
(i) Karrie Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known (i) FEFREZERE R A (BT #Karrie
as Karrie Industrial Holdings Limited) (“KIHL") Industrial Holdings Limited) (|55 F1/#&
&/)

Number of non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each

BREBIETZERFERELZRAHE

Corporate/ % of issued % of issued
Personal Family Other Total share Short share
interests  interests  interests  interests capital  Positions capital
BAEE ZEBEz Htt#Ez AHEZ FREIM KE BREAR
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai 1 1 1 1 8.33% 1 8.33%
g @ L4 (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 4)  (Note 1)  (Note 4)
(fsx—)  (B&E-) (FsEm)  (BsE—)  (FEm)
Ms. Ho Po Chu 1 1 1 1 8.33% 1 8.33%
BT L (Note 1) (Note 1) (Note 4) (Note 1) (Note 4)
(BE-) (i) BEm)  E-) (R
Notes: B 3E
1. Karrie International (B.V.1.) Limited (“KIBVI"), a direct — * Karrie International (B.V.l.) Limited
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been ([KIBVI]) » RRalz B2 AN B
granted options to acquire from Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai DA BERTREBEARBMIEE
and Ms. Ho Po Chu their non-voting deferred shares EEMABERL IR ENER 5
in each of KICL, KTL and KIHL. Accordingly, KIBVI is EREEEAREMBAENERSE
taken to be interested in these non-voting deferred PR FERR 47 o m 7 A] f 5 5 A A (A
shares in respect of which Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. ERAZTELLMAETREREDS
Ho Po Chu have each created short positions. In BEAABEZKR  KIBVEEEAZ
addition, by virtue of (i) their interests in the Company; SRz RS o BE R L ()
and (ii) the interests of their children under 18 in the [RARB Z#Ez=] P - A RE
Company, as referred to in Notes 1, 2 and 6 under 18 AT HFREEBARRA 2
the section headed “(A) Interests in the Company” o fEBEEENMAER LT SE
above, Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai and Ms. Ho Po Chu are AR A 55 B KIBVIFR 3% & B ) 2 48
each deemed to be interested in the long positions oo AEmIREEARELRD
that KIBVI has in these non-voting deferred shares. M@ IEEER -
Such interests are duplicated with their personal
interests in these non-voting deferred shares.
2. The entire issued share capital of KICL comprises Z - ENEMSEFETRMEBES50,000kF
50,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$100 each A& TE{E 10078 7T 2 B 45% EHEIR IE AR 1D
and 10 ordinary shares of HK$100 each. 10AX F AR E 10078 T 2 & @ AR A%
DA -
3. The entire issued share capital of KTL comprises = REREEETERMMAE10,000F
10,000 non-voting deferred shares of HK$100 each HQEEWO}%T_EZE&?%%}ELEHQQ
and 10 ordinary shares of HK$100 each. 100% & M EE 10078 JT 2 & 8
BHRK e
4. The entire issued share capital of KIHL comprises 2 M BAEREDETROB2EEREE

non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each and 10 1 IR !
ordinary shares of HK$1 each. BREENSIT 2 EBRRMGEK
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE' S
INTERESTS IN SHARES (Cont'd)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and any associated corporations which
were (a) recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO; or (b) otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.

As at 15 June 2008

There have been no changes in the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and any associated corporations (a) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO; or (b) as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
during the period from 1 April 2008 to 15 June 2008.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in any business
which competes with the business of the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
As at 31 March 2008 and 15 June 2008

The interests or short positions of the persons (other than
a Director or Chief Executive of the Company) in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO are as follows:

Report of the Directors B &R

FERR

R-ZBENFZA=1+—-—HAR=-FENF
NATtEA

ATALT(TBEBRESFRARAZESTH
AB) AR BB AR R B o A IR 1%
ARBRLRCEFGD) FI36IGFEZ BT
MziEmkKRR

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

EREEIIBITZERBREE

Personal Corporate/ Shareholding
Name of Shareholder interests  Other interests percentage
EEESED
IR R & R 8 Az Hf fE 25 BREDL
Pearl Court 243,804,000 - 42.23%
(Note1Ff 7 —)
HITL - 243,804,000 42.23%
(Note 1ff15E—)
Veer Palthe Voute NV - 34,554,800 5.99%
(Note 2Fff 5 =)
Dresdner Bank Aktiengesellschaft - 34,554,800 5.99%
(Note 2BT5F =)
Allianz SE - 34,554,800 5.99%
(Note 2fff 5= =)
Notes: Bt 5
1. These 243,804,000 shares are held by Pearl Court as trustee — 3% %243,804,0000% f% 15 | Pear| CourttE A

for the HCF Trust. HITL is deemed to be interested in these
243,804,000 shares held by Pearl Court by virtue of the fact
that 9,999 of 10,000 units of the HCF Trust are held by HITL
as trustee for the HWL Trust.

2. Veer Palthe Voute NV is interested in 34,554,800 shares in
the capacity of investment manager. Dresdner Bank
Aktiengesellschaft is deemed to be interested in the same
block of shares by virtue of the fact that Veer Palthe Voute
NV is a corporation controlled by it. Allianzioiui SE is also
deemed to be interested in the same block of shares by
virtue of the fact that Dresdner Bank Aktiengesellschaft is a
corporation controlled by it.

HCF TrustZ 2B A3 A © HITLHAR & B %
% f Pearl Court# & 2 243,804,0004% i% {7
2 - EAHITUEAHWL TrustZ 25 A
75 10,0001EHCF Trust® {i7 & 2 9,9991# &
fif ©

— - Veer Palthe Voute NVIE B BEIEHHE
34,554,800/ i 7 © B 7 Veer Palthe Voute
NV A Dresdner Bank Aktiengesellschaftf) 52
#2275 @ - Dresdner Bank Aktiengesellschaft
WAR R A %2 534,554,800/ B HOMERS ©
f 74 Dresdner Bank Aktiengesellschaft&
Allianz SE B9 45 )5# - Allianz SE# R =
B %25%34,554,8000 i 1 MY #E 25 o
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Report of the Directors B &R &

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Cont'd)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2008 and 15 June
2008, no person, other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company, whose interests are set out in
the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Shares” above, had an interest or short position in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company that was
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales for the year ended
31 March 2008 attributable to the Group’s major suppliers
and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 17%
Five largest suppliers combined 46%
Sales
The largest customer 30%
Five largest customers combined 85%

None of the Directors, their associates, or any shareholders
(which, to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial
interest in the Group’s major suppliers or customers noted
above.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 18 August 2008 to Friday, 22 August 2008
(both dates inclusive) during which period no transfer of
shares will be registered. All properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s Branch Registrars and
Transfer Office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, Room 1712-6, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 15 August 2008.

FERR (@)

BREXREERGESTRABRIEELK
BITBABZB D ER] PREN  R-F
ZENF=A=t—"HBRZZEZNFRAT
hHE YEBALTHEBAARRZEND KA
Bz BEIRE  MEEEDIAET
RIBCE G E33616A T HF 2B
Frac i -

IE%F&@@%

E@EIKT,\EP%&%}E’Z%E&%EE
DR

By
= A e S 17%
AR E R G 46%
$HE
BRAEF 30%
AREF £ 85%

BrEdish BRES WENBMBANNE
EPTATER AR B B5% 2 IR I &
BAEEMNLAAKEEIEHEILERPZ
T /\ o

EEREBFER

KRB _ZEENFNAT/N\H(EH
—E_EENFNA-F+-H(EHHRH)
(BREREEMX) EEHERHBFRFERLF
Bo-EEIZZRHhEEXHERAEHRAZ
HXT ’ //\B/\—7 ?}\QE/\H —I—_:EEl (EHH
f) FHAEE= Jrﬁﬁf%;LK ARNBEBZ
H&fﬁufiﬁa BABPRBLHERLE
[N mmﬁﬁﬁg¥%Fﬁéﬁmﬁi
/Nﬂ¢¢ﬂ7@1mzi6io



104

Report of the Directors EE 2

PUBLIC FLOAT PBERE

As at the date of this annual report, based on public RAFHRTNZLE - BEAQARESHA
information available to the Company and to the best RERKBARARIESHNE  AQFHA

knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained EHNRARIFRE - BIADR EmRAIE
sufficient public float, being 25% of the issued share capital EFARRBIEEITRHI25% °

of the Company as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS % B Em

The financial statements have been audited by Messrs. RNEEZRBEBESBKEGETREET
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, Bz ZZEME AR EEERIREE
offer themselves for re-appointment. [E& i E A -

On behalf of the Board EEEED

Ho Cheuk Fai FE

Chairman 1] fe2 ¥

Hong Kong, 3 July 2008 B ZEENFELH=H
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PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

BORKEST ST

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

KARRIE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages
108 to 190, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 31 March 2008, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of
financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting
and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and
to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile  (852) 2810 9888
www.pwchk.com
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Independent Auditor’s Report ¥& 3 #% 24 i 3R &

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 March 2008 and of the Group’s
profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 3 July 2008
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Balance Sheets EE&&X

As at 31 March 2008 R-ZZN\F=H=+—H

Group Company
rEE b VN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF ZBENF —ZTTLtF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FTERT TAT FTER TET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Leasehold land and HELH K
land use rights + b f5F A A 6 46,873 47,927 - =
Deposits for acquisition BETHE A
of land use rights 2E® 26,400 — - —
Property, plant and mE - BE K
equipment B 7 378,328 269,150 - -
Investment in subsidiaries KB AR Z
K& 8 - - 500,526 403,495
Interest in associated REEERAl 2
companies $’ém 9 400 - - -
Deferred tax assets RERIEEE 18 387 1,042 - —
452,388 318,119 500,526 403,495
Current assets mENEE
Inventories FE 11 264,352 374,974 - -
Trade receivables 2 5 E IR R 10 430,742 610,850 - =
Prepayments, deposits ERR ek
and other receivables Hib IR 10 151,412 35,015 200 300
Amount due from JE L5 B 22 R &)
associated companies TPE/TA 9 - 8,770 - -
Tax prepaid B BIR 4,783 - - -
Pledged bank deposits BRRITER - 6,359 - -
Cash and bank balances Re RiR{THERT 12 353,140 267,280 428 118
1,204,429 1,303,248 628 418
Total assets BEERE 1,656,817 1,621,367 501,154 403,913
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves NNl
attributable to the BHE ARG
Company’s equity IR A I 7% 1
holders
Share capital iz A 13 57,720 41,228 57,720 41,228
Other reserves HiFEE 15 212,326 107,505 399,611 294,790
Retained earnings RE & A
— Proposed final — ¥R K HA
dividend A% & - 12,369 - 12,369
— Others — HAth 405,371 395,096 38,772 43,514
675,417 556,198 496,103 391,901
Minority interest A BIR BRE 2 424 424 - -
Total equity =B E 675,841 556,622 496,103 391,901
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Balance Sheets EE& &R

As at 31 March 2008 R—ZEEN\E=HA=+—H

Group Company
rEE ¥ YN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —TTLHF CZBEENE —_TETLHF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt ¥ FER FETT TER FHETT
LIABILITIES =
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term bank REIRITEE -
borrowings, secured | 1E 1 17 188,700 90,875 - -
Deferred tax liabilities RIEMIEEE 18 8,753 7,536 - —
Provision for long RERBE
service payments A 19 9,793 6,053 807 400
207,246 104,464 807 400
Current liabilities mEEE
Taxation payable FE @& 7 18 - 2,959 1,603 134
Trade and bills payables B 5 EIRR
K EiE 16 351,379 451,605 10 82
Accruals and other BT BR M EAM
payables JE -1 1R 5k 202,365 183,086 2,631 11,396
Receipts in advance T8 U iR 3% 2,614 4,929 - =
Amount due to EXRE: R /NG]
associated companies IR 3R 9 811 — - —
Short-term bank RHESRITIEE -
borrowings, secured B 17 216,561 317,702 - =
773,730 960,281 4,244 11,612
Total liabilities BERE 980,976 1,064,745 5,051 12,012
Total equity and liabilities 1z &k B ERE 1,656,817 1,621,367 501,154 403,913
Net current assets/ REEEFE
(liabilities) (BfHE) 430,699 342,967 (3,616) (11,194)
Total assets less current BWEERTD
liabilities afE 883,087 661,086 496,910 392,301
Ho Cheuk Fai Kwok Wing Kin, Francis
1] f 18 Pk BX
Director Director
= o
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 ElZ —ZEZETN\F=HA=+—HI

2008 2007
—EENE —ETAF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 TER FET
Revenue e A 20 2,802,974 3,328,097
Cost of sales $H & AR 21 (2,623,931) (3,024,002)
Gross profit E A 179,043 304,095
Distribution and selling expenses DERIEHEE R 21 (34,948) (40,343)
General and administrative expenses — &% 21T & F 21 (117,225) (113,358)
Operating profit 75 g A 26,870 150,394
Finance income RSN 23 14,853 11,104
Finance costs B 75 B AR 23 (20,071) (23,764)
Profit before taxation B #5 A i A 21,652 137,734
Taxation T 18 24 (8,504) (12,8006)
Profit attributable to equity holders A Al fE#E#EHAF A
of the Company JE 1 % F 13,148 124,928
Earnings per share & s 7
(expressed in HK cents) (AZEALET)
— Basic = 26 2.8 29.6
— Diluted — 8 26 2.8 29.4
Dividends A% 2 27 4,329 47,413
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For the year ended 31 March 2008 EZ—EZETN\F=HA=+—HI

Attributable to equity holders
of the Company

EBEXARREREA
Other
Share  reserves Retained  Minority Total
capital  (Note 15) earnings interest equity
Hitf# PERR RHAE
BA (15 REER B GRS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FEr  TER  TER  TER
Balance at 1 April 2006 ZETRENA-B&ER 41,051 101,922 383,225 424 526,622
Profit for the year AE G H = - 124,928 - 124,928
Issue of shares upon exercise TEEREDETIRG
of share options 177 2,576 - - 2,753
Employee share option scheme: B BB ET 2
- value of employee services -EERBZEE - 3,328 - - 3,328
Transfer to retained earnings BREXAMEZRE G
upon lapse of share options - (321) 321 - -
Dividends paid 2k & - - (101,009) - (101,009)
Balance at 31 March 2007 “ETLFZA=T-RAZEHR 41,228 107,505 407,465 424 556,622
Balance at 1 April 2007 “ETLFMA-BZER 41,228 107,505 407,465 424 556,622
Profit for the year KEEM - - 13,148 - 13,148
Rights issue of shares BITHR 2 K 1D 16,492 105,198 - - 121,690
Employee share option scheme: & BT 2
- value of employee services -EERB.EE = 1,079 = - 1,079
Transfer to retained earnings BREXKMEZ RS G - (1,456) 1,456 - -
upon lapse of share options
Dividends paid 2R & - - (16,698) - (16,698)
Balance at 31 March 2008 “EENFZA=t-HBZ&EH 57,720 212,326 405371 424 675,841
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement i

For the year ended 31 March 2008 &Z - N \F=H=+—H1E

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE TET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities &2 FHZ2IRERE
Profit before taxation BR A% Al A1 21,652 137,734
Depreciation of property, plant mE - WEKRRE
and equipment ZITE 59,394 52,978
Amortisation of leasehold land ME L Rt
and land use rights 15 FA 4 2 # 35 1,054 1,050
Share-based compensation expense  LABD XM 3R B 2 X 1,079 3,328
Loss on disposal of property, plant HE®WE - BE K
and equipment REZEE 3,192 367
Write-back of provision RERFHEFEEE
for obsolete and slow 2 [B £
moving inventories (11,470) -
Provision for impairment of trade g Z) FE Wk SR (B
receivables A1 2,595 526
Write-back of provision for amount  J& Ug Bt & A &) IR 5K = 1
due from associated companies 2 o] B - (1,874)
Provision for long service payments & Hi iR 7% & % & 3,740 359
Interest expenses FEZH 20,071 23,764
Interest income A B U A (14,853) (11,104)
Operating profit before working LEBECEHAIC
capital changes 1 7 86,454 207,128
Inventories A 122,092 (35,146)
Trade receivables g 5 FE IR K 177,513 (6,278)
Prepayments, deposits and other ENR - HeRAEM
receivables JFE I 1R 3R (116,397) (12,294)
Amount due from associated JE Wt Bk & 1 AR 3K
companies 8,770 (6,896)
Trade and bills payables HORMERKERE (100,226) 21,609
Accruals and other payables EEtERKRE
1t J& A IR X 19,279 29,810
Receipts in advance 78 U iR 7R (2,315) (5,251)
Amount due to associated JE 11 B & R B IR 3K
companies 811 -
Cash generated from operations KEEA RS 195,981 192,682
Interest paid B F & (20,071) (23,764)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEBNER (15,684) (15,422)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded REBBNGEH 1,310 1,451
Long service payments paid ENEARBEE - (283)

Net cash generated from operating & EHEL 2 FIR S
activities 161,536 154,664
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement #ESHERER

For the year ended 31 March 2008 & Z —FTZ N \F=H=+—H1t

2008 2007
—EENE —ETLF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities & /EZEBZIRERE
Purchase of property, plant REME  BEXR
and equipment B (172,129) (91,208)
Increase in leasehold land LI E i &%
and land use rights T b R - (417)
Increase in deposits for acquisition 2 ANEE B + #b{F FA
of land use rights ZiEE (26,400) —
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BERRKE
property, plant and equipment Z P13k 365 751
Increase in investment in MR ERRZTRE
associated companies (400) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged B, (8N
bank deposits RITTFK 6,359 (6,359)
Interest received 2 HFH A 14,853 11,104
Net cash used in investing activities & & )EEFTAIIR € F 58 (177,352) (86,129)
Cash flows from financing activites BEEZEBZIRERE 28
Proceeds from exercise of TIEEREZ B K
share options - 2,753
Net proceeds from rights issue BITHRERD 2
of shares FHTER 121,690 -
New long-term bank borrowings FREARITEE 200,000 —
New short-term bank borrowings MEHERTEE 439,680 802,560
Repayment of long-term bank EERHRITEE
borrowings (74,050) (57,750)
Repayment of short-term bank BEEEHRITEE
borrowings (503,287) (732,444)
New trust receipts bank loans T WIERITER 336,751 577,625
Repayment of trust receipts EEETWERT
bank loans A (402,458) (616,499)
Dividends paid 2R S (16,698) (101,009)
Net cash generated from/(used in) METBCELE
financing activities (FTH) B & 558 101,628 (124,764)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash RekReFEMZF
and cash equivalents #m, ) 85,812 (56,229)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April THA —H 2R & &
ReEED 267,145 323,374

Cash and cash equivalents ZA=+t—HZRE K
at 31 March ReFEY 12 352,957 267,145
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Karrie International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of computer casings,
office automation products, video cassette housings,
moulds, plastic and metal parts and provision of electronic
manufacturing services.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 29 October
1996. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares have been listed in the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 16
December 1996.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Hong Kong dollars (HK$'000), unless
otherwise stated, and have been approved for issue by the
Board of Directors on 3 July 2008.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all
the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRS) under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1

(a)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Standards, amendment and interpretations effective
in current year

HKFRS 7, “Financial instruments: Disclosures”, and
the complementary amendment to HKAS 1,
“Presentation of financial statements — Capital
disclosures”, introduces new disclosures relating to
financial instruments and does not have any impact
on the classification and valuation of the Group’s
financial instruments, or the disclosures relating to
taxation and trade and other payables;

HK(IFRIC) — Int 8, “Scope of HKFRS 2", requires
consideration of transactions involving the issuance
of equity instruments, where the identifiable
consideration received is less than the fair value of
the equity instruments issued in order to establish
whether or not they fall within the scope of HKFRS
2. This standard does not have any impact on the
Group's financial statements;

HK(IFRIC) — Int 10, “Interim financial reporting and
impairment”, prohibits the impairment losses
recognised in an interim period on goodwill and
investments in equity instruments and in financial
assets carried at cost to be reversed at a subsequent
balance sheet date. This standard does not have
any impact on the Group's financial statements; and

HK(IFRIC) — Int 11, “HKFRS 2 — Group and treasury
share transactions”. HK(IFRIC) — Int 11 provides
guidance on whether share-based transactions
involving treasury shares or involving group entities
(for example, options over a parent’s shares) should
be accounted for as equity-settled or cash-settled
share-based payment transactions in the stand-alone
accounts of the parent and group companies. This
interpretation does not have an impact on the
Group's financial statements.
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2.1

(b)

BRI

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
Standards, amendments and interpretations effective

in current year but not relevant for the Group’s
operations

The following standards, amendments and interpretations
to published standards are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2007 but they are
not relevant to the Group’s operations:

(c)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 7, “Applying the restatement
approach under HKAS 29, Financial reporting in
hyper-inflationary economies”; and

HK(IFRIC) — Int 9, “Re-assessment of embedded
derivatives”

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group

The following standards, amendments and interpretations
to existing standards have been published and are
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2008 or later periods, but the Group
has not early adopted them:

HKAS 1 (Revised), “Presentation of Financial
Statements” (effective from 1 January 2009). HKAS
1 (Revised) requires all owner changes in equity to
be presented in a statement of changes in equity.
All comprehensive income is presented in one
statement of comprehensive income or in two
statements (a separate income statement and a
statement of comprehensive income). It requires
presenting a statement of financial position as at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period in
a complete set of financial statements when there
are retrospective adjustments or reclassification
adjustments. However, it does not change the
recognition, measurement or disclosure of specific
transactions and other events required by other
HKFRSs. The Group will apply HKAS 1 (Revised) from
1 January 20009;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1

(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Cont’d)

HKAS 23 (Amendment), “Borrowing costs” (effective
from 1 January 2009). The amendment requires an
entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for use or
sale) as part of the cost of that asset. The option of
immediately expensing those borrowing costs will
be removed. The Group will apply HKAS 23
(Amended) from 1 January 2009 but is currently
not applicable to the Group as there are no
qualifying assets;

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 (Amendments) “Puttable
Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on
Liquidation” (effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2009). The amendments require
some puttable financial instruments and some
financial instruments that impose on the entity an
obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata
share of the net assets of the entity only on
liguidation to be classified as equity;

HKFRS 8, “Operating segments” (effective from 1
January 2009). HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14 and aligns
segment reporting with the requirements of the US
standard SFAS 131, “Disclosures about segments of
an enterprise and related information”. The new
standard requires a “management approach”, under
which segment information is presented on the same
basis as that used for internal reporting purposes.
The Group will apply HKFRS 8 from 1 January 2009.
The expected impact is still being assessed in detail
by management, but it appears likely that the
number of reportable segments, as well as the
manner in which the segments are reported, will
change in a manner that is consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker;
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2.1

(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Cont’d)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 14, “HKAS 19 — The limit on a defined
benefit asset, minimum funding requirements and
their interaction” (effective from 1 January 2008).
HK(IFRIC) — Int 14 provides guidance on assessing
the limit in HKAS 19 on the amount of the surplus
that can be recognised as an asset. It also explains
how the pension asset or liability may be affected
by a statutory or contractual minimum funding
requirement. The Group will apply HK(IFRIC) — Int
14 from 1 January 2008, but it is not expected to
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements;

HKAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements” (effective from annual period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The amendment
requires non-controlling interests (i.e. minority
interests) to be presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity,
separately from the equity of the owners of the
parent. Total comprehensive income must be
attributed to the owners of the parent and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in the loss of control
are accounted for within equity. When control of a
subsidiary is lost, the assets and liabilities and related
equity components of the former subsidiary are
derecognised. Any gain or loss is recognised in
income statement. Any investment retained in the
former subsidiary is measured at its fair value at the
date when control is lost. The Group will apply HKAS
27 (Revised) from 1 April 2010;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1

(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Cont’d)

HKFRS 2 Amendment “Share-based Payment Vesting
Conditions and Cancellations” (effective from 1
January 2009). The amendment clarifies the
definition of “vesting conditions” and specifies the
accounting treatment of “cancellations” by the
counterparty to a share-based payment arrangement.
Vesting conditions are service conditions (which
require a counterparty to complete a specified period
of service) and performance conditions (which
require a specified period of service and specified
performance targets to be met) only. All “non-
vesting conditions” and vesting conditions that are
market conditions shall be taken into account when
estimating the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. All cancellations are accounted for as an
acceleration of vesting and the amount that would
otherwise have been recognised over the remainder
of the vesting period is recognised immediately. The
Group will apply HKFRS 2 Amendment from 1 April
2009, but it is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements; and
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2.1

(c)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Standards, amendments and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been early adopted by the Group (Cont’d)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combination” (effective
for business combinations with acquisition date on
or after the beginning of the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 July 2009). The
amendment may bring more transactions into
acquisition accounting as combinations by contract
alone and combinations of mutual entities are
brought into the scope of the standard and the
definition of a business has been amended slightly.
It now states that the elements are “capable of
being conducted” rather than “are conducted and
managed”. It requires considerations (including
contingent consideration), each identifiable asset and
liability to be measured at its acquisition-date fair
value, except leases and insurance contracts,
reacquired right, indemnification assets as well as
some assets and liabilities required to be measured
in accordance with other HKFRSs. They are income
taxes, employee benefits, share-based payment and
non-current assets held for sale and discontinued
operations. Any non-controlling interest in an
acquiree is measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets. The Group will
apply HKFRS 3 (Revised) from 1 April 2010.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1

(d)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
Interpretations to existing standards that are not

yet effective and not relevant for the Group’s
operations

The following interpretations to existing standards have
been published and are mandatory for the Group’s
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2008 or
later periods but are not relevant for the Group’s
operations:

HK(IFRIC) - Int 12, “Service concession
arrangements” (effective from 1 January 2008).
IFRIC/HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 applies to contractual
arrangements whereby a private sector operator
participates in the development, financing, operation
and maintenance of infrastructure for public sector
services. HK(IFRIC) — Int 12 is not relevant to the
Group's operations because none of the Group's
companies provide for public sector services; and

HK(IFRIC) — Int 13, “Customer loyalty programmes”
(effective from 1 July 2008). HK(IRFIC) — Int 13
clarifies that where goods or services are sold
together with a customer loyalty incentive (for
example, loyalty points or free products), the
arrangement is a multiple-element arrangement and
the consideration receivable from the customer is
allocated between the components of the
arrangement using fair values. HK(IFRIC) — Int 13 is
not relevant to the Group’s operations because none
of the Group’s companies operate any loyalty
programmes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made
up to 31 March.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies
generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one
half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the
Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of
an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of
any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets of
the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly
in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.2 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(a) Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses (Note 2.7). The results of subsidiaries are accounted
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

(b) Transactions and minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with
minority interests as transactions with parties external to
the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains
and losses for the Group that are recorded in the
consolidated income statement. Purchases from minority
interests result in goodwill, being the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of
the carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary.

(c) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised
at cost. The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in reserves is
recognised in reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of
the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.2 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(c) Associates (Cont’d)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

In the Company’'s balance sheet the investments in
associated companies are stated at cost less provision for
impairment losses (Note 2.7). The results of associated
companies are accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.

2.3 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other
business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of segments operating in other
economic environments.

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK dollars, which is the
Company's functional and presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)
(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as available for
sale are analysed between translation differences resulting
from changes in the amortised cost of the security and
other changes in the carrying amount of the security.
Translation differences related to changes in the amortised
cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in
the carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Translation difference on non-monetary financial assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial assets such as equities classified as
available for sale are included in the available-for-sale
reserve in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Cont’d)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented
are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is partially
disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were
recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

The property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are expensed in the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated

using the straight-line method to allocate cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 2% to 4%
Fixtures and leasehold improvements 8% to 12%
Machinery 10% to 15%

Moulds and tooling 15%
Furniture and computer equipment 15% to 33.33%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the income statement.

2.6 Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plants and
machinery under construction and pending installation and
is stated at cost. Cost includes the costs of construction of
buildings and the costs of plant and machinery. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction-in-
progress until such time as the relevant assets are
completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred
to other property, plant and equipment and depreciated
in accordance with the policy as stated in Note 2.5 in this
Section.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.7 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,
associates and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or not yet available
for use are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.

2.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises design costs, raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

2 EERETHRBE@®

27 RERKEAR BEQARFHE
EEZRE

SREREERFHA RN RAHRERCEE
EHREE BROFFHREETAA
NREBEMHHBARIBT RN E B RIREER
BE B A W (o1 By Bl Rk (B 7 *ﬁE ME{’E?%E%

T 18 7] BE & & I [B] By ?ﬁﬂfﬁiﬁfﬂw ° R
BEEBRZEEZIREERLEA] KD SR
ZEBER - AIREESBEUNEEZ A FE
HREERAXEAEEMECLHRRE
RE - RAERER - BEZA DRBY
HengE ReELEMN cREERE
B -BEBN ERXBEZEELEEHE

wEBHY R ER DS A A B B E TR
B
28 ®FE

FERRARAIZEFEME ZRIEET
iR o RRAFIAEETLEEE - Hkm&
EEmMmIAARNBEREKRAE - BME - EH
BET  HMWEBRKAMBBEZEELR

MRX (KBEEREZERN) - ETEHEE
ERAR - IR FESEREEBBIESD
ZIEFTIHEE  RERAZEIHHEENR -



]
) st tarimsa | 120

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.9 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
is established when there is objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according
to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default
or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that
the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the income statement. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
to the income statement.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or
less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

2.11 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

2.12 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.12 Borrowings (Cont’d)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.

2.13 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.14 Current and deferred income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the company’s
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However, the
deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit
or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted
by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.14 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

2.15 Employee benefits
(@)  Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered
by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments wholly due within
12 months after the balance sheet date are recognised as
a liability when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can be
made. Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when they are settled.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.15 Employee benefits (Cont'd)
(c) Pension obligations

Group companies operate several pension schemes. The
plans are generally funded through payments to trustee
administered funds. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due and are not
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future
payments is available.

(d)  Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect of long service
payments to its employees upon the termination of their
employment or retirement when the employee fulfils certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance is the amount of future benefit that employees
have earned in return for their service in the current and
prior periods.

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method, discounted to its present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on
high quality corporate bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.15 Employee benefits (Cont'd)
(e) Share-based compensation

The Group operates a share-based compensation plan. The
fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period
is determined by reference to the fair value of the options
granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth
targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the estimates of the number of options
that are expected to become exercisable. At each balance
sheet date, the entity revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to become exercisable. It
recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable
transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal
value) and share premium when the options are exercised.

2.16 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.17 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services in
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
shown net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s activities as
described below. The amount of revenue is not considered
to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to
the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates
on historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

Revenue is recognised as follows:

(@)  Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognised when a Group entity has
delivered products to the customer, the customer has
accepted the products and collectibility of the related

receivables is reasonably assured.

Advance payments received from customers prior to delivery
of goods are recorded as receipts in advance.

(b) Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis.
(c)  Management income

Revenue from the provision of management service is
recognised when the service is rendered.

2 EERETHRBE@®

217 #HE

MHEREAE ZERED R R E RS G
HARE  "BRLEMRE -REZEH
B XA 2 3R (kR A B HE A MWER Z (] 82
BeR)NEERANEREEBRERX

2.18 AR

BAEASEERRABEETLEER
ERBzERHEERKRELNRFE - WA
EMBREED  RE - @HIMFTHN - L&
HHEBAMHERIIK

BN HEENAFAE  RREERN
mARRERAEHER  MAKBESHEE
BHTEAEBKREE (T - A&E
EESHRARER - RIFEHEFHE AR
BRARZEB[D R BRWAZHEHED
WERENAETE - AEESEREEE
BIYEBEFER  RH5BEEMEBHELY
2R BN EH A

WAERT
@ Emi#HE
EmHEEAREEREHER RN TE

T BEEBNERE  ARBBEKR
M (51 ] & B AR B RS2 o

FC 8% 1 T8 WAk B

B BPZENRK
o

(b) H2UA

HEWAABREER -

© EEBEUA

REEERSE ZWAR R EHEHER



]
[

‘ . s e o e 135

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Contd)

2.18 Revenue recognition (Cont’d)
(d) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis,
using the effective interest method. When a receivable is
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow
discounted at original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as
interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

2.19 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest
rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit
risk, and liquidity risk. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group's
overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury
management (Group Treasury) under policies approved by
the board of directors. Group Treasury identifies and
evaluates financial risks in close co-operation with the
Group’s operating units.
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%'FA F 75 R R BT RE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates primarily in Hong Kong and the PRC.
It is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Renminbi
and United States dollars. Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.

Management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure by
using foreign exchange forward contracts when the need
arises. As at 31 March 2008, the Group has not entered
into significant forward foreign exchange contracts to
mitigate the currency exposure.

At 31 March 2008, if Hong Kong dollars had weakened by
5% against the Renminbi with all other variables held
constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
HK$936,965 (2007: HK$7,738,000) lower, mainly as a
result of the net foreign exchange losses on translation of
Renminbi-denominated other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other payables.

At 31 March 2008, if Hong Kong dollars had weakened by
2% against the United Stated dollars with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been
HK$9,782,000 (2007: HK$10,914,000) higher, mainly as a
result of net foreign exchange gains on translation of
United Stated dollars-denominated trade receivables, cash
and cash equivalents and trade payables. The Group
considers the risk of movements in exchange rates between
the Hong Kong dollars and the United States dollars to be
insignificant as Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars
are pegged.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

As the Group has no other significant interest bearing
assets, except for certain bank deposits, the Group's income
and operating cash flows are substantially independent of
changes in market interest rates.

3 HMBEAERER @
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(a) Market risk (Cont’d)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank borrowings
which are primarily issued at variable rates. Therefore, the
Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk.

At 31 March 2008, with all other variables held constant,
if the interest rate had increased/decreased by 50 basis-
point, the corresponding increase/decrease in interest
expenses on bank borrowings will result in a net decrease/
increase in the Group's post-tax profit by approximately
HK$1,672,000 (2007: HK$1,685,000).

(iii) ~ Price risk

The Group has no significant investments classified as
available for sales or at fair value through profit and loss,
and thus is not exposed to any significant price risk.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk mainly
arises from financial assets and deposits with bank and
financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the
customers, including outstanding trade and other
receivables. For banks and financial institutions, only
independent parties with high credit rating are accepted.
Customers are assessed and rated based on the credit
quality of the customers, taking into account their financial
position, past experience and other factors. Trade and other
receivables are assessed by reference to the historical
information about counterparty default rates. Individual
risk limits are set by management and the utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. No credit limit was
exceeded during the year, and management does not
expect any significant losses from non-performance by
these relevant parties.
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e PR
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(c) Liquidity risk

The Group adopts prudent liquidity risk management which
includes maintaining sufficient bank balances and cash,
having available funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the
underlying businesses, the Group aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.

The table below analyses the Group’s and the Company’s
financial liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the balance
sheet to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted
cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their
carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not
significant.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(c)  Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

e B RS R B aE
3 HBERBRER®
31 HBAREE (#)

© mEBEZERE)

Between Between
Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years
PR—F —EmME —EZRF BEUE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THR AT THT
Group rEE
At 31 March 2008 RZETENF
=A=+—H”
Trade and bills payables E ZENIKERZEEE 351,379 — — —
Accrual and other payables fE 5T 2 A K& H 1th F& 1
R R 151,513 - - -
Bank borrowings RITIEE 216,561 70,000 118,700 —
Interest payables JE 1< F1) B 11,418 4,839 5,361 -
At 31 March 2007 RZEZELF
=A=+—8”
Trade and bills payables E SENIRZKEEE 451,605 — — —
Accrual and other payables fE5T & A K H th & 1
R R 137,626 - - -
Bank borrowings RITIEE 317,702 45,875 45,000 —
Interest payables &S 712 20,826 4,443 2,908 —

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for equity holders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity
holders, or issue new shares.
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e DR RME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Contd)
3.2 Capital risk management (Cont’d)

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net bank borrowings divided by total equity.
Net bank borrowings are calculated as total bank
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group'’s strategy, which was unchanged from prior
year, was to maintain an acceptable net gearing ratio. The
net gearing ratios at 31 March 2008 and 2007 were as
follows:

3 HERBER &)
32 EXEBERE (&)

BITEAREMAR - NEBEREFR
THEELREEER - ZULXERTEE
FEGRUERAE FERTEEFER
RIEEREREMRASFEY

AEEZREEEFAE - ARAERA
BXZFRITEELRZRR  -R_TF

NER_ZBZLF=RA=1+—HZFRT
fEELERMT

2008 2007

—EENFE —TTLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FET

Total borrowings (Note 17) wEs (iE17) 405,261 408,577
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERREEEY

(Note 12) (BtsE12) (353,140) (267,280)

Net bank borrowings RITEEFE 52,121 141,297

Total equity HEmfaE 675,841 556,622

Net gearing ratio FIRITEELX 8% 25%

3.3 Fair value estimation

The carrying value less impairment provision (as applicable)
of trade receivables and payables are a reasonable
approximation of their fair values. The fair value of financial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for similar
financial instruments.
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4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful
lives and related depreciation for its property, plant and
equipment. The estimates are based on the historical
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are less
than previously estimated lives. It will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ
from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in
a change in depreciable lives and therefore depreciation
expense in future periods.

(b) Estimated impairment of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables
based on an assessment of the recoverability of the
receivables. Provisions are applied to receivables where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible. The identification of
impairment of receivables requires the use of judgment
and estimates. Where the expectations are different from
the original estimates, such differences will impact the
carrying value of receivables and loss for the impairment
of receivable is recognised in the years in which such
estimates have been changed.
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e PR

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Cont'd)

(c) Estimated provision for inventories

Inventories are written down to net realisable value based
on an assessment of the realisability of inventories. Write-
downs on inventories are recorded where events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the balances may not be
realised. The identification of write-downs requires the use
of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of inventories and write-downs
of inventories in the periods in which such estimate has
been changed.

(d) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Primary reporting format — business segments

At 31 March 2008, the Group is principally engaged in
the manufacture and sale of computer casings, office
automation products, moulds, plastic and metal parts
(together referred to as “Metal and Plastic Business”) and
provision of electronic manufacturing services (“EMS
Business”).

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting,
the Group has determined that major product segments
be presented as the primary reporting format and
geographical segments as the secondary reporting format.

The segment results for the year ended 31 March 2008
are as follows:

e IERRMEE
5 oER
(a) EARERR - £%9 3

RZBZENF=ZA=Z+—BEREEFEH
SRHERHEETRIR BRAEXERE
mRE -BRERSBEHHT(REIAEE
BEB MBEHEFEXERIRSE ([E
BERIEK] -

KEAKE 2N BHRE - NREBIRTE
NEBEMDBREARELARAME
DEHBREBR/RELAZS -

BHE_ZZEN\F=ZA=+—HFELZD
HEREWT

2008
—EEN\F
Electronic
Metal and manufacturing
plastic services
business business Others Total
LeER BErE%
E RIEK H At GRS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THER THER THET
Segment revenues 2 EUA
Total segment revenue o ER UL A 1B R 1,419,684 1,478,407 3,007 2,901,098
Inter-segment revenue D E A A (98,124) - - (98,124)
Revenue A 1,321,560 1,478,407 3,007 2,802,974
Segment results DEBEE 48,127 (24,264) 3,007 26,870
Finance income B A 14,853
Finance costs B 75 B AR (20,071)
Profit before taxation BR 7% Al 4 A 21,652
Taxation P18 (8,504)
Profit attributable to ZN/NET) g
equity holders of B AEMN

the Company pinkl 13,148
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e PR

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5 TEER (&)
(a) Primary reporting format — business segments (a) EBEXFEEX (K23 (&)
(Cont’d)
2007
—TELF
Electronic
Metal and  manufacturing
plastic services
business business Others Total
T2 B BEfE%
S RIEH H A &
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Segment revenues 2 BB A
Total segment revenue DEWABE 1,605,146 1,839,112 8,067 3,452,325
Inter-segment revenue 7 ZBEUW A (124,228) = = (124,228)
Revenue WA 1,480,918 1,839,112 8,067 3,328,097
Segment results D EEE 132,270 10,057 8,067 150,394
Finance income B WA 11,104
Finance costs B 7% A AR (23,764)
Profit before taxation B B A& A 137,734
Taxation 18 (12,806)
Profit attributable to /NG
equity holders of B AEMWG

the Company i A 124,928
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e RS ERER IR

5 SHEHE#E)

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(@) Primary reporting format - business segments

(a) EXBERX-EBIH (&)

(Cont’d)
Other segment items included in the consolidated income HihHHIEE BEEFEEERANAT
statement are as follows:
2008
—EENFE
Electronic
Metal and manufacturing
plastic services
business business Total
Te¥B EFEXE
e RIEHK &#
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHa FER FHa
Depreciation e 40,534 18,860 59,394
Amortisation e 557 497 1,054
Provision for impairment of B 5 K H A e WK R (B
trade and other receivables i 774 1,821 2,595
Write-back of provision RERBHEFEER
for obsolete and slow- 2 [B B
moving inventories (5,193) (6,277) (11,470)
2007
—ETLF
Electronic
Metal and  manufacturing
plastic services
business business Total
Le#R ETEE
=% RIEH & #
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAET TAET
Depreciation E 36,865 16,113 52,978
Amortisation e 515 EED 1,050
Provision for/(write-back of provision B 5 N E b B IR BB
for) impairment of trade and s/ (ERzE#E)
other receivables 548 (22) 526

(Write-back of provision)/provision
for obsolete and slow-moving
inventories

RERBHEE CEH
Z O EE

15
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e PR

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(@) Primary reporting format - business segments

(Cont’d)

5 SHEH #®)
(a) EFXBERX-XBDI (&)

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 March 2008 and RZZEZENF=ZA=T—B2ZHHMBEEMN
capital expenditure for the year ended are as follows: BENERBEZRALEFEZCEEEAN
T .
2008

—EEN\F

Electronic

Metal and manufacturing

plastic services
business business Total

Ec gl EFEX
%% RIEK GRS
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THERT TET
Segment assets DEEE 827,892 484,307 1,312,199
Unallocated assets rENEE 344,618
Total assets BEEMBE 1,656,817
Segment liabilities NDHEE 367,767 259,133 626,900
Unallocated liabilities rEHBEE 354,076
Total liabilities BERE 980,976
Capital expenditures EXER 107,668 64,461 172,129

2007

—ETLF

Electronic

Metal and  manufacturing

plastic services
business business Total

Le¥R EFEE
% RIEK a i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET
Segment assets DEHEE 810,922 693,229 1,504,151
Unallocated assets RELEE 117,216
Total assets BERE 1,621,367
Segment liabilities DEEE 343,308 408,351 751,659
Unallocated liabilities AENAE 313,086
Total liabilities BERE 1,064,745
Capital expenditures EAEH 53,173 38,452 91,625
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)

(@) Primary reporting format - business segments
(Cont’d)

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, inventories, trade and other receivables, and
cash and bank balances. Unallocated assets include prepaid
tax, deferred tax assets and interest in associated
companies.

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities.
Unallocated liabilities include items such as taxation payable
and deferred tax liabilities.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to leasehold land
and land use rights (Note 6) and property, plant and
equipment (Note 7).

(b) Secondary reporting segments — geographical
segments

The Group's revenues are mainly derived from customers
located in Japan, Hong Kong, China, Asia (excluding Japan,
Hong Kong and China), North America and Western
Europe.

e MR ME
5 SEWER ()
() EAMERK-EBHH (#)

DHMEETERRYE  HEZLERE &
E BILREMERE  RRERRTHE
Fo-ADEEERERANKE  BLEKRA
BERRBE AR 2R -

NHMABBREEERE KOEBESR
e HIBSREFRIAAE

BARERBREAEHEL R L ER#E
(FfaE6) % - B MR & (H5E7) o

b) REBEFR - HEH B

AEBEZWA MY BREIESALR &
Bl SM(PERERER  BERS
B) - b MR o

2008 2007
—EENFE CZZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F& T

Revenue N
Japan A7 252,894 259,253
Hong Kong BB 84,018 83,788
China a3 741,178 745,730
Asia (excluding Japan, Hong Kong, China) M (TEEBAAR - HEKFEH) 636,698 591,082
North America JEEM 284,213 477,525
Western Europe Pa R 803,973 1,170,719
Total @1E 2,802,974 3,328,097

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which the
final destination of shipment is located.

WARBREMNEBNMAEBRRDE -
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d Financial Statements

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd) 5 o EE R (&)
(b) Secondary reporting segments — geographical (b) REHEFEX-HES I (&)

segments (Cont’d)

2008 2007
—BEENFE _—ZTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Segment assets NEEE
Japan SN 1,251 —
Hong Kong BB 787,331 821,951
China Gy 819,189 725,647
North America it =M 25,912 25,799
Western Europe i 23,134 47,970
Total e 1,656,817 1,621,367
Segment assets are allocated based on where the assets NEEERBEEMAEME DA -
are located.
2008 2007
—EBEENFE _—ZTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Capital expenditure BEXREHR
Hong Kong BB 3,139 2,351
China & 168,974 89,245
North America JEEM 2 3
Western Europe il 14 26
Total #1a 172,129 91,625

Capital expenditure is allocated based on where the assets

are located.

BEXRBRRBEEEMEMLIM L -
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6 LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE
RIGHTS

The Group's interests in leasehold land and land use rights
represent prepaid operating lease payments and their net
book values are analysed as follows:

e MR ME
6 MELHWRE AR
98 B SOTE 8 5 o 8 AR 2 O

ENKEHERE  REKRBFES TN
T

2008 2007

—ERENE _—_TTLHF

HK$'000 HK$000

THER FAET

Net book amount at beginning of the year & # 1R & /% & 47,927 48,560
Addition NE - 417
Amortisation iR (1,054) (1,050)
Net book amount at end of the year FREEREFE 46,873 47,927
Cost (DN 52,187 52,187
Accumulated amortisation REEH (5.314) (4,260)
Net book amount at end of the year FEIREFE 46,873 47,927
Leases of 10 to 50 years in Hong Kong EXE—HEHRI0ES0F 1,063 1,091
Leases of 10 to 50 years in Mainland China B — &R 10£50F 44,841 45,850
Leases of over 50 years in Mainland China A& — & B 504 A £ 969 986
46,873 47,927

The leasehold land located in Hong Kong are held under
medium-term leases expiring in June 2047. The leasehold
land located in Mainland China are held under land use
rights of 45 to 57 years expiring in April 2043 to October
2062.

ERBLZHELTHIIREBEZE —_TONLFX
AWimzTHEMFEE - £ETEZHEE
THIORESFNTAER L5 (AIZEE
—TE=FEAE_ER-_FtALZzL
WEREMREAE -
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e PR

7  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7 ME- -BERZRHE
(a) Group (a) ZAKH
Leasehold Moulds  Furniture and
Construction-  improvements and computer
Buildings in-progress  and fixtures Machinery tooling equipment Total
FRR
BT EBIR NEEE BE HBARIR ERRE af
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn TEn TAn A A TAn TAn
At 31 March 2006 “EEREZA=T-H
Cost B 102,539 29,138 53,397 326,650 21,641 36,587 569,95
Accumulated depreciation Z2ENE (19,429) - (27,269) (244,559) (17,082) (29,575) (337,914)
Net book amount REFE 83,110 29,138 26,128 82,091 4,559 7012 232,038
Year ended 31 March 2007 EE-FFtE
ZA=T-BLEE
Opening net book amount BMERFE 83,110 29,138 26,128 82,091 4559 7,012 232,038
Additions HE 25,045 14,172 8,362 33,741 3,529 6,359 91,208
Transfer in/(out) &1/ () 30,555 (30,614) - = - 59 -
Disposals HE - - - (1,112) (1) (5) (1,118)
Depreciation il (9,885) z (6,473) (30,460) (1,550) (4,610) (52,978)
Closing net book amount BREEFE 128,825 12,69 28,017 84,260 6,537 8,815 269,150
At 31 March 2007 “EELEZR=1-H
Cost B 158,139 12,69 61,759 355,981 24,900 11,880 655,355
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE (29,314) - (33,742) (71,721) (18,363) (33,065) (386,205)
Net book amount RAFE 128,825 12,69 28,017 84,260 6,537 8,815 269,150
Year ended 31 March 2008 ~ EHEZ-ZFENE
ZA=T-BLEE
Opening net book amount BMERFE 128,825 12,696 28017 84,260 6,537 8815 269,150
Additions HE 54,359 30671 18,738 56,093 3,602 8,666 172,129
Transfer in/(out) &1/ () 1,714 (13,757) 2,083 = - - -
Disposals e - (2,944) (116) (484) - (13) (3,557)
Depreciation il (11,332 z (7,716) (32,299) (1,985) (6,062) (59,394)
Closing net book amount BREETE 183,566 26,666 10,966 107,570 8,154 11,406 378,328
At 31 March 2008 “2EN\EZA=1-H
Cost B 24212 26,666 82,424 407,518 28,383 50,135 819,338
Accumulated depreciation 2ENE (40,646) - (41,458) (299,948) (20,229) (38,729) (441,010)
Net book amount RAFE 183,566 26,666 10,966 107,570 8,154 11,406 378,318
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7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 7
(Cont’d)
(@) Group (Cont’d) (a)

Depreciation expense of HK$56,893,000 (2007:
HK$50,964,000) has been taken to cost of sales, and
HK$2,501,000 (2007: HK$2,014,000) to general and
administrative expenses.

FEHE (&)

e PR M
W - RS R (8)

#T & 1 56,893,0008 T (ZEEF £ F
50,964,000 ;L) EEHE R A X 8 &
2,501,0008 7T (ZFZ 4 : 2,014,000/
TL)ETA—MREITHRER -

(b) The Group's interests in buildings at their net book (b) AEEEEFIERKEIREFES
values are analysed as follows: T :
2008 2007
—EENFE Z—TTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
Buildings in Hong Kong, held on REBFBEEFI0ES0FH
leases of between 10 to 50 years ZHE 2,173 2,251
Buildings in Mainland China, held RAPRFEEFI10E50F H
on leases of between 10 to 50 years ZHE 178,866 123,994
Buildings in Mainland China, held KA BB EFZB50F 4
on leases over 50 years ZHE 2,527 2,580
183,566 128,825
8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 8 RHBLAIZRE
Company
b NN
2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost IE ERE D 2 AN E 193,285 193,285
Less: Provision for impairment of B RHBARZ
investment in subsidiaries RERBELEE (3,087) (3,087)
190,198 190,198
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U BT B~ B IR 3K 310,328 213,297
500,526 403,495
Amounts due from subsidiaries represent funding by the JEU B A RIIR KR R AR RNEERE M

Company to the respective subsidiaries and are
denominated in HK dollars.

BRRNABEREML -
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e PR

8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 8 RHMERARZRE &)
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March R-ZZEENF=ZA=1+—"HZTEWNBE R A
2008 are: ZEH

Place of

incorporation/ Particulars of

establishment and Principal activities and issued/registered
Name types of legal entity place of operation share capital Interest held

AR B R
£ EEERER TEXBREEHH ERTREMBRE BEkE
Karrie International The British Virgin Islands, Investment holding in the Ordinary(i) US$100 100%

(B.V.1.) Limited limited liability company ~ British Virgin Islands E@MG) 100E T
RBRUBE REER EBRELES
AREERRA
Castfast Industrial Hong Kong, limited Plastic injection moulding Ordinary HK$100 100%
Company Limited liability company operations in Hong Kong L@ 1008 T
FEEBRhGERRA BEAREMLA BRIRLE B Non-voting deferred (ii) ~
HK$990,200
BRZRETR)
990,200/% 7T

Castfast Industrial Hong Kong, limited Manufacture of computer casings, Ordinary HK$100 100%

(Yan Tien) Limited
EREZEZBBRREE
BERAQA

office automation products,
moulds and plastic and
metal parts; provision of
electronic manufacturing
services, property holding
and investment holding

in Mainland China

liability company

BREERAMLAT

HEBRNR  BREXREM

BARZEBES B
REETEXRIRY -
RENELREERR  TE

@100 T

Non-voting deferred (ii)
HK$10,000

B ZREELR)
10,0007 T
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e PR M

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Principal activities and

REBRARZ2RE (&)

Particulars of
issued/registered

Name types of legal entity place of operation share capital Interest held
B AL 3 B R
&% EEREER TEXRBREEBY ERTRAMBRR BikE
Castfast Magnetics Hong Kong, limited Manufacture of plastic injection Ordinary HK$10 100%
Moulding Limited liability company moulds and metal stamping LER107%E T
RRHETER EREREMAF dies in Hong Kong Non-voting deferred (ii) -
BRRAE REITERARSEBNE HK$30,000
BE BB B ZHE TR
30,000 1T
Dongguan Yanxun Mainland China, Manufacture of computer casings, Registered capital 85%
Electronics Company sino-foreign video cassette housings, office HK$4,500,000
Limited joint venture automation products and plastic FHER
FERAEFERRR  HEFIEGELE and metal parts in Mainland China 4,500,000% T
REEROIR  BEHEIR
HAENRERREBR
B
Grandway Investment Hong Kong, limited Investment Holding in Ordinary HK$1 100%
(Group) Limited liability company Mainland China TRRIET
RERE (RB) AR EEBREART REER - PE
NG
Hong Kong Hung Hing Hong Kong, limited Manufacture and sale of Ordinary HK$100 100%
Metal Manufacturing liability company metal parts in Hong Kong E@R1008 T
Company Limited EEEREAELA HEREECBSG  BE Non-voting deferred (ii) -
BRERCEHM HK$250,000
BRRA ERZERTR)
250,000/ 1T
Jiang Su Castfast Mainland China, Property holding in Registered capital 100%

Electronic Technologies
Company Limited

IHERETTHE
BRRA

wholly-owned
foreign enterprise

TEZERBIELE

Mainland China
REME - #

US$20,000,000

E it & 4 20,000,000% T

Paid in capital
US$12,000,000

2 & 7K12,000,000% 7T
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8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd) 8

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

Principal activities and

REBARZRE (&)

Particulars of
issued/registered

Name types of legal entity place of operation share capital Interest held
B AL 3 B R
&% HEEERER TEXRBREEBY ERTRAEMBRE BiERHE
Karrie Creation Limited Hong Kong, limited Inactive Ordinary HK$1,000 100%
(Formerly known as liability company EmeY L AA1,0008 T
Karrie (Video) Industrial BHAEEREFA A Non-voting deferred (ii) -
Company Limited) HK$1,000,000
BMNEIRARAR (AIER ERZERTMR)
BEMNIXERRAR) 1,000,0007% 7T
Karrie Industrial Hong Kong, limited Manufacture and sale of Ordinary HK$1,000 100%
Company Limited liability company video cassette housings, L@k 1,0008 T
EHNEMERAA EREREMAA sale of computer casings Non-voting deferred (ii) -
and office automation products, HK$5,000,000
plastic and metal parts, and EREEBETR)
sales of moulds in Hong Kong 5,000,000/ 7t
RERHERT TR
HEBRAR MIZE
Em ZBReBHHR
HERA B
Karrie Investment Hong Kong, limited Inactive Ordinary HK$10 100%
Holdings Limited liability company TEEX ERB10E T
(Formerly known as EREREMAF Non-voting deferred (ii) -
Karrie Industrial Holdings HK$2
Limited) BERZREETR)
RNREZRERATF 28T
(71 % BKarrie Industrial
Holdings Limited)
Karrie Logistic Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Ordinary HK$2 100%
Company Limited liability company Mainland China LRER2ET

BHNMRERAR EREREALT

RELR PE
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8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd) 8

Place of
incorporation/
establishment and

155

Principal activities and

REBRARZ2RE (&)

Particulars of
issued/registered

Name types of legal entity place of operation share capital Interest held
B AL 3 B R
&% HEEERER TEXRBREEBY ERTRAMBRR BikE
Karrie Technologies Hong Kong, limited Provision of electronic manufacturing  Ordinary HK$30,000,000 100%
Company Limited liability company services and sales of moulds £ 8% 30,000,000/ 1T
RAUBRKMBEERDR  BBBREAAA in Hong Kong
REETEERIRBR
HEHRE - BA
Karpo Technologies Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Ordinary HK$1,000 100%
Limited liability company Mainland China L@k 1,000% T
ENBEERLA EEAEREMAH REER & Non-voting deferred (i) -
HK$ 1,000,000
3 E i)
1,000,000/ 7T
Kartech Investment Hong Kong, limited Inactive Ordinary HK$1 100%
Group Limited liability company TEEX TRRIET
REREEHE BARREART
BRRA
Karwin Electronic Mainland China, Inactive Registered capital 100%
Technologies (Suzhou) wholly-owned TEER US$3,000,000
Company Limited foreign enterprise FER
REETRE(EM) PEZERANELE 3,000,000% 7T
BRRA
Karwin Engineering Hong Kong, limited Design, manufacture and Ordinary HK$10 100%
Company Limited liability company sale of computer casings, LER107%E T

RERMIBARAHA

EREREEAT

office automation

products; manufacture

and sale of plastic and

metal parts and sale of moulds

in Hong Kong

Ret - BEREETHINF
WAEXEER: %L&%Eﬁﬁ
REEBHEREERE  FE

Non-voting deferred (i)
HK$100

| 2R R ()
1007 7
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8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd) 8

Place of
incorporation/

REBARZRE (&)

Particulars of

establishment and

Principal activities and

issued/registered

Name types of legal entity place of operation share capital Interest held
B AL 3 B R
&% HEEERER TEXRBREEBY ERTREMRA BiERHE
Karwin Technologies The United States Provision of consultancy services Ordinary US$100 100%
Incorporation of America, limited to group companies in the L@ 100%E T
liability company United States of America
FEEREARA REBEFRE TAEERE
xH
Kings Dragon Hong Kong, limited Investment holding in Ordinary HK$2 100%
Investment (HK) Limited liability company Hong Kong LTRER2ET
DERE (BE)ERAR BABREALA RERR &4
Kings Horse Investment Hong Kong, limited Property holding Ordinary HK$10 100%
Limited liability company in Hong Kong LTRERI0BT
YEREERAA BEEBREMDH RENE BR Non-voting deferred (ii) -
HK$10,000
EREEETR)
10,0004 7T
Kwong Hing Computer Hong Kong, limited Property holding Ordinary HK$100 100%
Metallic Components lability company in Mainland China LERI100ET
Limited EEEREMLA BEME & Non-voting deferred (ii) =
BREKEBRM HK$1,250,010
BR AR ERFERER)
1,250,010% 7T
REREETEX Mainland China, Property holding in Registered capital 100%
BRAH wholly-owned Mainland China HK$24,000,000/
foreign enterprise BREER - H paid in capital
PEZERBHELE HK$24,000,0000
# & 424,000,000 7T/

B4 524,000,000 T
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8 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Contd) 8 RHWEBRIAZRE &)

Note: Bt 5

(i) The shares of Karrie International (B.V.1.) Limited are held (i) Karrie International (B. mited Z & 5
directly by the Company. The shares of other subsidiaries are DARBEERSE ﬁ1 W 13 Al Z & 1n
held indirectly. DBARRIEERE -

(ii) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. (ii) BEEEREROYIEFBANEBMESR °
These shares have no voting rights, are not entitled to Lﬁbﬂx1\ﬂ?ﬁ$% JTEEE”\ RS ° B
dividends, and are not entitled to distributions upon winding A AR EERRERAE TR RIRE 2
up unless a sum of HK$200,000,000,000 has been distributed 48 %A #2315 200,000,000,00058 70 : K AIZE
by the relevant companies to holders of the ordinary shares. RO EES ZEMDIR °

(iliy ~ Dongguan Yanxun Electronics Company Limited (“DYECL") (i) HEEAEFHERAR ([REREAL IR
is a co-operative joint venture established in Mainland China A X S Z & & ® % HeEg28H R TH
with an operating period of 15 years up to May 2010. F RZZE-—ZFAAER - BE—HR
Pursuant to an agreement dated 24 October 1995, the —ﬂﬂﬂi‘?‘ﬁ “tHEAEE 2 HE R
Mainland China joint venture partner of DYECL (the “joint ;EM_ {[Z‘?Fé}%/\ﬁ%ﬁﬁ(ﬁﬁﬁ?%%
venture partner”) has agreed to waive its entitlement to share ARz ER - MBI —EREZF
the profit of DYECL in return for a pre-determined annual B DEEHKILE  AEFEEPFEH
fee. Upon expiry of the operating period, the Group and the ANAEGSRESERMOBZEE -
joint venture partner are entitled to a distribution of assets
in accordance with their respective equity interests.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at RBEE_ZTEENF=A=1T—HILEFEA

any time during the year ended 31 March 2008. EMBARHEEMNEETZBEER -

9  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED 9 REBERFZEZ-4A5H
COMPANIES - GROUP

2008 2007

—EENFE —TTLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FET

Unlisted shares, at cost EETRMD ZKAE 12,400 12,000
Share of net assets NEMEEFE

Beginning of the year F 4 - =

Investment in an associated company E"E@‘ﬁ%”&ﬂz&ﬁ 400 -

Share of loss of associated companies DEREE A2 EE - -

End of the year FIE 400 -

Due (to)/from associated companies (FEA) /e W Bt & 1 &) IR 3K (811) 8,770

The outstanding balances with the associated companies ZEBENTHMAREEZRRNASEER

are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on TEME - WEERKEE  RUEBEAR

demand, and are denominated in HK dollars.

oo

BAL o
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9 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED REBENTIZER —X&EE
COMPANIES — GROUP (Cont'd) (#%&)

((e]

Particulars of the associated companies held by the Group R-ZZEENF=ZA=+—BAEEHEF
at 31 March 2008 are as follows: BEZzBENRIZ2ER :
Place of

incorporation/ Particulars of

establishment and

Principal activities and

issued/registered

Name kind of legal entity place of operation share capital Interest held
aft/ RItER TEXK BRAR/
£H EERRER RAEHE i it R A BEkE
NEC Nagano Karrie Hong Kong Limited Inactive Ordinary 30%
Electronics Limited(]) liability company EmEx HK$20,000,000
RERRERET BABRALAA L 1% 20,000,000 7T
ERa =] - NGl()
Dongguan Naganichi Mainland China, Inactive Registered capital 30%
Karrie Electronics sino-foreign joint Tmay HK$29,600,000
Limited(i) venture 1 & 7A29,600,0007% 7T
RERRET hERHEBLEE
BRAA)
Xiongguan Precision Hong Kong, limited Trading of metal product Ordinary HK$1,000,000 40%

Metal Product
Company Limited(ii)

BREBEALEHm
B R 2 &)

liability company
BRBREARF

Be2nehlnEs

&A% 1,000,000 7T

EHHAEREZMNETFAERAFZK
MDA RBRERE - RERRE
BRARDEHEEAERENETH
RABZZEMBARRF -

i The shares of NEC Nagano Karrie Electronics Limited [
are indirectly held by the Group. Dongguan Naganichi
Karrie Electronics Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary
of NEC Nagano Karrie Electronics Limited.

HEREASHmERARZBMD T
AABHEERE °

ii The shares of Xiongguan Precision Metal Product ii
Company Limited are indirectly held by the Group.
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,

e PR M

10 BEZERBIERNK - AR &S
kEH

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES L i BE WL IR =X
2008 2007
—EBENE —TZTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FH&T
Trade receivables B 5 e IR 5K 441,839 619,352
Other receivables H fib & IR 3R 122,796 21,599
564,635 640,951

Less: Provision for impairment B B 5 WIR FORE EF

of trade and other receivables (11,097) (8,502)
553,538 632,449
Prepayments ICENES 4,598 10,295
Deposits Z& 24,018 3,121
28,616 13,416
582,154 645,865

The Group generally grants credit periods ranging from 30

AEE-RETEFP ZHHH30HE120

to 120 days. Aging analysis of trade and other receivables H-ZZ5RKIRIRESTHT :
is as follows:
2008 2007
—EENFE Z—TTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAET
0 to 90 days 02 90H 547,193 565,628
91 to 180 days 912 180H 11,236 20,699
181 to 360 days 181%£360H 3,479 51,388
Over 360 days 360H K E 2,727 3,236
564,635 640,951
The carrying amounts of trade receivables, prepayments, BARIHARE  BEHEWIRRZIREE
deposits and other receivables approximate their fair values BEHAEQFEERELD -

due to their short term maturities.

There is a concentration of credit risk with respect to trade
receivables as the Group’s sales are made primarily to few
key customers. As at 31 March 2008, the trade receivables
from five largest customers accounted for approximately
83% (2007: 85%) of the above total trade receivables.

EASEEBEFEEFEFTECLRF &
AEBFTEMHEFEEZRR - R
ENF=ZA=+—"H AARFPCZEBFE
IR A LB E 5 REIRIR K 4183% (=
THF 85%) °
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Cont’d)

The Group has made a provision for impairment of trade
and other receivables of HK$2,595,000 during the year
ended 31 March 2008 (2007: HK$526,000). Such provision
was included in general and administration expenses in
the consolidated income statement.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

10 BEZERBIRNR - AR &S
Ko EL o JE WK ik X (4%)

HIE—"ZEZNF=ZA=Z=+—BILFERN -
AEEE S KHMEWIKRFREEE S
2,595,000 L (ZEZ +F : 526,000
JC)  ZREEBERRE MR EITHREAR -
WEHLEBERTH -

AEEZE S REAMEREFEEIA T
¥ SEN

2008 2007
—EBEENE _—ZTTLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Trade and other receivables B 5 & E b IR R
— HK dollar — B 18,002 20,775
- US dollar -7 427,954 602,594
— Singapore dollar — B N 1,304 8,000
— Renminbi —ARK 117,375 9,582

564,635

640,951
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10 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Cont’d)

Movement in the provision for impairment of trade and
other receivables is as follows:

e PR M
10 EZERER ALK %
K £t P U IR 3K ()

B 5 & H b IR OB EEE 2 Z B
T

2008 2007
—EENE —ZTZTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Beginning of the year F 1] 8,502 8,011
Provision for receivable impairment JE W IR 5%
(included in general and BB ERE (R
administrative expenses) BE—REITH
£RH) 2,595 526
Unused amounts reversed KA & EEE - (35)
End of the year FK 11,097 8,502

The creation and release of provision for impairment
receivables have been included in general and
administrative expense in the income statement. Amounts
charged to the allowance account are generally written
off when there is no expectation of recovering additional
cash. The directors are of the opinion that adequate
provision for uncollectible trade receivables has been made
in the consolidated financial statements.

Trade receivables that are less than three months past due
are not considered as impaired except for customers which
are in unexpected difficult economic situations.

As of 31 March, 2008, trade receivables of HK$45,865,000
(2007: HK$96,199,000) were past due but not impaired.
These relates to a number of independent customers for
whom there is no recent history of default. The aging of
these trade receivables are as follows:

HERERKERZXRZMOEE BIEH
BRXP—RETEER - EEHRP S
ke HE-—REERREERBEINR
ERME - EF2RR  TRKEZES
g%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬁ

BBOR=EA 28 HEWPIRK TR S
RERE - RIFERRE . BEIRREE
B A LBERCRERNRBERZERPA
A -

R-ZEBEENF=ZA=+—H EF5ENKIKR
X 45,865,000/ 7T (2007 © 96,199,000/%8
KB BPETERE - LERBESRS
EARAIEHERERCHEZBILRL It
EESRWIRRZIRERDTAT ¢

2008 2007

—EENE —ZTTLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FAET

0 to 90 days 0£F90H 43,191 47,885
91 to 180 days 912 180H 1,983 40,247
181 to 360 days 181%360H 201 7,301
Over 360 days 360H A E 490 766

45,865 96,199
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e PR

10 TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Cont’d)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
is the carrying value of trade receivables, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables stated above. The Group
did not hold any collateral as security.

The credit quality of trade receivables, prepayments,
deposits and other receivables that are neither past due
nor impaired has been assessed by reference to the
historical information about counterparty default rates. The
existing counterparties do not have significant defaults in
the past.

10 B
&

RB\ER -8R
Yok 5K~ TR 3K

B 2 &= A A Ll
%*/i\&ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬂwﬁ R
REE AKBERAFKETAE/REMZ
H#fm e

REBEEFPHEREHE ZRKIRR - B
N e REMRRIERZEEERE
hetfh REZEFEBRERBENZE
RELEE

11 INVENTORIES 11 BE
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
Raw materials JR AR 128,689 190,776
Work-in-progress F 2K o 38,586 39,472
Finished goods £ mm 97,077 144,726
264,352 374,974

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of sales amounted to HK$2,256,203,000 (2007:
HK$2,689,656,000).

During the year, the Group has written-back the provision
for slow-moving inventories for an amount of approximately
HK$11,470,000 (2007: Nil).

FERAERAERLINABEREZ S
%8 /5 2,256,203,0008 L (ZE T+ F :
2,689,656,000/% 7T) ©

AEBAANFELOERERBHTEEE
B2 A11,470,0008 T (ZEE +
F | o
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12 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 12 RERBITERE
Group Company
rEH QT
2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEBENE —ZTTLHF ZEBENF _—FTTLF
HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
FHBT TR T TR
Cash at bank and on hand $R1TF A KR & 73,880 52,308 428 118
Short-term bank deposits %2 BB R 17 7% X 279,260 214,972 - —
353,140 267,280 428 118
Maximum exposure EERB &S
to credit risk A 351,804 266,387 428 118
Cash and bank balances were denominated in the following RERRITEFATINEE BB :
currencies:
Group Company
rEH ARTF
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —ITTLF ZBENFE =T LHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET THERT FAET
HK dollar B 14,519 6,666 428 118
UsS dollar ET 303,693 246,417 - —
Renminbi AR 13,922 2,819 - -
Singapore dollar B Ik 20,697 10,096 - —
Others Hia% 309 1,282 - -
353,140 267,280 428 118

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits,
with maturity within 3 months, was 2.56% (2007: 4.45%)
per annum during the year ended 31 March 2008. Cash at
bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

BE_TT)/\F=A=1t—HILFER

AMBER=EARZERRITFS

Zaﬁ%

i%IJTJ%Z 56% (ZZZFLF : 4.45%) ° R
TEZANBWALNEBRITERIXZS

g
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12 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Cont'd) 12

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalent and bank overdrafts comprise the

d Financial Statements

REeERBRITER @)

BREERERME A RRASFEVR
RITBEXBHETINIER -

followings:
Group Company
KEH ¥ NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—BENE —ITT=LF ZBENE —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET F&T FET FH&T
Cash and bank balances IR & MIR1T4F 353,140 267,280 428 118
Bank overdrafts RITBEX (183) (135) - -
352,957 267,145 428 118
13 SHARE CAPITAL 13 BA
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETLF
Number of Nominal Number of Nominal
shares value shares value
B3 & B H{E gk 4= [EIREE]
‘000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$000
¥ FET T FH&T
Authorised: ETEMA
Ordinary shares of L@k gl EAE
HK$0.1 each 10781 800,000 80,000 800,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITEREHRE
R
Ordinary shares of Tmk TR EE
HK$0.1 each 10781
Beginning of the year 4] 412,284 41,228 410,512 41,051
Issued of share H R 1T 50 B8 AR 4
upon exercise 17 2 I’ 1p
of share options (B 5E14)
(Note 14) - - 1,772 177
Rights issue of shares 1T AR 2 B 1p 164,914 16,492 - —
End of the year FIK 577,198 57.720 412,284 41,228
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13 SHARE CAPITAL (Cont'd)

In November 2007, the Company issued 164,913,600
shares at HK$0.75 each for a gross amount of
HK$123,685,000 pursuant to a rights issue of 4 rights
share for 10 shares held. The net proceeds amounted to
approximately HK$121,690,000. The rights shares issued
rank pari passu in all respects with the then ordinary shares.

14 SHARE OPTIONS

With effect from May 2002, the Company has adopted a
new share option scheme, under which it may grant options
to employees of the Group (including executive directors
of the Company) and other third parties (as stipulated in
the agreement of the Share Option Agreement as dated
21 May 2002) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time
excluding for this purpose any shares issued on the exercise
of options. The exercise price will be determined by the
Company’s board of directors and shall at least be the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average closing
price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the options,
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares of
HK$0.1 each.

No options have been granted to employees and directors
of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2008
(2007: Nil).

M UA 2
e B HRRMEE
13 BRA& (&)
RZZEZE+L+F+— 8 ANRQAEIT
164,913,600k & I M B 758 1L & 58 4
123,685,000/ 7T * R IEEHF T AR5 4 m
BlRh  FESE2E2FREAEHREL
121,690,000 8 7T ° BT 2 HBRKRH S FHE
RIBEEAEKRAR -

14 Bk

ARBAR_ZEZ_FRARA -—EHBER
#itE - IREAAREZEE (BREAR
FAZHMTER) RE=F(R_ET_F1
A+ —BZBREEZHAE) RHEBKR
BAERBEARARR BN ERZUAR
AIERERTRAEE (TERERITERBK
REMEITZIN)30% "R o ZBRAETTE
BRBARRZEEEETE - U () ARF
B REBRERTH ZWHE () BEE
TEREANIERXZBARAF KD ZF
BUTHE K (i) AR AR I 2 mESK10
Bl =FEUABRSERE -

ARRBE_TZENF=ZA=+—HILF
EAYERNEEREERHBRE (T
&) -
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e BRRME
14 SHARE OPTIONS (Contd)

Details of movement of share options under the new share

14 BRE @)
HEREAS CBRERBE_TTNEF

option schemes during the year ended 31 March 2008 “A=Ct+—HLEFEZEHFE
were:
Number of shares
BRESR
Lapsed as a
Exercise Granted Exercised result of
price  Beginning during Adjustment during termination of ~ End of
Date of grant Exercise period (note 1) of year the year (note 1) the year  employment year
) AR L CERAL
RABH TSR (W) 9 xEECRA (1) AEEERE  BAMKA EE
HKS '000 ‘000 '000 '000 '000 ‘000
BT T i T il il f
New sharf option scheme
FRRETE
22 May 2002 22 May 2002 to 1230 100 - 5.8 - - 10585
ZEECFRACTCH 21 May 2012
“E2-FRA-+CRE
ZE3-ZERAZ+-A
1 November 2002 1 January 2003 to 1.560 3,020 - 150.345 - (450) 2,720.345
“FR_E+-A-H 31 October 2012
Z2T-f-f-RE
ZEF-CFTA=t-A
1 December 2003 1 January 2006 to 2.340 7,716 - 418.626 - (560) 7,574.626
“EEZF1-f-H 30 November 2013
“EREINE-R-BE
“B-CET-H=1A
27 April 2004 1 January 2005 to 1.790 2,89 - 116.766 - (900) 2,112.766
ZEEMENA-TLA 26 April 2014
“E2ERE-A-R%
ZE-MEMAZTHA
1 February 2005 1 January 2006 to 2.930 4,620 - 21027 - (42.34) 4.847.93
“ESRE-A-H 31 January 2015
“EERE-A-BE
“E-1E-A=t1-H
7 February 2005 1 July 2005 to 3.160 11,400 - 549.90 - (2,000) 9,949.90
“ZTRE-AA 6 February 2015
“2Tnf¥tR-RE
ZE-RFARH
29,752 = 1,511,757 = (3,952.34) 27,311.417
Note: B 5
(i) Represented the adjusted exercise price and the adjustment (i) RERZZEZELF+— AT N\AHRKREL

of the number of the outstanding share options following

the rights issue on 28 November 2007.

?;%Zﬁﬁt%T%&%E?Qﬁ%éz*ﬁﬁﬁ%%%z
B o
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14 SHARE OPTIONS (Cont'd)

Details of movement of share options under the old and

e MR ME
14 WIRAE (55)
FEMBE B2 R EARE ST L

new share option schemes during the year ended 31 March FZA=T—"BLEFEZEHFS
2007 were:
Number of shares
BREHA
Lapsed as a
Granted Exercised result of
Exercise Beginning during during  termination of End of
Date of grant Exercise period price of year the year the year emél%)(r&ent year
‘\\m{ JJ:
Ok TSR TRER Ef AEEERE AEREOE  ERAMAK £k
\HK_$ ‘000 '000 ‘000 '000 ‘000
A i T i i T
Old share;option scheme
ERRED
20 September 2000 20 September 2000 to 0.300 820 - (500) (320) -
“ETREAACTH 30 November 2006
ZEEZENAZTRE
ZEERET-A=TH
New sharf option scheme
FERESH
22 May 2002 22 May 2002 to 1300 200 - - (100) 100
ZEECFRACTCH 21 May 2012
“E2-FRA-TCRE
ZE-ZERACT-H
1 November 2002 1 January 2003 to 1.650 3,570 - (550) - 3,020
“ET_E+-A-H 31 October 2012
Z2T-f-f-RHEZ
ZE-CFTA=T-R
1 December 2003 1 January 2006 to 2.475 8,678 - (562) (400) 7,716
“EEZF1-f-H 30 November 2013
“EREINE-R-BE
“B-Z¥1-H=tH
27 April 2004 1 January 2005 to 1.900 3,136 - (160) (80) 2,896
ZEEMENA-TLA 26 April 2014
ZFTRF-A-RAE
ZE-WEMAZTRA
1 February 2005 1 January 2006 to 3.150 4,890 - - (270) 4,620
“ESRE-A-H 31 January 2015
“2TRF-R-HE
ZE-nf-A=t-H
7 February 2005 1 July 2005 to 3350 11,400 - - - 11,400
“FTRf-AtH 6 February 2015
“TERELA-RE
“EZ-RE_ARH
32,694 - (1,772) (1,170) 29,752
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14 SHARE OPTIONS (Cont'd) 14 BRE #)
Out of the 27,311,417 outstanding options (2007: 2731, 7RTEZERER (Z2ZF L
29,752,000), 24,432,297 options (2007: 20,864,000) were & :29,752,000) ' 524,432,297 (ZFZF+
exercisable. No options were exercised in 2008 (2007: % :20,864,000) FEARER] TITE - £=F
1,772,000 shares being issued at an average exercise price TNFREEBREFTE(ZEZTLF -
of HK$1.55). The related weighted average share price at 1,772,0008% LA F 51T (B 1.558 L3 1T) ©
the time of exercise was HK$NIL (2007: HK$2.94) per share. ETEREE s NETLTHRESTRES
T (ZFZTEF :29487T) °
15 OTHER RESERVES 15 Htif#E
(a) Group (a) ZA&KHE
Capital Share-based
Share Capital redemption  compensation
premium reserve reserve reserve Total
Ex UREXfZ
R EE EXff {EE kA1 At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET ThET THET ThET THET
Balance at 1 April 2006 “REAEMA-BZER 84915 5,900 449 10,658 101,922
Employee share option scheme EEBRE:TE
- value of employee services - EERKER - - - 3,328 3,328
Transfer to retained earnings BREXANEZRE
upon lapse of share options ekl - - - (321) (321)
Issue of shares upon exercise IEBRRENETLZ
of share options B 2,576 = = = 2,576
Transfer to share premium TEBRENEZRN
upon exercise of share options wfE 325 - - (325) -
Balance as at 31 March 2007 “E%2t%=A=1+-H
A 33 87,816 5,900 449 13,340 107,505
Balance at 1 April 2007 “ERLEMA-A BB 87,816 5,900 449 13,340 107,505
Rights issue of shares BTER R 105,198 - - - 105,198
Employee share option scheme EEBREHE
- value of employee services - EERKER - - - 1,079 1,079
Transfer to retained earnings BREXAMEZRE
upon lapse of share options kil - - - (1,456) (1,456)
Balance as at 31 March 2008 “2Z/\E=A=+-H

LEH 193,014 5,900 449 12,963 212,326
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15 OTHER RESERVES (Cont'd)

e MR ME
15 Hitf#E (&)

(b) Company (b) ZAAF
Capital Share-based
Share redemption Contributed  compensation
premium reserve surplus reserve Total
EX UREX 2
3% B BOfE BARH WemE aft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TATL TEL TEL TEL
Balance at 1 April 2006 —TE FMA-A
25 84,915 449 193,185 10,658 289,207
Employee share option scheme EERRESE =
- value of employee services - EEBRBER - - - 3328 3,328
Transfer to retained earnings BREAAMEZRE
upon lapse of share options 4 Al - - - (321) (321)
Issue of shares upon exercise IERERENET
of share options &t 2,576 - - - 2,576
Transfer to share premium upon T EEREMEZ R ()
exercise of share options WiE 325 = = (325) =
Balance as at 31 March 2007 “ET+F=A=1-H
A1 87,816 449 193,185 13,340 294,790
Balance at 1 April 2007 “TELFMA-A
LR 87,816 449 193,185 13,340 294,790
Rights issue of shares BITHR R A 105,198 - - - 105,198
Employee share option scheme EERRESE
- value of employee services - EERBER - - - 1,079 1,079
Transfer to retained earnings BREAAMEZRE
upon lapse of share options 4 7 - - = (1,456) (1,456)
Balance as at 31 March 2008 “ET\E=ZA=1—H
A1 193,014 449 193,185 12,963 399,611

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
contributed surplus is distributable to shareholders, subject
to the condition that the company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus
if (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due, or (ii) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its
liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

REBRE-NN-FRAER (BE)
BABBRAEDIKTRE - BRI MK
BgOARBTEMNIBAE  HG)H
BEZAZREBEESSAMPIRNEBRLK
HEBTBRAURKRMDBRE 2 AFTEE
AIRRAAEEM « XK - R
ABBRIELE DK °
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16 TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

Aging analysis of trade and bills payables is as follows:

16 BEZEMNERARER
BHEMRARZEZRRDNMAT -

2008 2007

—EENFE —EELF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FET

0 to 90 days 0% 90 H 323,818 416,870
91 to 180 days 91 £ 180 H 20,993 20,046
181 to 360 days 181 £ 360 H 4,150 10,914
Over 360 days 360 H LA E 2,418 3,775
351,379 451,605

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and bills
payables are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBZEZRMNKRRRERZREEMN

TIE®REML :

2008 2007

—BENE —ZTTLHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

HK dollar okt 79,093 97,043
US dollar e 232,654 299,067
Renminbi AR 34,959 52,571
Euro B 7% 3,066 2,043
Japanese Yen =y 692 531
Others HAb 915 350
351,379 451,605
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17 BORROWINGS 17 B8
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Non-current JEM B
Long-term bank borrowings, secured RHEETEE  AEH 188,700 90,875
Current Vi)
Bank overdrafts RITEX 183 135
Trust receipt loans EEREBEER 76,503 142,210
Short-term bank borrowings RERITEE 54,000 117,607
Current portion of long-term RERITEE 2 BNEERH -
bank borrowings, secured BEHEA 85,875 57,750
216,561 317,702
Total borrowings BwIEE 405,261 408,577
(@)  The maturity of the Group’s borrowings is as follows: (a) AEEEEZHHAWAT :
Short-term bank
Long-term bank borrowings and
borrowings bank overdrafts Trust receipt loans
REARTEE EHRRTEERRTEX EERBER
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

SEENE “STLF SEENE —ITLF SERNF CIELF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHR  TET  TER  TEx  TER  TEn

Within 1 year —FR 85,875 57,750 54,183 117,742 76,503 142,210
Between 1 and 2 years —EEFHE 70,000 45,875 - - - -
Between 2 and 5 years MEERE 118,700 45,000 - - - -

Wholly repayable within REFAEHER
5 years 274,575 148,625 54,183 117,742 76,503 142,210
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17 BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

d Financial Statements

(b)  The average effective interest rates of the Group’s

17 B8 (#)

(b) AEERZEERZRITEEFHER

bank borrowings at the balance sheet date are as MEMT
follows:
2008 2007
—EENFE CZZTTLF
Long-term bank borrowings, RHRITEE
at floating rate FREX 2.55% 4.92%
Short-term bank borrowings, RERITEE
at fixed rate EEE - 5.94%
Short-term bank borrowings, RERITEE
at floating rate SRS 2.93% 5.24%
Trust receipt loans = REUUR B 3K 3.68% 5.13%
Bank overdrafts RITEX 5.61% 7.96%

(c)  The carrying amounts of the borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

(0 BEZREESBEATINEEREL

2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
HK dollar e 405,261 401,470
Renminbi AR #& - 7,107
405,261 408,577
The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their BEZKREOSEEL QN FEER -

fair values.
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary
differences under the liability method using a principal
taxation rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%).

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off and when the
deferred income taxes relate to the same tax jurisdiction.
The following amounts, determined after appropriate
offsetting, are shown in the consolidated balance sheet:

e PR M
18 JEIEHH

BELERERBABELIMNERNEZELRTEMN
RI175% (ZFBZ+F : 17.5%) tE2 & E
& -

EHRTEREN A SIRELEN IR E E EEER
HABEEE MELEMEHYER BB
WRE - I BEEHBEERRERAR
BEMEEKE - Bt ABERER - T2
BEGAREERBRAIIK :

2008 2007

—EENE —_ZTZTLF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Deferred tax assets RIERRIBEE (387) (1,042)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEEE 8,753 7,536
8,366 6,494

As at 31 March 2008, the Group had unprovided deferred
tax assets of approximately HK$4,022,124 (2007:
HK$114,000) primarily representing the tax effect of
cumulative tax losses (subject to agreement by relevant
tax authorities) which can be carried forward indefinitely.

The movement of the deferred tax assets and liabilities
prior to offsetting of balances within the same taxation

jurisdiction is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

RZEBEENF=ZA=+—"8  AEEHNX
VERERL A 2 B EE 414,022,124 7T (=
ZELF:114,00087T)  EEERKRRET
MEEBEBEZREYE (AXEBHREEKER
B) ZLHEUAERBAMET -
B — R E s ST EEERT - BT
BHEEMBBEZEHWNOT -

EERERE

Accelerated
depreciation

and total

IR E R EF

HK$'000

FET

As at 31 March 2006 —TEERF=ZA=+—H 9,946
Credited to income statement EEGZRTA (996)
As at 31 March 2007 —EE+F=A=+—H 8,950
Credited to income statement EEGRTA (197)
As at 31 March 2008 —EENF=ZA=1+—H 8,753
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18 DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont'd)

d Financial Statements

18 EIERIE (&)

Deferred tax assets EEREEE
Tax losses Others Total
BiE Hit 4ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE  TERT AL
As at 31 March 2006 —EERF=ZA=+—H (439) (478) (917)
(Credited)/charged rEmR GIA) Nk
to the income statement (1,731) 192 (1,539)
As at 31 March 2007 —EE+F=A=+—H (2,170) (286) (2,456)
Charged/(credited) rEERMBR S GTA)
to the income statement 2,170 (101) 2,069
As at 31 March 2008 —EENF=ZA=+—H - (387) (387)
A summary of deferred tax (assets) and liabilities prior to Bl —Efit R 2 & G HEEEA - BT
offsetting of balances within the same taxation jurisdiction B(EE)RABEZHENT :
is as follows:
2008 2007
—BENE ZZEELF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHT
Deferred tax assets EEFHIBE E (387) (2,456)
Deferred tax liabilities REFHIBEE 8,753 8,950
8,366 6,494
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS
— GROUP

(@) Defined contribution plans

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”), a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly contributions to
the scheme at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. Both the
Group’s and the employees’ contributions are subject to a
cap of HK$1,000 per month and thereafter contributions
are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
the Group contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans
for its employees in Mainland China. The Group contributes
approximately 10% (2007: 10%) of the basic salaries of
its employees, and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations
payable to retired employees.

During the year, the aggregate amount of the Group's
contributions to the aforementioned pension schemes was
approximately HK$3,859,000 (2007: HK$3,269,000).

(b) Provision for long service payments

Provision for long service payments represents the Group’s
obligations for long service payments to its employees in
Hong Kong on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance.

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method, discounted to its present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group’s retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
Such long service payment obligations are valued by Mercer
Human Resource Consulting Ltd, an independent qualified
actuary valuer.

e PR M

19 RUKBENEE-FXEH

(a) REMKEE

AEEELHBT A RELEBHTELAES
el ([REeETEll) - RESFTEBRTE
BENRFTE AR URTATIE - BIEA
HeiE  AEBKEEEAVZEHERE
BB (& RBHMEAESREN)5%E
ZETEER R - EXTHES 2B AHRK
LA1,0008 A LR - B 2 5k BB B FE
ME -

RETBEZRATE  AKEARARTEIE
EmREZBREBRKGSIEL R -
AEEERETREEELRFHFEH10% (=
TTLF - 10%) FHHK > MEBERETHE
BRRAR S T H SR IKR BN A B BIEHE
A - RRKEEZMARKEXE —#
B K& B 2 AR ARG SR IE -

RAFERNAEEH il RIKTEEL 2
4 A 3,859,0008 L (ZEZE + F:
3,269,000/ JT) ©

(b) REBRBEEE

EHRBZEB/AIEBEREZTB(RBIE
YEETERATRILEREEMINZE
RGBT EZEE -

Z B BRI EMEEER E
;‘JrﬁHEEETE&TDI?%ZKEl%&ﬁiﬁ%ﬂ—$%
BERAIE 2 BATHEE - ZRHRBER
(=R AVAS) éqﬂ’r“’“ﬁﬁ%ﬁ/\ﬁéfﬁ@?ﬂ
BERDAEE -
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS 19 RAKRBNEE-F&E (&)
— GROUP (cont'd)
(b) Provision for long service payments (Cont’d) (b) RERBLEHE (2)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet EHREEERERERZEERTIAR
are determined as follows: EE :
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Present value of unfunded obligations EHREEERRRARIE
and liability in the consolidated EERBEZRE
balance sheet 9,793 6,053
The amounts recognised in the consolidated income EiReBaikBR2eBOT

statement are as follows:

2008 2007

—EENFE _—_ZTTLHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THER FAT

Interest cost F B AR 287 279

Net actuarial losses recognised ERRAZBEEE 3,453 80
Total, included in employee Gt GIRNEERT

benefit expenses (Note 22) R m) (fsE22) 3,740 359

The above charges were included in general and NESTHBREE—MEITHREANRA -
administrative expenses.

Movements of the provision for long service payments of AEERARGSEGEHEOT -
the Group are as follows:

2008 2007

—EENFE —TTLHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Beginning of the year F 1] 6,053 5,977
Provision for current year (Note 22) RNEEEE (MHaE22)

3,740 359

Payments made during the year REDHHK - (283)

End of the year FK 9,793 6,053
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19 RETIREMENT BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS

— GROUP (cont'd)

(b) Provision for long service payments (Cont’d) (b)

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

RUBRBEEE ()

IRz EIERERKRMOT

e PR M

19 BARBENEE-F5EH @)

2008 2007
—BEN\F -2
Per annum Per annum
s =X
Discount rate 8538 = 2.70% 4.30%
Expected rate of future salary increases RIRFH B < T8 BRI = & 3.00% 3.00%
20 REVENUE 20 WA
2008 2007
—BBENE _—TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Turnover e
Sales of merchandise from HE
— Metal and plastic business — e BBER 1,321,560 1,480,918
— Electronic manufacturing —BFEERIER
services business 1,478,407 1,839,112
2,799,967 3,320,030
Other gains H b U 25
Rental income Ha A 3,007 3,176
Management service fee income EEEBWRA
(Note 31) (PfF5E31) - 4,891
3,007 8,067
Total revenue A H A 2,802,974 3,328,097
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21 EXPENSES BY NATURE 21 RMESEZEHR
2008 2007
—EENFE _—_ZTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Cost of inventories FE KA 2,256,203 2,689,656
Depreciation of property, plant mME BERRKBZITE

and equipment (Note 7) (BFzE7) 59,394 52,978
Amortisation of leasehold land and T E T Jo o+ b (5 A 2 5

land use rights (Note 6) (MF3E6) 1,054 1,050
Employee benefit expenses (including EERMAZ (BREEZMS)

Directors’ emoluments) (Note 22) (Bt 7E22) 234,207 215,375
Operating lease rental of premises MEZKEHERES 14,707 20,666
Net exchange gain M 5 T R (8.889) (2,296)
Auditors’ remuneration 1% SR B & 1,650 1,598
Provision for impairment of trade B 5 & E fth FE WK SR E =B

and other receivables (Note 10) (FF5E10) 2,595 526
Write-back of provision for amount JE W BEe i R B IR SR B 2 B

due from associated companies - (1,874)
Write-off of other receivables H th & UK IR X2 1 5H 918 —
Write-back of provision for obsolete and BRE&E BT B E 2 B #

slow-moving inventories (Note 11) (BFEE11) (11,470) —
Net loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  BELZEZ

and equipment B 18 % 8 3,192 367
Other expenses HEmHEX 222,543 199,657

2,776,104 3,177,703

Representing: (e
Cost of sales 84 & B A 2,623,931 3,024,002
Distribution and selling expenses DIENIEEERR 34,948 40,343
General and administrative expenses —BERITEHER 117,225 113,358

2,776,104 3,177,703
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22 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES —
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS

(@) Employee benefit expenses during the year are as

e PR M
22 EARNZYL GFEESHS

(a) AEEEREBMHWT :

follows:

2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Wages and salaries - IT&E 225,529 208,419
Pension costs — defined contribution plans 3B KK AR — 57 E #f Z 5T 2 3,859 3,269
Provision for long service payment KRR & EH 3,740 359

Share option expenses for options granted B TEENEEBRIE L E A
to Directors and employees 1,079 3,328
234,207 215,375

(b) Directors and senior management

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31
March 2008 is set out below:

(b) EEREREEAS

HE_ZTZN\F=-A=+—HILEREEZ
MEsRmT

Employer's
contribution
Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees Salary’ bonuses scheme Total
MEgHz BEEAEHE
EZel we Fé A 2 5 af
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai fiE B - 4,770 398 12 5,180
Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis BRBEE - 1,034 395 12 1,441
Mr. Lee Shu Ki FHEEE - 971 250 12 1,233
Mr. Wong Shun Pang? BB L& - 650 - 8 658
Non-executive director FHITEZE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming? fEPEE 233 333 - 2 568
Independent non-executive director B HHTEE
Mr. So Wai Chun RERLE 100 - - - 100
Mr. Chan Shui Sum, Raymond BimEE 100 = = = 100
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing HaHEE 60 - - - 60

‘ Included the amounts of share-based compensation, which
are determined based on the fair value of the share options
granted to the relevant Directors at the date of grant and
recognised over the vesting period.

! ELRBEABRNAERZHE  ZAHEER
BRETEMESEREEZ A FEEERE
FEAAAR -
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22 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES —
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

(b) Directors and senior management (Cont’d)

2 Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming resigned as executive director and re-
designated as non-executive director with effective from 1
June 2007 and Mr. Wong Shun Pang resigned as executive
director with effective from 1 December 2007.

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended 31
March 2007 is set out below:

22 EERAZH—ERESEHME

(%)

() EERBREEAR (B)

2 RIZBZLFRA—H  AEREERE
BITEFLERZERIFATEERRN
§§t¢+:ﬂ — B EIREE & EBERTT

BE_ZTLHF=-A=1+—"HIREEF
P& 7R T

Employer's
contribution
Discretionary to pension
Name of Director Fees Salary’ bonuses scheme Total
BMERHe BERKESHE
Exsl e e i A3 aft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TET TRT TRT TRT
Executive director HiTEE
Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai (EFC- ok - 4,770 3,901 12 8,683
Mr. Ho Cheuk Ming fEREE - 1,156 73 12 1,241
Mr. Kwok Wing Kin, Francis BEEE - 1,146 1,748 12 2,906
Mr. Lee Shu Ki TR A - 1,066 661 12 1,739
Mr. Wong Shun Pang BIENE £ 4 - 1,174 465 12 1,651
Independent non-executive director B FHTEE
Mr. So Wai Chun BEMLE 100 _ _ _ 100
Mr. Chan Shui Sum, Raymond R E 100 - - - 100
Mr. Fong Hoi Shing B E 60 - - - 60

! Included the amounts of share-based compensation, which
are determined based on the fair value of the share options
granted to the relevant Directors at the date of grant and
recognised over the vesting period.

No directors waived any emoluments during the year (2007:
Nil). No incentive payment for joining the Group or
compensation for loss of office was paid/payable to any
director during the year (2007: Nil).

! EERERBABRNAER 2HE - ZME
BREXTARESERESZAFEETE
REFBHAANRK

AEEMEEREMNE (CTTLF -
) o TRED S S T E L
O 3| £ 0 B A S B 2K R AT 2 A ME (—
T m)



el Annual Report 2007/08 4 4

Mok o

181

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES —

EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c)  Five highest paid individuals (c)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include three (2007: three)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis

TEBREHFMAL

e PR M

22 EERAXL—BREEEHN:
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ (%)

AEREBATERRFMALBE =4
—ETEF ZR)EF HMEEHER
EXDHT e RAFREBK R (ZFTTL

presented above. The emoluments payable to the remaining F: ZHR)ERAFATIZENMEOT -
two (2007: two) individual during the year are as follows:

2008 2007
—EENFE Z—TTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FET
Basic salaries and allowances' EAFH & KRR 1,660 1,873
Discretionary bonus B 15 B 2 TE AL 279 1,779
Pension costs — defined contribution plans B & KA — 7 E H ZET 2 24 24
1,963 3,676

The emoluments fell within the following band:

ZEMEETIEAHEA :

2008 2007

—BENE —"TEZLF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FHT

HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001/% 7T £ 1,000,000 7T 1 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/% 7T = 1,500,000/% 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T & 2,000,000/ 7T - 2

1 Included the amounts of share-based compensation, which
are determined based on the fair value of the share options
granted to the relevant employees at the date of grant and
recognised over the vesting period.

No emolument was paid to the five highest paid individuals
(including Directors and other employees) as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2007: Nil).

==

BX () 5T

RERRA

! EERERARNBERZHE - ZMER
BERTAREEBRER ZATEEERE
FEBHAAR -

At (RIEEE R 0B
B) 3 S L B 1 o Sk A 2 1
—ETLF R
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23 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS 23 BEfi& Uk A B KA
2008 2007
—EBEENFE _—_ZTTLHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Interest expense on: FMERX :
- bank borrowings wholly - RNAFREHEE
repayable within five years ZHRITEE 20,071 23,670
— others —HAb - 94
Finance costs B 75 Bk AR 20,071 23,764
Finance income — Interest income A — F A (14,853) (11,104)
Net finance costs B 75 K AR 58 5,218 12,660
24 TAXATION 24 BiE
The Company is exempted from Bermuda taxation until AAREREBAREREE_T—RF
2016. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the Ik - BAENGHIIBRBARF 2Bt BRT
rate of 17.5% (2007: 17.5%) on the estimated assessable wAIE17.5% (ZFZTELF  17.5%) 2 X
profit for the year. IR o
The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income EHREEERZHEIHBERAT
statement represents:
2008 2007
—EENE —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Current taxation: Hong Kong profits tax WITHIE - BBENGEW
— current year —REE 5,146 14,586
— under-provision in prior years —FF2TREE 1,486 755
Deferred taxation (Note 18) RIEFE (B 5E18) 1,872 (2,535)
Taxation charge 1A 8,504 12,806
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24 TAXATION (Cont'd)

The tax on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using the profits
tax rate in Hong Kong, the Group’s home country, as
follows:

e IR MR
24 B E (48)

AEBAEBRUEAGEN 2 HEERERA
BERZNEHRE (REBALBER) Mat&E
ZEWMBLLERWT ¢

2008 2007

—EENFE ZTTLHF

HK$'000 HK$000

THER FET

Profit before taxation B B¢ A& A 21,652 137,734
Calculated at a taxation rate of BHE 17.5%

17.5% (2007: 17.5%) ZETEF - 175%) 5 E 3,789 24,103
Income not subject to taxation BARD ZWA (15,406) (15,606)
Expenses not deductible for GIE L7 s

taxation purposes 18,061 4,156
Under provision in prior years FTE2TIRER 1,486 755
Utilisation of previously FERATFRER

unrecognised tax losses 5 & 1B (1,596) (602)
Reversal of previously recognised deferred R AIEERELEMSHREE

tax assets on tax losses Z B8 2 BB 2,170 —
Taxation charge FIE S 8,504 12,806

With the new PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law becoming
effective on 1 January 2008, the income tax rate of all the
Group's subsidiaries in PRC are subject to Mainland China
Enterprise income tax at a rate of 25%

HMPBEECRABERER _SZENF—A—
BEER  AEERERTEZHERF
ZEFEMBHERABE2%
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e PR

25 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company is
dealt with in the financial statements of the Company to
the extent of approximately HK$1,869,000 (2007: profit
of HK$87,293,000).

26 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year.

25 ARAREFEAEMGRR

ARARIBREFREABRLHEELBIE—2E
BAARXRAIRE 2EEX 1,869,000 % 7T
(ZZEZ L% : )% F187,293,000/& L) °

26 BREF

SIREA R TR B AR G A
(s R A4 P B 3647 2 2 8 AR A4 - 45
BEtE -

2008 2007
—EBRENE —ZTTLF
Profit attributable to equity holders of ZANYNEIY EES RN
the Company (in HK$'000) FE 15 A (TR LA 13,148 124,928
Weighted average number of ERTERERKRZ
ordinary shares in issue INHE 5 8
(in thousand shares) (F &) 474,971 422,319
Basic earnings per share B IR & AR5 A
(HK cents per share) (A BN ET) 2.8 29.6

Diluted earnings per share is calculated adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Company has outstanding share options, which have
a dilutive effect on the ordinary shares. A calculation has
been performed to determine the number of shares that
could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the
average annual market share price of the Company’s
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to outstanding share options.

R T AR T8 2 R
BB AE - RIRE BB LR
FIRRBE 5 -

ARRB#HTEBR ZBEE - REX
TEBREMMcABEZEREE B
EEAVFE(BEERANRARRND ZFHFE
mE) ABAZKRMNDERE -
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26 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cont'd)

26 BR=RA (&)

The number of shares calculated as above is compared BIAEFRFEZRHHE @ ERZBER
with the number of shares that would have been issued EITEMEBEEZETZROEB EHLELE o
assuming the exercise of the share options.
2008 2007
—BEENFE _—ZTTLHF
Profit attributable to equity holders of RARIRERFEB A
the Company (in HK$'000) FEAG % ) (F B TTED) 13,148 124,928
Weighted average number of EETL@ERZ
ordinary share in issue INHE 55 81
(in thousand shares) (FR&&r) 474,971 422,319
Adjustment for share options BixE 2 HE
(in thousand shares) (F &) a1 2,091
Weighted average number of TEEREE
ordinary shares for diluted i N 2 AR
earnings per share Z INHE 5 8
(in thousand shares) (FR&&t) 475,012 424,410
Diluted earnings per share TR E &% A
(HK cents per share) (FRZ AL ET) 2.8 29.4

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
calculation of the 2007 basic and diluted earnings per A

share has been adjusted for the effect of ri
November 2007.

ghts issue in

RAE_ZEZLFESREAREE
EBRBRZMEFAHCHRN -_TT L
FH—AHRKRZEEFELARE -

27 DIVIDENDS 27 RKE
2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interim dividend paid, of HK0.75 cents BT HR A
(2007: HK8.5 cents) per ordinary share — 5L EAR0.758 U
(ZTZLF :8.5#81l) 4,329 35,044
Final dividend, proposed, of NIL BURKHER B
(2007: HK3.0 cents) per ordinary share — L BERE
(ZZZ L5 3.081) - 12,369
4,329 47,413

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final

dividend in respect of 2007/08.

B2 RERBE -

EERATHER —FFL/ —FENF
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28 CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT

28 HmEBHERER

Analysis of changes in financing is as follows: MEBEEEZ2HMAT -
Share capital Short-term Long-term Trust
and share bank bank receipt
premium  borrowings borrowings loans
IR 2 & S RH 5t
R 17 3 (8 BITEE RITEE KEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2006 —ETERF
=RA=+—H” 125,966 47,491 206,375 181,084
Issue of shares upon TR
exercise of share options M3 17 2 %179 2,753 - — —
Transfer to share 17158 i Ak e
premium upon EEES
exercise of share 0= E
options 325 = = =
New bank loans MRTTEE - 802,560 - 577,625
Repayment of bank loans fEEIRITEE - (732,444) (57,750) (616,499)
As at 31 March 2007 —ETLF
=A=+—H 129,044 117,607 148,625 142,210
Net proceeds from rights 1T A% 2
issue of shares IR0 F T8 K 121,690 — - -~
New bank loans MRITEE - 439,680 200,000 336,751
Repayment of bank loans fEERITEE - (503,287) (74,050) (402,458)
As at 31 March 2008 —EENF
=—A=+—H 250,734 54,000 274,575 76,503
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29 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

The Group and the Company had the following significant
commitments and contingent liabilities which were not
provided for in the financial statements:

(@) Capital commitments

The Group had the following authorised and contracted
capital commitments:

e PR M

29 EERIAREE

AEBREARBA AT REEARMBHRE
P REEZEZRERIAEE

(a) BAEE
AEBENTERERBN 2B AAIE

Group Company
rEH QT
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENE —ZTZTLF ZBENFE —IZTZ=TLHF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET THERT FAET
Investment in a subsidiary M B QR Z
®E 62,400 19,000 - -
Construction of factory 7 A B A R S
premises in e
Mainland China 28,930 23,845 - -
Purchase of property, BEWE -
plant and equipment & B K& & 20,128 6,030 - -
111,458 48,875 - -

(b) Operating lease commitments

The Group had lease commitments in respect of land and
buildings under various non-cancellable operating lease
agreements extending to October 2055. The total
commitments payable are analysed as follows:

(b) RWEHEEFRRE

AEBEZEBRE_ZTAAF+HAEH
NI EHEHEZ K EHERS -
RIENAESFTOT

Group Company
rEHE NN
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EENFE —TTLF ZBENF —I=TLF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET THET FAT
Amounts payable e & &
Not later than one year BB —F 9,947 9,007 - -
Later than one year and il —F Rk
not later than five years THBBARF 27,775 23,940 - =
More than five years BidAaF 258,461 241,447 - =
296,183 274,394 - =
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e PR

29 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

(b) Operating lease commitments (Cont’d)

The Group had future minimum lease rental receivable
under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

29 EERJAKE @)

(b) REHEREE)

ARERRZ TAMYZ CEREZRE
U E R

2008 2007

—EENFE _—_ZTTLHF

HK$'000 HK$’000

FTER FAT

Not later than one year TR —F 1,415 721
Later than one year but fEiE—F

not later than five years ERNBBRF 2,494 1,965

More than five years fBA AT 399 860

4,308 3,546

(c) Guarantees

As at 31 March 2008, the Company has given guarantees
totalling approximately HK$1,340,249,000 (2007:
HK$824,750,000) to financial institutions in connection
with the banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries. Such
banking facilities utilised as at 31 March 2008 amounted
to HK$405,261,000 (2007: HK$408,577,000).

30 BANKING FACILITIES

As at 31 March 2008, the Group's banking facilities were
secured by corporate guarantees provided by the Company
and certain of its subsidiaries.

(c) HER&R

R-EZENF=A=+—H  XQFHT
MEMESRIZHERITHRE TEMHBE LR
Al 7 #AYEIR S 58 /51,340,249,0008 T (==
T+ : 824,750,000 ) c RZZEZEN
FZA=Z+—H EBFERAZETHREAS
405,261,000 Tt (=Z &2 T £ F
408,577,000/ 71,) °

30 MITAME
R-ZENA=ZA=+—H0  AEER]T

BMENARARETHE AR Z ARER
TR o
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31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31 BEAXLXRS
The directors regard Pearl Court Company Limited, which %E =R BPearl Court Company Limited + #¥
owns 42.24% in the Company’s shares, to be the ultimate BARRAFA2.24% 0 - B R R IZEH
controlling party of the Company. FE o
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HEBEEATZXRS:
2008 2007
—EENE —ZTTLF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 2 THERT FAT
Sales of goods and services: HEEYRRY :
Sales to associated companies HE THE QA (i) - 1,519
Purchase of goods and services: BEEYREH :
Purchase of raw materials from A Bt & A A
associated companies BEEYH (i) 2,514 17
Purchase of machinery from M) B & A 7]
associated companies BERES (ii) - 462
2,514 479
Others: Hft :
Rental charged by Kings Lion TS T
Development Limited ERBBR AT (if), (i) 1,434 1,339
Management service fee income earned m) Bt & 2 &) YER
from associated companies EEBRA (ii) - 4,891

1,434 6,230
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e PR

31 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Cont’d)

(@) Transactions with related parties (Cont’d)

Notes:

(i) Sales to and purchase from associated companies were
conducted at prices and terms mutually agreed by the
respective parties.

(i) These related party transactions were conducted in accordance
with the terms of the agreements.

(iii) Kings Lion Development Limited is beneficially owned and

controlled by Mr. Ho Cheuk Fai, a director of the Company
and his family members.

(b) Key management compensation

31 BEALXRF (&)

(a) HBEEALZXS: (&)

B =
() HEEARZHERBERKBEEBAL
BHREZ ERRIERET -

(i) HEBALIXZHUUBZEBZZGIH

(i) BHHEERAT G AR TE S AR
i L

by FEEEEME

2008 2007

—EENE —TTLHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHERT FHETT

Wages, salaries, allowances and bonuses B « T%& - @B RIEA 18,692 28,430
Pension costs — defined contribution plan  BRK A — R FEHHETE 159 192
18,851 28,622

(c) Balance with related parties

Saved as disclosed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no balance with related parties
as at 31 March 2008 (2007: Nil).

(c) EBRBALZHERR

RZEZENF=ZA=+—BBREERGFE
ﬁﬁ%#&%ﬁﬁ?%l\ o N6 (B B $/\i
HEBR(ZETLF &) -
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Ten-Year Financial Summary +HF B EHE

The results of the Group for the last ten financial years
ended 31 March 2008 and the assets and liabilities of the
Group as at 31 March 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003,
2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 are as follows:

AEERE_TENF=_A=F+—HLT
EHRFE2EE  RR—AANE
TEEE T —F - —_FTF_F .
FE=F _FTWF  _FTTAF
E+—EZ§E&E%WT

RESULTS E 4
Year ended 31 March
BE=B=1-HLEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
ZEENF S5+ % CT5F Z5%0F CTTME —T%-F “532F “35-F Z5%%F -ANE
HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$ 000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET THEL ThEL ThEn ThET THEL ThEn ThET ThEn ThEL
(Restated)
(231)
Revenue WA 2,802,974 3,328,097 3,597,242 2571537 1,697,925 1,743,768 1,162,395 898322 663,189 593,343
Operating profit Yyl 26,870 150,394 218540 174,766 104,907 140,374 90,587 43,556 30,699 25,362
Share of loss of an EEBENTER
associated company - - - (10,234) (1,766) - - - - -
Finance income BEBA 14,853 11,104 10,127 3,964 1,620 3,101 4,095 2,857 2,939 2,913
Finance costs BBERA (20071)  (23764)  (4531) (87200 (6,145  (10401)  (9,244)  (15981)  (9239)  (6716)
Profit before taxation PRt Al 7 21,652 137,734 204,136 159,776 98,616 133,074 85,438 30,432 24,399 21,559
Taxation ip] (8,504)  (12,806)  (17,757)  (13,203) (8,176)  (13,266) (7,068) (4,064) (3,783) 3,603
Profit attributable to AL FIRESAE A
equity holders of EiEEN
the Company 13,148 124928 186379 146,573 90,440 119,808 78,370 26,368 20,616 25,162

The Group adopted the new/revised standards and
interpretations of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
for the year ended 31 March 2006. Figures as at and for
the year ended 31 March 2005 have been restated as
required. Figures as at and for each of the previous years
ended have not been adjusted as it is not practicable to
restate earlier years for comparison purposes.

AEEBE-_TTAE=A=+—ALY
BRI ST E SIS R s
- @E_ggﬁi_ﬂz+—5¢2%
FERBEREY  RRBEANSEF
R BFU WAL AL - EEIEF 2K
DAt 8 3 R AT 4T o
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONSOLIDATED) mEEERE

Year ended 31 March

BZ=B=1-HLEE
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
ZEENE “2TtE -25,F Z550F _TIMEF 554 “55CF “T5-F ZTTRF -ANE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér ThAn TR TExr  TEr  TER  TEx  TEr  TEnr TEn

(Restated)
(&5l)

ASSETS qE
Non-current assets FRBEE 452,388 318,119 281445 242556 260,677 236,549 237,463 285632 276352 257,806
Current assets RHEE 1,204,429 1303248 1,291,113 1375377 722,880 711911 567501 424,625 313,015 275,035
Total assets EERE 1,656,817 1,621,367 1572558 1,617,933 983,557 948,460 804964 710,257 589,367 532,84
EQUITY B
Share capital A 57,720 41,228 41,051 40,777 40,076 38,150 37,694 37,374 36,195 36,000
Reserves B 617,697 514970 485,147 375154 334963 326,168 309,709 319,103 302,333 296,381

675417 556,198 526,198 415931 375039 364318 347403 356,477 338528 332,381
Minority interest DURFER 424 424 424 424 424 424 424 424 424 424

675841 556,622 526,622 416355 375463 364,742 347827 356,901 338952 332,805
LIABILITIES af
Non-current liabilities ~ ¥REEE 207,246 104,464 164,478 106,744 75,324 35,972 44,064 37,778 18,231 19,428
Current liabilities mERfE 773,730 960,281 881458 1094834 532,770 547,746 413,073 315578 232,184 180,608
Total liabilities AfERE 980,976 1,064,745 1,045936 1201578 608,094 583,718 457,137 353,356 250,415 200,036
Total equity and ExRAELE

liabilities 1,656,817 1,621,367 1572558 1,617,933 983557 948,460 804964 710,257 589367 532,841

The Group adopted the new/revised standards and AEBBE_ZTEERNF=ZA=1T—HI1EZ
interpretations of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards FHREERMINE BT BEMBREE
for the year ended 31 March 2006. Figures as at and for B - B2 T RAF=—A=1+—HIEZH
the year ended 31 March 2005 have been restated as FERBEXEYN  REBEUANEGFF
required. Figures as at and for each of the previous years AZEBEFTUHWEBIELAE  AEIETF2H
ended have not been adjusted as it is not practicable to FLAELL BRI AT AT ©

restate earlier years for comparison purposes.
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